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WSP is a global business with a vision to be the
outstanding supplier of specialist and integrated
services to the built and natural environment.
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WSP at a glance
WSP is one of the world’s leading engineering and design consultancies serving
clients across the built and natural environment. Our diverse business has grown
through strategic development across four core segments, enabling us to deliver specialist
or fully integrated services on private and public sector projects around the world.

Property

Environment & Energy

WSP is a world-leading property services
firm, providing comprehensive engineering,
environmental and delivery services on some
of the most prestigious projects across the globe.
These cover a wide range of sectors, including
commercial, healthcare, education, cultural centres,
sports and leisure facilities and major urban
regeneration schemes. WSP strives to minimise the
environmental impact of projects and to maximise
the benefits for clients and local communities.

Our professionals help organisations around the
world to manage risks, reduce costs and create
competitive market opportunities related to the
sustainability, climate change, environment, energy
and health and safety agendas. We work with
clients from all sectors, from natural resources and
renewable energy providers, to manufacturers and
blue-chip corporates, to property developers, legal,
finance and information technology companies,
through to government bodies.

Transport & Infrastructure

Management & Industrial

Our reputation as one of the foremost transport
and infrastructure specialists has been developed
over many successful global projects. Our
expertise is sought by governments around
the world to create sustainable long-term
transportation strategies and to advise on a
national and regional level over the complete
life cycle of a wide range of major projects. We
have particular strengths in planning, analysing,
designing and managing projects in aviation,
bridges, highways, intelligent traffic systems,
marine, roads and rail.

WSP provides a range of management consultancy
services to public and private sector clients in fields
such as health, education, aviation, infrastructure,
security, retail and project finance. We deliver
project and planning management and front end
management consulting services, including the
strategic, technical and commercial support required
for complex construction projects. We also provide
specialist advice on industrial process engineering,
with major clients in the power, petrochemical,
mining, manufacturing and pharmaceutical industries.

5 BY Segment
REVENUE
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Our strategy
and business model
Our business model as a global, multidisciplinary professional
services consultant providing specialist and integrated design
and management services to the built and natural environment
remains unchanged.

We maintain our focus
on the five pillars of the
Strategy Plan, which remain
essential to the sustainable
development of the business.
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Utilising the full reach of our global footprint
and client base we have diversified our business
across services, skills and the public and private
sectors. Our Strategy Plan 2011-2015 continues
to provide the overall route map for our growth,
diversification and performance.

identified where organic growth can be achieved
through investing in resource, joint ventures and
leveraging our global clients through our Key
Account Management (KAM) programme and
progressing our multidisciplinary model in all
principal regions.

However, since the plan was put in place in
2010 market conditions have deteriorated in
some of our regions, whilst remaining unchanged
in others. This has necessitated a review of our
plan to prioritise improvement in our financial
performance and to concentrate on organic
growth. We maintain our focus on the five pillars
of the Strategy Plan, which remain essential to
the sustainable development of the business.
We have reviewed our areas of strategic growth
in the recognition that significant acquisitions are
unlikely to be imminently forthcoming. We have

Whilst identifying our areas of growth we are
also reviewing some activities and businesses
to ensure ongoing value creation both financially
and strategically.
We believe that this recalibration and
reinforcement of our strategy is realistic
and will enable us to recover our momentum
and re-establish sustainable growth.
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Our strategy and business model
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Freedom Tower and 7 World Trade Center, New York
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Strategy Plan 2011-2015 – The Five Pillars
DIVERSIFIED GROWTH

CLIENT CARE AND KAM

Strategic Priority:

Strategic Priority:

•	Focus on robust markets that provide opportunity for profitable organic growth
•	Make responsible investment in people
•	Consider freeing up capital by divestment

Whilst maintaining our absolute focus on
client care, focus on leveraging our global
reach and investing in global connectivity
and knowledge sharing

Region

Segment / Market

Australia and SE Asia:
•	Broaden service offering and build
on strong single discipline brand
•	Investment in people and joint ventures

Rail:
•	Capitalise on reputation and recent
progress in UK and Nordics

Northern Europe:
•	Develop our Swedish business and
invest in organic growth through
recruitment and small acquisitions
•	Develop opportunities with
Multiconsult in Norway
•	Expand in Germany when appropriate

•	Invest in selective worldwide
development
Natural Resources:
•	Leverage global footprint particularly
in renewable energy and mining
Property:
•	Strengthen world-leading reputation
and increase market share

•	Improve cooperation and integration
across all Group geographies and
disciplines
•	Add four new Key Account clients to
our Global KAM programme each year
•	Secure 10% of Group revenue through
global reach and activities
•	Develop Key Account Management
as a career path
•	Work collaboratively across
geographies to deliver the best
services to our clients

USA:
•	Integrate different businesses into
stronger WSP USA brand to leverage
opportunities and drive organic growth

Transport & Infrastructure, and
Management & Industry:
•	Focus regionally while connecting globally

Progress during 2011:

Progress during 2011:

Progress during 2011:

• Increased turnover and profit under
strong new leadership in Australia
and SE Asia

• S ignificant appointments in rail
particularly in the UK for major
station design and refurbishment,
and HS2 framework win

• Establishment of Global Growth Team
to implement our global Key Account
Management programme

• Organic growth and high utilisation
rates in Sweden and infrastructure
wins in Norway
•R
 ealigned UK business to face
challenging markets and developed
strategic view of sectors and clients
that can provide profitable growth

• Global Rail leadership in place
• Launched joint venture mining
consultancy, TWSP, in Australia
•W
 on market share in renewable
energy through WSP Future Energy,
with new clients such as Scottish
Power and National Grid

• F our new Key Accounts added Barclays, Siemens, GE and Qatari Diar
• Cross-border international projects
secured including global framework for
Diageo Real Estate with Gensler; KLCC
Mixed Development in Malaysia for
Qatari Diar; and provision of outsourced
EHS support for Barclays in EMEA region
• S trong global culture in place and tangible
appetite to improve global connectivity

6

WSP Report and Accounts 2011

JOINT VENTURES
AND ALLIANCES

OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY

OPTIMAL SUPPORT
SERVICES

Strategic Priority:

Strategic Priority:

Strategic Priority:

Seek opportunities for joint venture and
alliance activity for growth, increased
market exposure and managed risk

Improve our financial performance
through people, processes and design
efficiencies

To support our development and growth
and ensure operational efficiency

•	Enter new geographies and
market segments

•	Improve margins and working capital
efficiency

•	Increase share of international projects

•	Invest in processes and IT platforms
to remain competitive, optimise best
delivery and be prepared for the
future, including:

•	Enhance skills base
•	Support different stakeholder
procurement models
•	Low cost growth

Our strategy and business model
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•	Investment in IT to underpin business
efficiency strategy
•	Maintain efforts in talent management
•	Develop empowerment culture
•	Strengthen global brand
•	Reinforce KPIs

- Building Information Modelling (BIM)
- Project management
- Offshoring capability
•	Optimise support services

Progress during 2011:

Progress during 2011:

Progress during 2011:

• F ormation of TWSP joint venture
in Australia to increase exposure
to mining sector

•R
 einvigorated previous recession
strategy of costs, cash and clients

• Investment in IT software for
technical and financial operations

• Investment in BIM including IT
platforms and development and
promotion of new work processes

•P
 rogressing hardware and software
functions and protocols

• Investment in infrastructure
opportunities in Norway
through Multiconsult
•R
 FK Toll Plaza won through
WSP/HNTB joint venture
•M
 ajor master planning project
won in Qatar in alliance with
a Dutch signature architect
• Denmark’s largest hospital project
won in joint venture
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• Assignment management system
(AMS) piloted in Sweden for potential
global roll out (to support project
management)
• New leadership and IT investment
in our India offshoring centre

•R
 ebranding to WSP of businesses
in Germany and Australia
• Development of Performance
Management processes and training
• Implementation of Intranet on
a global scale

• Implemented improved reporting and
cash management as well as incentivisation
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Chairman’s statement
We have delivered a resilient performance despite significant
trading pressures in certain markets. Group revenues increased
slightly to £717m although adjusted profit before tax reduced to
£30.2m after absorbing higher restructuring costs. Our year-end
net debt amounted to £68.3m which remains comfortably within
our debt facilities of £152m which we successfully renewed in
December 2011 for a further four years.

I am pleased to present this report, my first since
appointment as Chairman in September. On behalf
of our Board I would like to thank David Turner for
all that he did for the Company during his period
of eight years as my predecessor as Chairman.
Operations
Our Group comprises a special set of skills
across our four areas of expertise – Property,
Transport & Infrastructure, Environment &
Energy and Management & Industrial - and we
are represented in most key geographies. Full
details of our performance are set out in the
operational and financial reviews. A very strong
contributor was our Nordic region, especially
Sweden, which took advantage of an economy
where GDP growth exceeded 4%. In the UK
we faced difficult market conditions particularly
in our roads division and we have restructured
the UK business and its management team to a
significantly lower cost base which positions us
well for future opportunities. In the US after a slow
start to the year, particularly in our infrastructure
business, we delivered a satisfactory outcome with
good momentum going into 2012. Elsewhere we
suffered from the post World Cup slow-down
in South Africa, reduced our losses in the Middle
East and improved performance in our Australia
property business where we had strengthened
management in 2010.

by the deep and broad range of expertise and
strong common values of our people and with
the quality and variety of our clients and projects.
Examples of our many projects are illustrated
in this Annual Report including our work at the
London Shard, at the new Qatar airport and on
the Freedom Tower and the 9/11 Memorial in
New York City, all of which I have had the privilege
of visiting. Our dedicated people can be very
proud of all these and many more projects in
many other locations. I thank them all for their
commitment and hard work, including our able
executive team under the leadership of our Chief
Executive, Chris Cole. I would also like to thank
my fellow Board members for the welcome and
support they have extended to me in the past few
months and for the work they do in the various
committees of the Board.
Dividend
The Board is recommending a final dividend
of 10 pence per share payable on 11 May 2012
to shareholders on the register of members at
the close of business on 13 April 2012 thereby
maintaining total dividends in respect of 2011 at
the previous year’s level of 15 pence per share.
Outlook

Recent wins, for example in Qatar at the new
airport and in the UK with our inclusion on
the HS 2 rail frameworks for engineering design
Our People
services and environmental consulting, give us
In my first few months since appointment as your momentum going into 2012. We continue to
Chairman I have visited all our largest businesses and be very positive about our activities in Sweden
a number of our key projects. I have been impressed and Norway where strong investment in
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infrastructure development continues. We
are confident that our management leadership
and restructured business in the UK will progress
supported by our prominent private sector
position and selected public sector appointments
in Health, Education and the Rail market. Our
operations in the USA, Australia and the Far East
are well positioned and we will pay particular
attention to our more difficult markets in South
Africa and the Middle East where we have
strengthened our management.

We expect market conditions to remain
unchanged and our task is to exploit our global
reach to deliver growth and to continue to drive
more efficient margins and better cash generation.
We have repositioned our strategy, retaining its
five pillars but recognising the reality of tighter
markets since it was launched in 2010. This
provides the basis for the Group to improve
its performance and grow organically although
we remain alert to corporate opportunities.
Ian Barlow
Chairman
27 February 2012
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The Shard, London

Our task is to exploit our
global reach to deliver growth
and to continue to drive
more efficient margins and
better cash generation.
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Operational
review
The Group’s performance in 2011 was in line with the Board’s
expectations and again proved resilient in the face of both varied
and challenging markets. The contrast between our largest businesses
in the UK and Sweden has never been more pronounced.
While the UK has required further restructuring,
particularly in the public sector, Sweden has
been recruiting to tackle the increasing workload
provided by its strong economy and its continued
commitment to infrastructure enhancement
and development.

on confidence and funding across the general
landscape. With the exception of the UK, the
public sectors in the regions in which we work
have, in general, improved as the year progressed.

The table below sets out the Group’s revenues
and adjusted operating profits by region and
segment. We manage our business geographically,
Our private sector activities have, as expected,
shown some improvement but constraints remain but we report by both region and segment.

2011

Property
Transport
Environment & Energy
Management & Industrial
Group

2010

Revenue Adjusted
£m Profit/(Lost) £m Margin

Revenue Adjusted
£m Profit/(Lost) £m

209.2
283.8
100.1
60.2
64.0
Revenue
717.3
£m

220.3
261.8
104.3
64.2
56.3
Revenue
706.9
£m

339.4
194.2
94.8
88.9
717.3

3.3
21.8
6.4
0.4
1.1
Adjusted
33.0
Profit £m

1.6 %
7.7 %
6.4 %
0.7 %
1.7 %
Margin
4.6 %
%

16.3
8.0
3.5
5.2
33.0

4.8 %
4.1 %
3.7 %
5.8 %
4.6 %

324.6
203.5
86.0
92.8
706.9

Margin

9.8
20.5
7.9
(1.1)
0.9
Adjusted
38.0
Profit £m

4.4 %
7.8 %
7.6 %
Margin
%

15.6
12.9
4.3
5.2
38.0

4.8 %
6.3 %
5.0 %
5.6 %
5.4 %

Revenue
Change
%
5%
(5)%
10 %
(4)%
1%

CCER
Change*
%
4%
(6)%
9%
(7)%
-

* Year on year revenue change percentages have also been shown on a constant exchange rate (CER) basis

Our Regions
Mainland Europe has again been our strongest
region with Sweden in particular performing well in
progressive markets and in an economy with strong
GDP growth in 2011. Norway has an equally
strong economy and we have made good progress
in the year winning joint infrastructure projects with
our partner business, Multiconsult. In Germany we
have seen good market conditions and we have
taken the opportunity to reorganise and strengthen
our business. In Finland we faced more difficult
markets and have introduced new leadership.
Our UK performance reflected a difficult
economy and the associated costs of
restructuring. Our activities in the roads market
declined more quickly than expected in the first
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six months, although our strong position in the
commercial, residential and rail sectors underpins
an improving business as we move into 2012.
After a slow start our US business has shown
increasing momentum in the second half of the
year and accordingly delivered satisfactory results
with an improving order book.
Our Middle East business has won significant
infrastructure management and master planning
projects in which Qatar is increasingly becoming
the region’s centre of activity, as the activity in
Dubai remains relatively quiet and in Abu Dhabi,
has slowed. Whilst our performance in this region
has improved it is not yet satisfactory and has
been held back by a project in Abu Dhabi.
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Within a sound economic environment our
performance in Australia demonstrated continuous
improvement in all areas of the business with the
exception of our small Environment & Energy
operation where specific management issues arose
necessitating the prudent step of restructuring the
business and impairing part of the goodwill arising
on its acquisition.
Activity has increased significantly in the Far
East and China, and we see good opportunities
although it remains a small part of the Group’s
overall activities.
Our Segments
Property
We are one of the world’s leading consultants
in the design and management of Property
assets, a market that has shown some general
improvement in 2011. This reputation is
underpinned by such projects as Freedom
Tower at Ground Zero and the International
Monetary Fund Headquarters in New York; the
Shard, London; a five-million square foot mixed
development in Kuala Lumpur City Centre,
Malaysia; and the new passenger terminal at
Frankfurt Airport. Whilst the private sector can
be seen as a barometer of economic confidence
and funding availability, public sector spending is
equally relevant for the development of health,
education and social projects. Our worldwide
engagement in these areas is evidenced by our
project wins including the Odense Hospital,
Denmark’s largest ever hospital project, and
the New South Glasgow Hospitals project in
the UK and we are currently focused on further
leveraging our worldwide brand to reinforce our
market position. Our complementary transport
and traffic planning consultancy work has
gathered momentum through the year which is
a good indicator of future development activity.
Transport & Infrastructure

Our private sector
activities have, as
expected, shown
some improvement ...
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In Transport & Infrastructure most of our
activities in the UK, in particular the roads
market, have been very subdued whilst in the
US momentum in our roads and bridges market
has strengthened significantly after a slow start to
the year. In the UK our rail sector activities have
expanded considerably with more appointments
for both Crossrail and Network Rail. From
Crossrail’s anchor project at Bond Street where

we are the lead consultant, we are also providing
our services to other station developments
and for Network Rail we were pleased to
be appointed the lead consultant for their
largest station refurbishment at London Bridge,
complementing our significant commercial sector
activities at the London Bridge Quarter.
Following the merger of The Swedish Rail & Road
Administration into The Swedish Transport
Administration (Trafikverket), which caused
some initial slowdown in activity, expected project
workflow has resumed to meet their stated
investment procurement strategy of €4bn annually.
As a result, the pipeline of projects in Sweden as
we move into 2012 is strong. During the year
we also positioned ourselves for the Norwegian
Rail development programme which is underway.
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Operational review

In South Africa the market continues to slow
down after the Soccer World Cup, resulting in
some necessary realignment of our activities
with increased attention given to natural
resources, telecommunications and industry
across the African continent.

Aviation remains an important part of our Transport
& Infrastructure sector underpinned by a recent
master planning appointment in Qatar and continuing
work at various airports in the UK and Germany.
Environment & Energy
Our Environment & Energy business has
responded to the dynamics in its markets by
migrating towards client sectors and geographies
that are more active. Improved revenues
have been supported by further penetration
into power generation, utilities, infrastructure,
mining and oil & gas, and the development
of relationships with global corporations that
are faced with increased demands relating to
environmental and social responsibility. This
growth has required on-going investment in
senior staff and, as we make the transition, an
increased use of sub-consultants which adversely
impacts the bottom line in the short term.
The newly formed WSP Future Energy, which
concentrates on front end renewables work,
has shown good progress with the winning
of a number of projects in wind power and
transmission & distribution both on-and-offshore,
with clients such as Burcote Wind, Scottish &
Southern Energy, National Grid and Scottish
Power Renewables.
Management & Industrial
Our Management & Industrial sector is
concentrated in Europe, the UK and South Africa.
An important part of our UK activity arises from
WSP CEL which, following a difficult year in
2010, has successfully realigned its position with
important wins from BP Exploration, Volvo and
Pfizer. Our industry base in Europe includes
mining, steel and paper, and in South Africa
pharmaceuticals and the brewing industry. Our
project management activities are particularly
strong in Sweden and Germany as evidenced
11

We value the loyalty
of our people through
these challenging times,
and benefit in particular
from the continuity
of leadership...

by major projects at the new Stockholm Arena
and Berlin International Airport. Building on our
activities in the Swedish and South African mining
sectors we announced the formation of a joint
venture consultancy, TWSP, in Australia, which
was subsequently awarded its first significant
appointment at a gold mine in the Northern
Territory for Newmont.
Our Operations
Following the launch of our Strategic Plan in
2010 our financial performance in 2011 fell
short of our aspirations. The plan envisaged
a combination of organic and acquisitive growth
but, given the difficult market conditions and
a severely constrained financing environment,
growth by acquisition has been difficult. As a
result we have redefined our strategy, maintaining
our total commitment to the five pillars of the
plan with increasing priority on specific growth
areas where we believe the Group will benefit
from joint ventures, alliances and investment
in people. We are reinforcing all our activities
to improve our margins and working capital
performance and have increased our executive
involvement in our difficult regions of the
Middle East and South Africa.
We are actively leveraging investment in our
global footprint to ensure that our worldwide
resource and skills base are best positioned to
win and deliver opportunities for global clients
and international projects. We have had real
success in this area through the development
of relationships with clients such as Ericsson,
Barclays, Qatari Diar and GE, resulting in some
significant international frameworks. In addition
we are searching for appropriate joint venture
alliance and minority interest partners to ensure
that we can credibly and responsibly present
ourselves to chosen clients and sectors and
generate growth without the need for
significant capital investment.

reflects our overall markets and activity. It is
important to recognise that whilst our long term
order book is an indication of future activity levels,
it is affected by clients’ reluctance in the current
environment to commit even the most viable of
projects through to completion. Our rolling threemonth order book reflects a sustainable workload/
resource balance.
Towards the end of the year we were pleased
to announce the refinancing of the Group with a
new four-year bank facility extending to the end of
2015. This facility was put in place with our existing
banking group and with the same covenants as our
previous facility, albeit at slightly higher margins.
We value the loyalty of our people through
these challenging times, and benefit in particular
from the continuity of leadership provided by
our senior management team, which we had
strengthened in 2010. Recognising the challenges
and needs for quality recruitment and succession
planning we maintain our commitment to recruit
high quality senior people in all of our markets.
We have also maintained our investment in our
graduate intake, training, talent management,
development programmes and our global
Taskforce, all of which stimulate the business.
To complement the capabilities of our people
we have made the investment into information
technology and collaboration tools to ensure
that we remain best in class and meet the
industry’s growing needs for Building Information
Management (BIM), offshoring, project
management systems, knowledge management
and global technical software.
During the year we welcomed our new nonexecutive Chairman, Ian Barlow, following the
retirement of David Turner, to whom I personally
would like to express my thanks for his many
years of service.

2011 has been a challenging year where the
Group has held revenue although our profit
margin has declined. However, whilst addressing
Sustainability continues to be integrated into
prevailing markets, we have realigned and
our internal and external activities. Our expertise
positioned our activities to ensure we improve
ranges from providing designs for accredited low
our financial performance and progress our
carbon buildings to urban master planning support. underlying strategic objectives. Accordingly,
whilst we don’t see material imminent changes
As mentioned our results have reflected
in our markets, we finished the year with
further restructuring costs of £3.8m during 2011,
improved momentum and look forward
which principally arose in the UK generally as a
consequence of the slowdown in the public sector. with confidence into 2012.
We consider that we are now appropriately
resourced across our various markets.
Christopher Cole
We finished 2011 with an order book of £903m,
a similar level to that at the end of 2010 which

12

Chief Executive
27 February 2012

WSP Report and Accounts 2011

Property
We saw good headline revenue growth in our Property segment in
2011, mainly as a consequence of a buoyant market in Sweden and
a strong performance from our businesses in Asia and Australia.
Reported profit increased slightly to £16.3m
from £15.6m after absorbing £2.0m (2010:
£0.5m) of restructuring costs in the year which
mainly arose in the UK where our public sector
property activities saw a marked slowdown.
Our US business had a more challenging year
as did Africa, India and the Middle East.
Adjusting for restructuring costs the reported
operating margin in 2011 was 5.4% (2010: 5.0%).
Our order book at the end of 2011 stood at
£446m, reflecting some increase on this value
at last year end.
United Kingdom
The UK property market remained
subdued in 2011. Economic uncertainty held
back growth in the commercial building sector
and government spending cuts hit healthcare
and education building projects.
However, we continue to enjoy a high profile
in central London, where we have a strong
presence in the improving property development
market. Building on our successful work on
the Shard, we are involved in much of the
regeneration of the London Bridge Quarter,
with involvement in projects such as The Place
and the major redevelopment of London Bridge
Station. Further prestigious central London
appointments include the 48-storey Leadenhall
Building, underlining our market leading position
in iconic London tall buildings.
In the residential sector we see signs of
recovery and have been appointed to the first
phase of a new residential scheme on the former
Bishopsgate Goods Yard site in Shoreditch being
developed by a joint venture between Ballymore
and Hammerson.
We are responding to a growing demand
from clients to improve the environmental
and operational performance of their existing
buildings, undertaking projects such as Legal
& General’s major office refurbishment at
7-11 Hanover Street, London. Our portfolio
of refurbishment projects has been further
extended through our collaboration in a
green retrofitting business launched in January,
Brookfield Multiplex Green, with projects
including the upgrade of 20 Canada Square,
14

a multi-occupant office tower in Canary Wharf,
London. We have re-focused and strengthened
our relationships with our commercial and retail
customers, leading to a number of commissions
for new work in addition to cementing our
relationships in readiness for the market recovery.
For example, we are strengthening our presence
in the banking sector with a number of projects
for Barclays Capital, Lloyds Banking Group and
HSBC Bank; and in retail our clients include M&S,
Primark, Sainsbury’s and Waitrose. For Tesco
we have been allocated 18 stores under

We are responding to
a growing demand from
clients to improve the
environmental and
operational performance
of their existing buildings...
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81.0
113.1
60.1
38.4
46.8
339.4

83.1
96.8
63.4
42.3
39.0
324.6

1.6
9.3
4.5
(1.1)
2.0
16.3

2.0 %
8.2 %
7.5 %
(2.9)%
4.3 %
4.8 %

3.8
7.2
5.4
(1.7)
0.9
15.6

4.6 %
7.4 %
8.5 %
(4.0)%
2.3 %
4.8 %

01
Revenue Change
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(3)%
17 %
(5)%
(9)%
20 %
5%

(3)%
11 %
(2)%
(6)%
15 %
4%
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Far East & Australia
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2011
2011
2010
2010
Order
Order Employee Employee
Book £m Book £m
No
No
United Kingdom
137
Mainland Europe
100
United States of America 92
Africa, India & Middle East
51
Far East & Australia
66
446

131
75
87
63
65
421

1,017
1,264
607
916
923
4,727

1,059
1,184
576
925
818
4,562

Mainland Europe
In Europe our activities in the property sector
are led by our Swedish and German operations
in economies which remain buoyant.
The Swedish property market is strong,
particularly in the commercial sector. We are
currently the market leaders in the provision
of structural design and amongst the top three
providers of building services. This has resulted
in full order books, record staff utilisation and strong
organic growth. WSP has benefited from a steady
flow of new projects throughout the year balanced
between the public and private sectors.
In Stockholm our varied projects include the
prestigious new Stockholm Arena, the Mall of
Scandinavia, a significant new shopping and leisure
venue, and a rescue and disaster management
centre for Stockholm’s combined emergency
services. In health and education we are
delivering design services for a new University
Hospital for Linköping and new lab facilities for
the Karolinska Institute at Solna Campus, a leader
in the medical field.
Our main focus in residential is regeneration,
with much of Sweden’s housing stock built in the
1960s and 1970s now requiring refurbishment to
bring it up to modern standards, reducing energy
use and carbon emissions to meet future targets.
We are involved in the upgrade of a number of
developments including the 2,500-resident Hilda
housing cooperative in Malmö.

One One One, Brisbane, Australia
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The German economy has continued to
expand, encouraging private sector investment
in residential and commercial construction.
their development of new stores and extensions
WSP has been appointed by Unicredit
programme with the possibility of more in 2012, in Bank for the redevelopment of its Munich
addition to appointments to refresh existing stores. HypoVereinsbank headquarters into an energyIn the health sector, our involvement continues
efficient high rise. We were recently awarded
with one of the largest schemes in the UK, New
the contract for the design of a new passenger
South Glasgow Hospitals, in addition to Great
terminal for Frankfurt Airport and we were
Ormond Street, North Staffordshire and Forth
appointed by leading developer, Management
Valley Hospitals. Although the UK healthcare
für Immobilien AG, on a new shopping centre,
market remains subdued, our skills are in demand Recklinghausen Arcades, at Löhrhof, Badenglobally, as testified by our recent appointment
Württemberg; and we continue our involvement
for a £700m super hospital, Odense University
in significant projects for clients such as Audi,
Hospital, in southern Denmark.
Metro and Swiss Life.
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United States of America

Africa, India & Middle East

Economic conditions in the USA were
challenging in 2011 and the property market has
been slow to recover. Despite this, in the private
sector we are benefiting from a resurgence in
high-rise residential, hotels, higher education
and science & technology developments. We
are involved in the design of new residential
schemes in Brooklyn and Manhattan and a new
development comprising apartments, leisure and
retail facilities in San Francisco. With little progress
in new commercial construction we continue
our involvement in significant on-going projects,
such as the buildings on the former World Trade
Center Site. In education and science we are
designing new laboratories for Yale University in
Connecticut and for the Los Angeles Biomedical
Research Institute.

During 2011 social unrest across the Middle
East prompted a shift away from privately
funded high-end real estate towards government
investment in housing and social infrastructure.
Reflecting this, WSP’s Middle East business is now
predominantly driven by public sector projects,
with only a small percentage of private sector
projects, mainly corporate headquarters and
hotels. We continue to win significant projects
in Abu Dhabi, including the Advanced Military,
Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul Centre
(AMMROC) for UAE’s military aircraft;
a headquarter building for National Holdings; and
the new ADNEC Arena, delivered in conjunction
with WSP UK. We also continue our involvement
with the provision of sustainable design services
for the construction of Masdar. In Saudi Arabia
we have been appointed to the Jubail Industrial
City framework for buildings and infrastructure.

Responding to increased demand for
sustainability and energy services we are
actively increasing our participation in the
green retrofitting of existing building stock with
projects for 2011 including our appointment
for the upgrade of building systems at the IMF
Headquarters in Washington DC.

Although the public
sector has slowed,
projects won in 2010
have led to further
opportunities during 2011...

The international markets serviced from the
US have offered the best opportunities and we
have been particularly successful, usually working
with American Architects, in securing work in
Asia (notably China and Malaysia), the Middle
East, India, South America, Mexico and Canada.
Our cooperation with global WSP offices has
also contributed to this success. We have been
appointed for the structural design of two new
towers in Mexico City, thanks to our expertise
in seismic engineering, and in Malaysia we are
providing engineering design for two towers in
Kuala Lumpur City Centre (KLCC) and for the
upgrade and relocation of the KLCC central
district cooling plant to release prime land for
development. Overseas hotel projects include
a new Four Seasons Hotel in Noida, India, and,
in China, the Shanghai Expo Hotel, a 1,200-key,
five star hotel and retail waterfront complex.
Although public sector activity has slowed, projects
won in 2010 have led to further opportunities
during 2011, both at the Federal and State levels.
Appointments include the Number 7 Subway
Line extension and a new station in Manhattan;
an historic courthouse renovation in Willows,
California; and an upgrade to the New York
detention complex, Rikers Island.
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In Asia we continue
to benefit from the
continuing economic
growth of China...

Confidence in the private sector in South Africa
has remained fragile since the World Cup with
new contracts slow to materialise. Most activity
is concentrated on Johannesburg where we have
been appointed to a number of commercial,
retail and mixed developments. We are working
for many of the main hotel groups throughout
Africa and the Indian Ocean and were recently
appointed to provide a range of services for
Shahdag Grand Hotels in Azerbaijan’s Caucasus
Mountains. We are making good progress as
leaders in sustainable buildings thanks to our
involvement in projects such as the Vodafone
Innovation Centre, which was awarded the
African 6-star Green Star rating, the highest
rating reserved for projects achieving world
class sustainability standards.

Far East & Australia
In Australia, where our traditional market of
commercial buildings remains subdued, our
strategy of targeting health and education has
been successful with an increasing proportion of
our work now derived from the public sector.

Property

01

We are currently active on nine major hospital
projects in the Asia Pacific region, including two
major cancer research facilities, and our focus
on the tertiary education sector has yielded
projects for several universities. Following a
successful fit-out for Google’s regional expansion
in Sydney we were nominated as Google’s
preferred consultant in the Asia Pacific region, and
we were awarded two commercial office projects
for Brookfield Properties in Melbourne and
Perth in collaboration with WSP UK. We are also
involved in the first stage of the redevelopment
of Melbourne Olympic Park and were recently
appointed to the Sydney International Convention,
Exhibition and Entertainment Precinct.
In Asia we continue to benefit from the continuing
economic growth of China with a significant
increase in our market share of the property
development sector across the region. The
majority of projects are high-end commercial
and residential developments, many with significant
high rise buildings, including the Gang Xia
Development in Shenzhen and a twin tower office
headquarter development for Tencent, China’s
largest internet company. We were also awarded
over ten high-end hotel projects across Asia. In
addition we have expanded our specialist offerings
in the region with new expertise in façade design,
water resources planning and sustainability,
resulting in some significant new contracts.

Great Ormond Street Hospital, London
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Transport
& Infrastructure

Our Transport & Infrastructure segment, which mainly earns
its revenues from the public sector, had a tough year in 2011
particularly in the UK, which saw a significant reduction in public
expenditure especially in higher margin consultancy activities.
Sweden, which
accounts for the majority
of our Transport &
Infrastructure business
in Europe, continues
its strong performance...

18

Headline revenues fell by 5% to £194.2m from
£203.5m with profits falling to £8.0m from
£12.9m after absorbing £1.4m of restructuring
costs (2010: £0.7m), almost all of which arose
in the UK. Our civils business in Sweden had
a slightly softer year than anticipated although
momentum gathered towards the end of the

year. Our business in the US suffered a poor
start to the year but also picked up significantly
in the second half and we were pleased to see
our businesses in Africa and the Middle East return
to profit in the year. This trading performance
is reflected in the reduced order book and
headcount compared to the 2010 closing position.
WSP Report and Accounts 2011

2010
Revenue Adjusted
£m Profit/(loss) £m Margin

73.2
88.1
18.7
11.9
2.3
194.2

83.3
86.6
19.7
12.6
1.3
203.5

0.4
6.5
0.5
0.4
0.2
8.0

0.5 %
7.4 %
2.7 %
3.4 %
8.7 %
4.1 %

4.8
7.6
1.1
(0.8)
0.2
12.9

5.8 %
8.8 %
5.6 %
(6.3)%
15.4 %
6.3 %

01
Change
Revenue
Revenue Change
Headline
CER
(12)%
2%
(5)%
(6)%
77 %
(5)%

(12)%
(4)%
(2)%
(3)%
92 %
(6)%

2011
2011
2010
2010
Order
Order Employee Employee
Book £m Book £m
No
No
United Kingdom
149
Mainland Europe
85
United States of America 42
Africa, India & Middle East
16
Far East & Australia
6
298

215
71
33
20
2
341

643
958
206
240
61
2,108

806
1,019
211
274
40
2,350

United Kingdom
The UK public sector spending cuts have
had a major impact on the performance of
our business. The UK roads sector has been
particularly hard hit with capital expenditure
severely curtailed. In April we successfully
retained our place on the Highways Agency’s
Professional Services Framework following a
process which halved the number of Highways
Agency suppliers, but little work of substance
has materialised since then. The results reflect the
costs associated with restructuring the business
and reshaping it to focus on the sectors and
clients that continue to provide opportunities.

Simon Regan, Tim Peet and Dave Darnell,
Crossrail, Bond Street, UK
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Transport & Infrastructure

United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
United States of America
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia

2011
Revenue Adjusted
£m Profit/(loss) £m Margin

We are also providing infrastructure planning
including strategies for water, waste and
renewable energy management and designed
strategies for a multi-modal public transport
system for Jaypee Cities, near Delhi.
Mainland Europe

Sweden, which accounts for the majority of
our Transport & Infrastructure business in Europe,
continues its strong performance as one of the
country’s leading road and rail consultants. The
reorganisation in 2010 of the Swedish Transport
Administration, coupled with a weaker public
sector market in Finland, led to a slight slowdown
in the first half of the year. However, volumes
We remain involved in a number of profitable
of work increased towards the end of 2011 and
joint ventures, delivering award winning services
prospects for 2012 are good. We are involved
across a range of projects. These include our
in a number of long-term road projects in
successful contract working with May Gurney
Stockholm, including the 13 km Northern Link,
for Northamptonshire County Council, where
a mainly tunneled highway connecting Sweden’s
we have won several awards for our innovative
major freight harbours and ferry terminals, due
approach and delivery of sustainable solutions
for completion in 2015. On the west coast of
such as recycling and sustainable materials
Sweden we recently won an assignment for the
sourcing for highways maintenance activities.
widening into four lanes of a stretch of the E45
The rail sector is buoyant and providing good
highway at Torpa. We are also working with the
opportunities over a wide range of projects.
Swedish Transport Administration to upgrade
We secured some significant project wins in
2011, including our appointment by Network Rail a 70km railway and highway link between
Gothenburg and Trollhättan in south-west
as lead design consultant for the redevelopment
of London Bridge Station. We were awarded the Sweden. This project includes laser scanning
to enable repairs to the Stallbacka Bridge, an
multidisciplinary design contract to regenerate
important connection between Trollhättan and
Nottingham Station in partnership with Vinci
Vänersborg carrying some 30,000 vehicles a day.
Construction and Pascall Watson Architects.
Experience in delivering our full range of
Working for the joint venture of Costain and
transport solutions for the Swedish Transport
Skanska we were appointed as lead designer
Administration includes a high sustainability
for the design and build package for the
Paddington Crossrail project. These new projects content. In the past year we have developed and
implemented a sustainability rating tool and are
considerably enhance our rail portfolio, which
currently involved in a project to support them
also includes our role as lead designer for the
in delivering their national carbon goals. We also
extensive development of Bond Street Station
conducted an investigation into the anticipated
for Crossrail.
transport demand between Helsingborg in
Overseas our UK-based transportation planning
Sweden and Helsingör in Denmark in 2030,
teams continue to win commissions in both
including modeling and analysis to forecast
public and private sectors in the Middle East.
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Transport & Infrastructure

01

Africa, India & Middle East
We have been targeting opportunities in Qatar
arising from the planned major infrastructure
development in preparation for the 2022
World Cup. This has resulted in some significant
contract wins including design checking services
for highways structures, bridges and underpasses
for the new city of Lusail, north of Doha.
In Kuwait we have been appointed for the
proposed development of Failaka Island.
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The public sector in Africa is recovering from the
post-World Cup slowdown, with opportunities
increasing. We continue to provide highway
maintenance for the N3 National Route between
Johannesburg and Durban, and were appointed
for two sections of the National Long Distance
Network for network providers MTN, Vodafone
and Neotel. For Transnet Capital Projects we
are providing coastal and port engineering
services to support continuing investment
in the improvement of South Africa’s port
infrastructure, and we have been awarded our
first major project assignment – a pre-feasibility
study for the development of a new container
terminal in the Port of Durban. Our coastal
engineering team has also been appointed for
new port facilities in Mombasa, Kenya for the
export of heavy minerals for the Kwale Mineral
Sands Project.

Our coastal engineering
team has also been
appointed for new port
facilities in Mombasa,
Kenya for the export
of heavy minerals...
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Environment & Energy
Environment & Energy reported strong headline
revenue growth in 2011 of 10% from £86.0m to
£94.8m. However profit fell from £4.3m to £3.5m.

This was a consequence of the on-going
repositioning of the business to address the
more active segments of its markets which
has necessitated both senior recruitment and
an increased use of third party sub-consultants
in advance of gearing up our own headcount.
In addition the business suffered a poor profit
performance in Australia which has necessitated
a restructuring in that market.		
During 2011 we changed our business focus
from our traditional property markets towards
the more buoyant sectors of mining, utilities,
power generation and oil & gas. This strategy
is helping us increase our presence in emerging
markets across Asia, Middle East and Africa and
in growth sectors such as mining, natural
resources, manufacturing and technology.
As a global business our strategy of developing
key global client relationships has generated
business with both existing and new clients,
including AstraZeneca, Barclays, Arla Foods,
United Utilities and salesforce.com.
We are increasing our share of the future
energy and renewables market through WSP
Future Energy and we have strengthened our
specialist digital brand, WSP Digital, through the
incorporation of a Swedish software company
focused on environmental based legal updates
and corporate sustainability reporting tools.
United Kingdom
Our UK revenue performance improved during
2011 with momentum increasing towards the end of
the year and remaining strong in our core disciplines.
In conjunction with WSP Future Energy we are
increasing our presence in power generation,
with further commissions for onshore wind
power developer, Burcote Wind, and a new
appointment for the 1.8GW Scottish Power
Renewables Argyll Array offshore wind farm.
We continue to support Scottish & Southern
Energy on the 220 km Beauly to Denny
transmission and distribution line and have
secured two national framework agreements
with National Grid for transmission and
development upgrades.
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Building on our work in mining we were
commissioned by the Department of Energy
and Climate Change to estimate the methane
emissions from abandoned coal mines to feed
into the UK Greenhouse Gas Inventory. In utilities
we are partnering with United Utilities to help
them deliver health and safety services as part
of an on-going asset management programme.
In partnership with Ernst & Young we completed
a strategic review of the opportunities for
AstraZeneca to mitigate its carbon impact by
increasing the proportion of power provided by
renewable or low carbon technologies.
Mainland Europe
We continue to perform well in Sweden and
in our smaller mainland European operations,
where a key focus of our work is providing
transactional support and Environmental,
Health & Safety auditing for the facilities of
multi-national organisations. We are also active
in industrial permitting and auditing in parts of
Eastern Europe for specialist investment banks.
Power-related opportunities are increasing in
areas such as Poland, where we are undertaking
environmental impact assessments (EIA’s) for the
shale exploration activities of BKN Polska. Our
German business is designing and implementing an
Environmental Management System for SAP AG.
We are known in Scandinavia for our expertise
in developing sustainability strategies for cities and
large developments. We are developing a common
system for the environmental certification of cities
throughout Sweden and since 2008 have been
supporting the Stockholm Royal Seaport to
create and deliver a sustainable master plan.
We have assisted real estate company,
Vasakronan, to obtain LEED Gold for an office
in Stockholm, the first LEED certified building
in Sweden, and have developed energy efficiency
design solutions for a world-class office building
for Pembroke Real Estate.

Stockholm Royal Seaport District, Sweden
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Environment & Energy

01
2010

United States of America
Despite variable markets WSP has performed
solidly in the USA, where we have reorganised
our business and made some key appointments
to help increase our market share. We established
a new remediation business to deliver major
site clean-up projects and are currently working
on approximately 30 sites with clients including
Platinum Energy and Emerson Electric. The
agreement of a new joint venture will enable
us to increasingly target Federal work in 2012.

and Oman, where we are providing technical
support for a high profile redevelopment project
around the historic Muttrah Souq. In Abu Dhabi
we are one of three consultancies delivering
environmental services to the Department of
Transport following completion of the first EIA
for a highway scheme in the region.
Far East & Australia

In Australia weak underlying trading and the
costs associated with restructuring and realigning
the business for improved future performance
We continue to support clients such as Bank
resulted in a disappointing year in 2011. We
of America, Cisco, Microsoft, Gap, Wells Fargo
are repositioning the business to focus on the
and Tiffany with their Carbon Disclosure Project
strong markets of mining and natural resources
(CDP) submissions and have been reappointed
and are working on TWSP’s Tanami gold
as a US Consultancy Partner to the CDP.
mine for Newmont. Extensive work with the
In addition to working with salesforce.com
government and industry bodies to advocate
on their on-going sustainability program, we
greater corporate responsibility through product
completed a study that revealed that their
life-cycle supported the passing of the Product
cloud computing platforms are substantially more
Stewardship Act in June 2011 and led to our
energy and carbon efficient than on-premises
participation in advising electrical manufacturers
systems. We were also retained by Rusnano, a
such as Panasonic, Sony, Sharp, Sanyo, Hisense
company owned by the Russian Government,
to provide due diligence prior to their investment and LG. We have increased our support
for a major oil & gas company to manage its
in a US-based renewable fuels company.
environmental liabilities in Western Australia, and
have increased our service offering for a leading
Africa, India & Middle East
national fuel distributor with the addition of due
The performance of our African business
diligence advice on the acquisition of two retail
continues to improve, with strength in mining
portfolios amounting to 140 sites.
and natural resources and increasing demand
Our small business in China continues to operate
from international corporations for work
profitably, mainly supporting global clients with
throughout sub-Saharan Africa. This year we
their environmental management programmes
completed the Social and Environmental Impact
relating to Asian based supply-chain organisations.
Assessment for Group Five for Phases 1 and 2
In addition, we assisted Beijing West Industries,
of the Kalahari Solar Power project, one of the
a supplier of brake and suspension systems,
first concentrated solar power plants in Southern with environmental due diligence reviews for
Africa to be brought to feasibility stage.
manufacturing operations in South America,
In the Middle East the business slowed somewhat Europe and Asia Pacific.
in 2011. We have secured new projects in Qatar
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Management & Industrial
Although headline revenue fell by 4% from £92.8m in 2010 to
£88.9m in 2011, the segment maintained profit at £5.2m despite
absorbing increased restructuring costs of £0.3m (2010: £0.1m).
Our mature businesses in Sweden and Germany
performed well and we have stabilised our
industrial process engineering business in the UK.
United Kingdom
The markets for design and project management
continue to be challenging, with limited opportunities
in the UK, although we see some opportunity for
growth overseas. There is also little appetite at
present to use the PFI model to which many of our
support services in this area of business were linked.
Advisory services in health and education have
declined following government cutbacks and our
management consultancy business suffered from the
government’s delay in releasing funding for academies.
In June 2011 we disposed of our small UK donor aid
business which traded predominantly in the Far East
to its management team.
The industry market in the UK is gradually
returning to pre-recession volumes and clients
are investing in additional capacity, leading to
increased design and construction opportunities.
Although the manufacturing sector is seeing
limited growth, the weakness of sterling is
making manufacturing in the UK an attractive
proposition for many of our global clients. This
current market with limited expenditure on large
projects is also providing increased opportunities

for our technical resource business, where we
place engineers in client organisations. We are also
collaborating with regional offices globally to market
our speciality services and have won work in the
USA, South Africa, Nigeria, Sweden and Denmark.
Mainland Europe
In Sweden our project management business is
active in both the public and private sectors. IKEA
Real Estates appointed WSP for the earthworks
and foundations of five different projects in
Sweden, and for Posten AB, the Swedish postal
service, we are overseeing construction of a
new sorting centre in Hallsberg. In Lund we are
providing quality and environmental management
and project management for Ideon Gateway, a
new hotel and office development, working for the
real estate company, Ikano. We are also providing
project management, procurement and health and
safety advice for the extension of Täby Centrum,
one of Sweden’s largest shopping malls. This year
we were appointed to several assignments by
Stockholm Public Transport (SL), advising them on
the procurement of contracts for the maintenance
and operations of the entire SL system, and
managing the construction of a SEK600m
underground depot. We also recently signed a
framework agreement covering maintenance and
improvements to 60 SL sites around Stockholm.

Berlin Brandenburg International Airport, Germany
Image courtesy of Alexander Obst / Marion Schmieding
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23.7
57.4
4.1
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Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia

4.5
0.7
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26.8
55.7
3.9
6.4
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(0.1)
4.5
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3%
5%
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(2)%
8%
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01
Management & Industrial

2011
Revenue Adjusted
£m Profit/(loss) £m Margin

2011
2011
2010
2010
Order
Order Employee Employee
Book £m Book £m
No
No
United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia

14
56
6
10
86

23
44
7
8
82

292
598
74
22
986

355
608
65
64
1,092

Our German business continues to deliver project
management as a key service offering to clients
throughout Germany. Our flagship project, Berlin
Brandenburg International Airport (BBI), which we
have managed since 2004, continues to yield new
packages of work, such as, in 2011, coordinating
the implementation of new security screening
technology in line with new EU security rules on
liquid control. BBI will open to passengers in June
2012. A recent appointment to project manage
the new Helmut-G.-Walther-Clinic in Lichtenfels,
Upper Franconia, one of Germany’s first “green
hospitals”, adds to WSP’s portfolio of health sector
projects in Germany and also demonstrates the
increasing demand for sustainable consultancy as
part of our project management offering. We are
also managing commercial projects for blue-chip
clients including the refurbishment of offices in
Cologne and Hamburg for Allianz; new offices
for Siemens in Bavaria and Frankfurt and a new
headquarters for Swiss Life in Garching, Bavaria.
The Swedish industrial sector remains strong and
against this background we strengthened our process
engineering capabilities to create our first specifically
industry-focused business targeting process-oriented
projects in manufacturing and energy. This resulted
immediately in our appointment to ten small but
strategically important projects boding well for the
future. With the support of WSP CEL in the UK and
Multiconsult in Norway we were appointed for the
design, construction and installations for a new oat
milk plant in China, the first in the region for our longterm Swedish client, Oatley. Continuing to benefit
from long term relationships with the Swedish paper
industry, we won a contract for major improvements
to Stora Enso’s paperboard works at Skoghall Mill. In
mining we were appointed to provide engineering
services at a new open-cast iron ore mine in
Kaunisvaara in the north of Sweden adding to
continued involvement with two of Sweden’s largest
mining companies, Boliden and LKAB. In the energy
sector WSP is a market leader in biogas, working for
many municipalities and cities across Sweden and
delivering projects such as a new bio fuel heating
plant in Gävle, which will deliver 150 MW of power
when fully operational at the end of 2013.
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Africa, India & Middle East
WSP has performed well in the South African
industrial sector with increased revenue, working
for clients in a range of industries, including
FMCG manufacturers, pharmaceuticals, retail,
energy and mining. Many companies are investing
in emerging markets across Africa, leading to
opportunities for WSP to expand into new
regions. We are involved in projects in Nigeria
under a framework agreement with Diageo
and were recently appointed to a project for
GSK in Kenya. For SAB Miller we are providing
engineering and project management for a
new brewery in Nigeria and, outside Africa,
engineering design for the expansion of a
brewery in Columbia, South America. We
continue to deliver distribution centres for the
food retail group, Shoprite Checkers and our
expertise in refrigeration is in demand, with
appointments by Walmart’s local entity, Massmart,
and by Anglo Gold, who recently appointed us
for engineering design of an ice plant to cool
sections of a gold mine.
Far East and Australia
Responding to the boom in mining and resources
currently taking place in Australia, WSP made
a 50% acquisition into a mining consultancy in
Australia, TWP Consulting, creating TWSP Pty Ltd,
to provide clients with strategy development,
design, implementation and risk management
on projects from exploration to mine closure.
TWSP was subsequently awarded a substantial
mining project to develop a vertical shaft and
the associated works at Newmont’s Tanami gold
mine in Australia’s Northern Territory.

Our German business
continues to deliver
project management
as a key service offering to
clients throughout Germany.
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Our people
In today’s highly competitive markets our challenge is to maintain
our position amongst the most attractive employers in our sector
and as the first choice for clients whilst continuing our efforts to
operate ever more efficiently and improve our margins.

Our commitment to attracting, developing and
retaining a talented and motivated workforce is
the foundation of our business success. During
2011 we have focused on programmes that
engage and develop our people in line with
our strategy. For example, we are developing
competency in new technologies and working
methods such as Building Information Modelling
(BIM) for more streamlined project delivery at
lower cost, and we continue to strongly promote
sustainability for improved performance both in
our operations and in all our project work.

the management of our organisation in the
future. In 2011 we also made a number of
strategic, senior appointments to strengthen
our resource base and secure and deliver new
projects in sectors and geographic markets
where we are aiming for greater penetration.
Staff numbers and retention

Our worldwide staff numbers are slightly reduced
at approximately 8,800. A reduction in the UK
headcount in the first six months, primarily as a
result of the slowdown of our UK public sector
In addition, we are developing our off-shoring centre activities and the disposal of our donor aid
in India to benefit from the competitive advantages business, was balanced by recruitment in the more
of allocating some of our design work to lower-cost buoyant markets such as northern Europe and Asia.
countries and have supported this with coaching in
Voluntary staff turnover at 15% is higher than
virtual team and cross cultural effectiveness
last year, reflecting increasing movement in those
Looking to the long term, and with the aim
parts of the world where markets are beginning
of being prepared for opportunities and
to improve. Exit interviews reveal that the
improving markets, we continue to prioritise
majority of leavers do so in order to advance
the identification and training of talented
their careers and most state that they would be
individuals with leadership potential to assure
happy to work for WSP again in the future.
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In 2011 we also made
a number of strategic,
senior appointments
to strengthen our
resource base...
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WSP’s annual staff survey builds knowledge about
staff morale and the level and drivers of employee
commitment to enable us to create a better
working environment and to prioritise areas for
improvement. In 2011 our Employee Engagement
Survey, which was completed by 81% of WSP
staff, revealed a slight reduction in employee
commitment since the previous survey. Although
this is to be expected bearing in mind the impacts
of recession, particularly in parts of the business
that have seen pay restraints and restructuring,
we continue to monitor the situation closely.
Despite this, when asked to compare
WSP’s attractiveness as an employer with
our competitors, the majority of staff rated
WSP as the top employer in our sector, giving
as their reasons brand value, an interesting
project portfolio and good opportunities
for career and competence development.
Performance Management
Our staff survey highlighted performance
management as an area for improvement, in
particular with regard to performance appraisals
and the setting of clear career objectives. Over
the last two years we have been reviewing
and developing our performance management
processes focusing in particular on improving
the skills of line managers. During 2011 we
developed a new performance management
e-learning module for managers, which will be
launched in 2012. We have also been trialling
a new performance management process with
10% of our staff which, if successful, will be
rolled out in 2012. This is supported by the
introduction of new competency sets aligned to
five defined career routes to provide consistency
throughout the global business and to give staff a
greater understanding of what is expected of them.
Training and development
Our investment in training and development
demonstrates our commitment to providing
the level of career development required to
attract and retain the best people. Most of
this is provided through our talent management
programme and the WSP University.
Sham Thadani, Sian Willmott,
and David Jarratt, Melbourne
Melbourne office, Australia
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Our talent management programme, now in
its third year, continues to be well received. It
includes our Personal Development Planning
programme which has now been rolled out
across all our regions to selected senior leaders
and staff identified as having leadership potential.
Participants on this programme value the wide
range of feedback they receive, particularly the
360 degree feedback, and the opportunity to
consider their strengths and development needs

and to formulate their career and development
plan. Information from the programme also
contributes to the globally consistent succession
planning review carried out each year. We also
recognise the value of mentoring, and provide
guidance and support to mentors via the
WSP University and regional programmes. All
members of our Performance Committee are
now personally involved in mentoring promising
individuals from across the Group to support
and develop their careers.

01
Our People

Employee Engagement

Our global Taskforce programme continues
to expand, offering promising early career
professionals the opportunity to develop their
skills and help share knowledge between our
various businesses. This year Taskforce teams
from around the world collaborated in a two-day,
virtual event with the theme of the ‘Five Pillars’ of
WSP Group Strategy, delivering over 40 expert
speaker presentations, workshops and interactive
question and answer sessions.
We continue to expand the WSP University,
through which we deliver a range of internal
and external courses and e-learning to develop
business, technical, personal and procedural
skills. These include training opportunities in
developing technologies, such as BIM, and courses
in project management and on sustainable design
and construction. In addition to updating our
UK and Swedish Universities, we have launched
a new global version with material generic to
all regions, aiming to increase the number of
bespoke regional versions and enhance their
functionality. 2011 saw the introduction of a
second mandatory e-learning module on bribery
and corruption, adding to our sustainability
module launched in 2010, and a refreshed
online introduction to WSP for new recruits.
Knowledge Sharing
We continue to develop the information systems,
tools and communication platforms to facilitate
knowledge sharing and cooperation across the
Group. In particular during 2011 we have been
focusing on extending the use of our global
intranet, which has now been rolled out to all
regions with the exception of Asia, Germany
and South Africa. These will follow in 2012. The
intranet offers a range of social tools including
a variety of clubs and networks enabling staff
with similar professional interests to connect and
discuss a variety of subjects such as renewable
energy, BIM, pedestrian modelling, global health
care and seismic design.
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Financial Review
In markets which continue to be challenging the Group has delivered a sound financial
performance. Headline revenues were £717.3m up 1% from £706.9m in 2010. At
constant exchange rates revenues were flat year on year. Operating profit, before
exceptional items decreased by 13% to £33.0m or by 15% at constant exchange
rates. Restructuring costs in the year amounted to £3.8m (2010:£1.5m) and were
charged against operating profits as incurred. Adjusting for restructuring costs, profits
decreased by 9% at constant exchange rates.

Headline Results*
before exceptional items

2011
Revenue £m

2010
Revenue £m

Property
Transport & Infrastructure
Environment & Energy
Management & Industrial
Revenue

339.4
194.2
94.8
88.9
717.3

324.6
203.5
86.0
92.8
706.9

Profit
£m

Profit
£m

Property
Transport & Infrastructure
Environment & Energy
Management & Industrial

16.3
8.0
3.5
5.2

15.6
12.9
4.3
5.2

Operating profit
Associated undertakings, net of tax

33.0
2.5

38.0
1.8

Profit before interest and taxation
Net Finance Costs

35.5
(5.3)

39.8
(4.8)

Profit before tax
Taxation

30.2
(8.5)

35.0
(10.6)

Profit after tax

21.7

24.4

Adjusted basic earnings per share
Adjusted diluted earnings per share

33.7p
33.5p

37.5p
37.2p

Statutory Results

2011
£m

2010
£m

Profit after tax before exceptional items
Exceptional items (after tax)

21.7
(10.6)

24.4
(14.4)

Profit for the financial period

11.1

10.0

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

17.1p
17.0p

14.9p
14.8p

Revenue change
CER
Headline
5%
(5)%
10 %
(4)%
1%

4%
(6)%
9%
(7)%
-

*The directors believe that to assist in understanding the underlying performance of the Group
the statutory profit should be adjusted by excluding exceptional items. We show details of
these on the Consolidated Income Statement and in the accompanying notes. Due to currency
fluctuations year on year revenue change percentages have also been shown on a constant
exchange rate basis (CER) to show the underlying performance.

242 Exhibition Street, Melbourne
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The year saw varied trading conditions across
the different markets in which we operate.
The Property market generally improved whilst
Transport & Infrastructure saw tougher trading
conditions particularly in the UK. Environment &
Energy demonstrated increased volumes although
a higher proportion of its work was passed to subconsultants as this business works to reposition
itself for its current markets. Management &
Industrial produced a steady performance and the
revenue decline was primarily due to the disposal
of our donor aid business in June 2011.
Profit before tax and exceptional items amounted
to £30.2m including an increased contribution
from our associated company Multiconsult in
Norway. Net finance charges were slightly higher
reflecting an increased finance charge on the
pension deficit and slightly higher average
debt levels in the year.
Exceptional items
As a consequence of the civil unrest in Libya,
the decision was taken to close all operations in
the country and repatriate non-local employees.
Provision has been made for any outstanding
debts owed to the Group and restructuring costs
have been incurred in the closure of operations.
Whilst the Group will aim to pursue debts as
and when possible, all balance sheet exposure
has been provided for. A total charge of £5.1m
has been accounted for in the year.
In Australia, our Environment & Energy business
serves both the less buoyant property & retail
markets and the stronger mining & natural
resources markets. During the year, the
business underperformed and we have taken
the opportunity to restructure the business to
focus on its stronger growth sectors and a new
management team has been put in place. This
financial performance has resulted in a writedown of acquisition goodwill associated with
the underperforming operations of £3.7m and
associated restructuring costs of £0.5m have
also been incurred. These costs are shown as
an exceptional item in these accounts.

current year. That, together with the write-off of
unamortised costs connected with the previous
bank facility, has resulted in an exceptional charge
of £2.0m. In total pre-tax exceptional charges
amount to £11.3m (2010: £15.8m).

Financial
Section
Review
Tile
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Taxation
The tax charge for the year was £7.8m
(2010: £9.2m). The adjusted tax charge, including
tax on associated undertakings and excluding taxes
on exceptional items, on adjusted profit before tax
is £8.5m which represents an effective corporate
tax rate of 30.4% compared to 31.6% in the prior
year. This decrease represents a shift in the mix of
profits earned in territories with differing tax rates.
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share, before
exceptional items are 33.7p and 33.5p; a decrease
from 37.5p and 37.2p respectively. Basic and
diluted earnings per share after exceptional items
are 17.1p and 17.0p; an increase from 14.9p and
14.8p respectively.
Dividend
On consideration of the 2011 financial results,
current market conditions and the underlying
prospects of the Group, the directors are
proposing a final dividend of 10p (2010: 10p)
per ordinary share giving a maintained total
dividend for the year of 15p (2010: 15p) which
is covered 2.2 times (2010: 2.5 times) by adjusted
diluted earnings per share and 1.2 times (2010:
1.0 times) by diluted earnings per share. The final
dividend, if approved by shareholders, will be
payable on 11 May 2012.

The year saw varied
trading conditions across
the different markets in
which we operate.

The Group also completed the re-financing of its
banking facilities in the year. This was concluded
in December 2011 with the existing syndicate
of banks with a new four-year facility expiring in
December 2015. As a result of this change, an
existing interest rate swap that runs until April
2013 no longer qualifies for hedge accounting
and the fair-value loss previously deferred in equity
has been charged to the income statement in the
WSP Report and Accounts 2011
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Financing

Pensions

Our net debt increased year on year closing
at £68.3m, (2010: £59.0m), which reflects both
trading results and the tight liquidity conditions
in most of the markets in which we operate.
Our new £152.5m syndicated banking facility runs
for four years until December 2015 and provides
adequate headroom and working capital capacity
for our medium term needs.

The majority of the Group’s employees
participate in defined contribution pension
arrangements. In the UK there are a small
number of defined benefit pension schemes
which are closed to new members. In addition,
in Sweden there remains an unfunded liability
to a Government scheme for certain historic
pension benefits.

As is commonplace with banking facilities, it is a
requirement to operate within certain financial
covenants, which for WSP, relate to gearing
and interest cover. At the full year and half year
reporting dates, the ratio of gearing, being net
debt divided by earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation (‘EBITDA’), must
not exceed three times and the ratio of EBITDA
divided by net financing interest cost needs to
remain above four times. These are the same
financial covenants as applied to the Group’s
previous facilities. At 31 December 2011, the
ratios were 1.3 times for gearing and 9.8 times
for interest cover and hence comfortably within
the requirements on this facility.

In Sweden, the Group carries a long-term
liability on its balance sheet under the multiemployer Government PRI scheme for pension
entitlements accruing to employees for the
period from 2003 until 2008. This arrangement
is actuarially assessed each year, is unfunded, and
will require the Group to make cash payments
as members of the scheme retire. These cash
outflows will arise over approximately the next
fifty years. The current payments to pensioners
are £0.2m per annum and are predicted to
remain below £1m per annum for at least the
next ten years. Future pension obligations to
Swedish employees are accounted for as
defined contribution arrangements.

During the year the total net deficit in
respect of the Group’s defined benefit
Cash flow
pension arrangements increased to £61.6m
Cash generated from trading activities was £27.4m
(2010: £54.4m). This has principally resulted
in the year; a performance reflective of the tight
from
revised actuarial assumptions, offset by
liquidity and economic climate in many of the
some improvement in investment performance.
territories in which we operate. We are actively
The charge to the income statement was £0.4m
seeking to improve our working capital position
(2010: £0.6m) with a net finance cost of £2.1m
and in 2012 are introducing improved monitoring
coupled with incentive plans linked to operating cash (2010: £1.9m). The decrease in the income
statement charge reflects a reduction in the
flow performance. Capital expenditure amounted
number of active members in the schemes.
to £15.1m and reflects an increase over 2010 as
The overall income statement charge is
we continue to invest in information technology
not expected to materially change in the near
and systems to support our strategic plan. The tax
term. In 2011, employer cash contributions
paid includes the benefit of a £3m refund from the
in respect of the UK schemes amounted to
UK Revenue and Customs in respect of a loss relief
claim that has been submitted but is still to be agreed. £3.6m including agreed deficit funding.
This benefit has not been reflected in the income
statement as the outcome has yet to be determined.
2011
£m
Cash generated from operations
Capital expenditure (net)
Bank & finance lease interest
Tax paid
Currency and other movements
Acquisitions/disposals
Dividends
Net cash inflow/(ouflow)
Net debt at 1 January
Net debt at 31 December

27.4
(15.1)
(3.2)
(5.9)
(1.5)
1.7
(1.4)
(9.6)
(9.3)
(59.0)
(68.3)

2010
£m
47.9
(12.5)
(2.9)
(12.5)
(0.8)
19.2
(9.0)
(9.6)
0.6
(59.6)
(59.0)

The Design Studio, Helsinki office
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The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk
As at 31 December 2011, the Company had issued whereby we continually review our exposure to
floating interest rates and assess the cost versus
63.8m (2010: 63.8m) fully paid ordinary shares.
the benefit of alternative instruments available
The Group’s net equity at the end of the year
to minimise this risk. The Group has fixed a
was £177.2m (2010: £184.2m) which has
proportion of its sterling denominated debt
decreased as a result of retained earnings
through to April 2013, reflecting the duration
offset by actuarial losses on the pension schemes, of its previous banking facility, thereby reducing
currency translation losses and the dividend
financing cash flow volatility and taking advantage
distribution. Net debt at 31 December 2011
of the historically low interest rate levels seen in
amounted to £68.3m (2010: £59.0m).
recent years. This takes the form of an interest
rate swap commencing in January 2010 for the
period until April 2013 and fixed at a rate of 3.8%.
Financial instruments and
As a consequence of our refinancing this swap no
foreign exchange
longer qualifies for hedge accounting and has been
Our policy is to centrally manage the Group’s
reflected in the 2011 income statement as an
liquidity, funding and exposure to foreign currency exceptional item. The Group also manages
risk in a manner which ensures straightforward
its foreign currency interest exposure with
administration, the minimisation of risk and
regard to matching interest cost to earnings
operational flexibility.
in particular currencies.
The financial instruments used by the Group
comprise internal cash resources, borrowings,
Key Performance Indicators
and accounts receivable and payable arising from
Where appropriate we support the headline
normal trading activities. The committed bank
financial performance with Key Performance
facilities provide working capital and limited
Indicators set out in this Business Review that
acquisition finance to meet the current and
medium-term future requirements of the Group. we regard as particularly relevant to our business.
These include adjusted operating profit margins,
Most of our trading activity is in the currencies
revenue changes on headline and constant
relevant to the local subsidiary, thus matching
exchange rate bases, net debt, order book
the currency of earnings with its cost base. The
analysis and staff numbers. While the future order
Group has seen a trend to a higher level of cross- book provides an indication of the visibility and
border fee earning and we monitor this centrally resilience of our business, we are aware that
to mitigate material foreign exchange risks having there is a possibility that some projects may be
regard to all relevant circumstances. We partially
deferred or stopped altogether. For this reason
mitigate the effect of foreign currency on our
internally, we manage our businesses by using a
balance sheet using foreign currency borrowings rolling three month order book which enables
predominantly in US dollars and Swedish Kronor. management to match their staff resources to
We do not consider it necessary to materially
predicted revenue.
hedge our net investments in other overseas
subsidiaries but keep the matter under review.
Peter Gill
Capital structure

Finance Director
27 February 2012
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31

Principal Risks and Risk Management
The Board considers those concerns that are
outlined below to be the principal risks and
uncertainties that could adversely impact upon
the Group’s operations, revenues, costs, cash flows,
assets and our strategy for diversified growth. All
of our principal risks could potentially have an effect
upon our reputation. A loss of reputation could
lead to a loss of business and staff support. Key
reputational dependencies include project design
and delivery, health and safety and business ethics.

Our exposure to a number of markets and
geographies serves to improve our resilience to
certain risk events. Our approach is to embed risk
management into our various business operations,
with the management of each business taking
responsibility for identifying and managing their dayto-day risks.This is withiness t5 is withines-c6

In the course of our business we are faced with
a wide range of risks and uncertainties on a daily
basis. Due to the changing environments in which
we operate and the diversity of our operations
the matters referred to here are not exhaustive.
We have focussed on those risks and uncertainties
that could have a material adverse impact upon
our strategy; particularly our strategy of diversified
growth.The pillars of our strategy will help develop
opportunities for the Group and their fulfilment
should also present an opportunity to improve both
the resilience and performance of the Group.
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Risk Description

Potential Impact

MITIGATION

Market Conditions

Less work may be secured and contracts may be
secured at reduced fee levels; or external factors
could cause delays to the phasing of our projects.
Staff utilisation will reduce and we may be forced
to cut staff numbers. We could be forced to close
offices. Our market position and reputation could be
threatened. Margins and cash generation would come
under pressure, and we may not be able to justify
our investment in working capital. Our strategy for
diversified growth may not be delivered. In extreme
cases we could be forced to exit a market.

• Focus on robust and secure markets that provide
opportunity for profitable organic growth

If working capital requirements were likely to
increase beyond a reasonable level, we may not be
able to pay our staff or creditors on time. This would
constrain growth and investment, thus preventing us
fulfilling our strategy. In the extreme, we may not be
able to satisfy our banking covenants and may not be
able to access sufficient funds which could threaten
the viability of the Group.

• Ensure appropriate contract terms and manage project
delivery to improve margins and reduce disputes and
interruptions

In difficult markets which could arise
as a consequence of social, political,
economic or other factors we may not
secure sufficient work. We aim to match
staff resources to committed projects.
We may not maintain an appropriate
balance of staff and workload

Funding and Working Capital
The majority of costs, including payroll,
are paid before fees are settled by clients.
It may take longer for us to get paid or
we may not generate sufficient cash.

Lack of appropriate resources could impede our
ability to develop and grow organically. We may
not have the appropriate leadership to manage
We rely on our management and staff
the business or the skills to secure or deliver our
to develop the business. We rely on
projects. This would have an adverse impact on
our staff to secure and deliver projects
our growth plans and on quality and efficiency
reliably and efficiently. We aim to match
which could damage our reputation. High levels of
staff resources to committed projects.
In some of our markets competition for staff turnover could increase costs and generally
skills is increasing. We may not be able to performance would be impaired. We may not
achieve our strategic objectives of Diversified
retain current staff or attract new staff.
Growth and Operational Efficiency.
Key Staff, Succession Planning and
Resourcing

Inadequacies in Project Solutions
or Delivery
We may not meet our contractual
commitments. One of our project
solutions or designs may be inadequate
and not perform as intended or even
suffer from a catastrophic failure.
Disaster Recovery
We rely on IT and office infrastructure
to operate. The loss of these, or being
unable to access them, together with
the potential loss of personnel, could
prevent us from delivering our projects.

Responsibility and Business Conduct
Through our own actions or those
of our staff we may not comply with
relevant laws and regulations, or we may
fail in our commitments to stakeholders.
In particular we may act in an unethical
manner or we may cause injury to staff
or third parties.
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• Monitor markets’ activity. Forecast order book and
resource utilisation
• Establish appropriate pricing strategies and control
costs to improve margins and competitiveness
• Maintain absolute focus on client care, key account
management and delivery
• Maintain effective bid processes to avoid unacceptable
risks and maximise our opportunities

• Focus on invoicing and collecting fees and minimising delays
• Establish adequate reserves and funding facilities
• Consider freeing up capital through divestment

• Succession planning including annual review of plans for
management and key staff
• Motivate staff through strong leadership and competitive
reward packages
• Invest in knowledge sharing, training, new skills and
performance management
• Develop new ways of working to improve productivity and flexibility
• Develop joint ventures and alliances

Projects that are delayed, or incorrectly or poorly
delivered, resulting in significant claims and damage
to client relationships. The failure of one of our
projects could result in significant claims and material
damage to our reputation. Our performance would
be adversely affected and we may not be able to
fulfil our strategic plans.

• Engage appropriate skills and resources

The loss of staff or the inability to operate effectively
would incur significant costs, affect morale and
impact upon our reputation. While it is unlikely that
such an event would affect all our offices, some
projects could be delayed which could undermine
client confidence. Working capital requirement could
increase and profitability will be affected. These could
interrupt the delivery of our strategy.

• Establish internal controls and safeguards to avoid or reduce
the impact of adverse events

Loss of trust and stakeholder confidence that would
damage our reputation and reduce staff morale.
Potential for legal action with civil or criminal penalties.
Potential exclusion from certain areas of work or by
some clients leading to loss of revenue. The direct
impact on cash and loss of reputation could have an
adverse effect on the delivery of our strategy.

• Established policy frameworks including Ethics, Bribery
and Corruption, and Health and Safety and embed
appropriate behaviours in our staff and agents

• Negotiate and secure contracts on appropriate terms and conditions
• Maintain systems of quality assurance and other internal
control processes
• Maintain professional indemnity insurance policies to address
residual risks

• Maintain key systems’ resilience and back-up systems
• Establish and test contingency plans
• Maintain a range of insurances designed to respond to residual risks

• Maintain effective systems of risk management
and internal control
• Embed safety into our project delivery and design approach
• Maintain insurances to protect against residual risks
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
Sustainability is a core value for WSP and is critical to our longterm business success. In addition to managing our business
operations in a way that is expected of us by staff, clients and
investors, across our businesses and engineering disciplines we
are increasingly helping our clients meet the demands of providing
sustainable solutions. In terms of carbon savings, the cumulative
outcomes of our design interventions on projects have the
potential to far exceed our own carbon emission footprint.

As stated in last year’s Annual Report and
Accounts, we disclose our sustainability
performance in our Group Sustainability Report
2010, ‘Telling our Story’, published on our Group
website. In line with our Group Strategy of
integrating sustainability into everything we do
we have sought to reference our sustainability
performance through other sections of the
2011 Annual Report and Accounts. This section
provides an overview of our sustainability
strategy; carbon emissions; advocacy and thought
leadership; awards we have won and some
examples of work.

Managing our carbon emissions

For full details of our sustainability
performance, please visit our website:
www.wspgroup.com/sustainability

Our 2011 carbon emissions will be
published on our website in April 2012. Our
total emissions in 2010 were 25,615 tonnes
CO2e/year, substantially the same as in previous
years. However with a reduction in full time
equivalent staff in 2010 our emissions per
employee rose slightly from 2.9 to 3.0 tonnes
CO2e/year. Extrapolating our analysis for the
first half year of 2011 we expect our annual
emissions to be similar to previous years, and it
will not be until 2013, when our 2012 emissions
are reported, that we should see a reduction as
a result of implementing carbon management
action plans.

WSP Sustainability Strategy
Our sustainability strategy has four main areas
of focus:
•	Continue development of our world class
sustainability expertise and associated client
offerings to open up new markets and
commercial opportunities;
•	Embed sustainability into the technical
expertise, advice and solutions we provide
to clients;
•	Actively manage the environmental and
social impacts of our own operations;
•	Be an active and beneficial participant in
the communities in which we operate.
In ‘Telling Our Story’ we report our progress
against each of these areas and we will continue
to do this in the 2011 Group Sustainability Report
to be published on our website in April 2012.
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The need for WSP to de-carbonise and
reduce the carbon emissions that result from
our operations is an important aspect of our
sustainability programme. We measure and
report our energy use and, where possible,
business travel. During 2011 we invested in our
own in-house on-line reporting tool for roll-out
in 2012. This tool will enable us to regularly
analyse emission data and, combined with more
accurate data collection, will allow us to develop
specific carbon management plans to further
improve the management of emissions.
Pilke House, Rovanemi, Finland

Our performance against others was evaluated
in 2011 when we submitted a response to
the Carbon Disclosure Project questionnaire
discussing our carbon emissions and climate
change strategy. Results from their independent
assessment revealed a WSP Group score of 71,
against an average score of 63 among FTSE 350
companies. Although pleased by the scoring we
hope that by improving data quality and analysis
we will identify areas for improvement.
WSP Report and Accounts 2011
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During 2011 we invested
in our own in-house on-line
reporting tool for roll-out
in 2012.
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Advocacy and thought leadership

Business ethics

Throughout the year WSP took an active position
on the need for stronger global leadership in
climate change. We supported the need to limit
atmospheric temperature rise to within two
degrees by signing the 2 degree communique at
the Convention of Parties 17th meeting at Durban,
South Africa. We also continued our involvement
with Business in the Community’s Mayday network.
98 WSP offices participated in WWF’s global
Earth Hour initiative to switch lights off. Our staff
continue to participate in international and national
conferences, for example, the World Future
Energy Forum, the US Green Buildings Council’s
Greenbuild and the Tällberg Forum in Sweden; and
in consultations and working groups organised by
governments, business and not for profit groups
sharing our expertise and understanding of what
the challenges and opportunities are to create a
more sustainable society.

As part of WSP’s commitment to maintaining
appropriate ethical standards with our clients
and suppliers wherever we operate a mandatory
e-learning based course was successfully
implemented in 2011. The aim of the course
is ensure all staff are made aware of our
business ethics, gifts and hospitality policy.
We have introduced the training into staff
inductions and through other measures such
as intranet announcements are working to
increase our coverage.
Health and Safety
The Group aims to safeguard its staff and all
those stakeholders with which it interacts and
to ensure that we meet or exceed the minimum
standards for health and safety management that
apply in those countries where we operate. The
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WSP approach to project health and
safety management is to promote collaboration,
effective communication and coordination aimed
at enabling projects to be delivered safely and
without risk to health.
Health and Safety reporting is the responsibility
of all operating company Managing Directors, and
a register of significant incidents is maintained and
reviewed by the Performance Committee at least
every two months. During 2011 we recorded two
(2010: three) reportable incidents to members
of staff. There are no planned changes to our
operations as a result of reviewing these incidents.
External recognition
WSP’s sustainability performance is assessed
through our voluntary reporting to a number
of independent organisations including the
FTSE4Good Index. We were also benchmarked
against a range of sustainable consulting firms
by the market analysis firm Verdantix, which
specialises in sustainability. Alongside the
“Big Four” auditing firms and the leading two
management consultants, WSP and a handful
of other consultancies were named as providers
with strong specialist expertise and positive
market momentum in this arena.
In addition, our performance was recognised
by a number of awards in 2011, including:
•	WSP UK: Retained Silver in the Business
in the Community (BITC) Corporate
Responsibility Award
•	WSP Environment & Energy: “Environmental
advisor of the Year Award 2011” awarded by
Acquisitions Monthly

•	WSP Australia: Australian Institute of
Refrigeration, Air Conditioning and Heating
Award of 2011 Excellence in Sustainability
Award for One Shelly Street.
•	WSP UK: Concrete Society’s Sustainability
Award for the Bulgari Hotel project
•	Finnish Timber Award 2011 to the Pilke
building in northern Finland. WSP was
responsible for the structural engineering,
including material selection.

The WSP approach
to project health and
safety management is to
promote collaboration...

•	WSP Flack + Kurtz projects achieved a
number of certification awards, including;
- SAP Headquarters, Newtown, PA,
LEED Platinum Certification
- Newport Tower has earned LEED EB O&M
Gold Certification. (Newport Tower becomes
the 2nd and largest LEED EB commercial
office property in Jersey City and just the
9th at Gold level in New Jersey).
- One World Financial Center achieved
LEED EB Gold Certification
- New York City DHS New Family Intake
Center LEED Gold Certification
Being a Good Neighbour
Across the Group numerous community based
activities took place during the year, ranging from
providing careers advice to schools and universities
to fund raising for local and international charities,
with participation both on an individual and
corporate level. In addition, our Group charitable
contributions amounted to £169k in 2011,
equivalent to 0.1% of 2011 profit before tax.

•	WSP Environment & Energy: Gold Award
from the Climate Change Business Journal in
the Consulting & Engineering: Climate Change
Practice category
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01

UK – measuring carbon and water in infrastructure projects
WSP worked with the Isle of Wight Council to define how carbon emissions
(Scopes 1, 2 and 3) and water use are accounted for by contractors in the delivery
of a 25 year roads PFI scheme. This project is at the forefront of developing a
process to contractually incentivise a major infrastructure project on a number
of parameters including carbon emissions and water use.
USA - green cancer research centre
WSP provided a range of design services for the state of the art Van Andel
Research Institute in Grand Rapids, Michigan, USA, which has achieved the
LEED Platinum rating
Australia – sustainable design retail centre
Frasers Broadway aims to be Australia’s first 6-Star Green Star precinct in what
will be Sydney’s largest urban regeneration project. WSP has been involved from
the start, providing an integrated service with environmentally sustainable design
a focus of the development.

Chris White, Kinglake National Park, Australia
WSP Report and Accounts 2011
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Board of
directors
01

01. Ian Barlow FCA
Non-Executive Chairman

04. Rikard Appelgren MSc
Executive Director

Ian joined the Board of WSP in September 2011
when he was appointed non-executive Chairman.
He has extensive and wide business experience
and is a Non-Executive Director and Chairman
of the Audit Committees of Smith & Nephew,
PA Consulting Group and The Brunner Investment
Trust. He is also Chairman of The Racecourse
Association. Previously he was a Senior Partner,
London at KPMG. Ian chairs the WSP nomination
committee. Shareholding: 35,062

Rikard was appointed to the Board in 2010.
Following an early career in consulting and
contracting working in Sweden and Germany,
Rikard joined WSP Sweden in 1996. In 2002 he
was appointed its Managing Director and Managing
Director of WSP Europe in 2006. He is principally
responsible for the Group’s European business and
the development of the industrial businesses across
the Group. Shareholding: 152,800

02. Christopher Cole CEng
Chief Executive
Chris was appointed to the Board as Managing
Director in 1987 when the Company listed on
the London Stock Exchange having been a partner
in the original company since its inception. He
subsequently adopted the title of Chief Executive
in 2001. He chairs the Performance Committee
and Global Leadership Team and is responsible for
both operational control and strategic direction
of the Group. Chris maintains significant client
contact, together with regular liaison with WSP
offices around the world. He is also Chairman
of Ashtead Group plc. Shareholding: 935,949
03. Peter Gill BA (Hons) FCA
Finance Director
Peter was appointed to the Board in 2009 and
is a Chartered Accountant. He has had broad
experience including roles as Finance Director
of The Rank Group plc, the international
leisure business; Xansa plc, the IT services and
outsourcing group which is now part of Groupe
Steria, and Penguin Group, the international
consumer book division of Pearson plc.
Shareholding: 85,736

02

05. Paul Dollin CEng PhD
Executive Director
Paul was appointed to the Board in 2010 and is
a Chartered Engineer. He holds a PhD in material
science and following a period with British Energy,
joined Atkins in 1999 where he held a number of
roles, latterly Managing Director of their Design
and Engineering business, and a member of its
Executive Committee. He is principally responsible
for WSP’s UK business. Shareholding: 14,575

03

06. Stuart McLachlan BSc (Hons) MSc
Executive Director
Stuart was appointed to the Board in 2006 and
is principally responsible for WSP’s Environment
& Energy business. Having worked both as
a practising environmental consultant and a
manager of a London based environmental
and testing firm, Stuart joined WSP in 1995 to
be responsible for the start-up of the Group’s
Environmental business. He became Managing
Director of WSP Environmental UK in 1997
and Managing Director of the Group’s global
Environment & Energy business in 2001. He sits
on the Environmental Leadership Teams of BiTC
and the MayDay Network. Shareholding: 46,272

04

05

06
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07

08

07. Christopher Stephens MA
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

10. Huw Davies BA MBA FCA
Independent Non-Executive Director

Chris was appointed to the Board in 2003.
He has many years experience in a range
of industries including consumer, high technology
and business services. Until 2004 he was the
Group Human Resources Director of Exel plc
(now DHL), the global logistics company. In
February 2011 he was appointed as Chairman
of the Judicial Appointments Commission.
Chris chairs the WSP remuneration committee.
Shareholding: 14,341

Huw was appointed to the Board in January
2011 and is a Chartered Accountant. He has
been Chief Financial Officer of the Wates Group
Limited since 2005, having previously been head
of corporate finance with Taylor Woodrow. He
has held key positions with KPMG, Ernst & Young
and the Government of Oman. He chairs the
WSP audit committee. Shareholding: 10,000
11. Graham Bisset BAcc CA
Company Secretary

08. Mark Rollins BEng ACA
Independent Non-Executive Director

09

After qualifying as a Chartered Accountant
with KPMG, Graham was employed in senior
finance roles in the distribution and materials
Mark was appointed to the Board in 2006.
handling sectors before joining WSP in 1993.
He has held the position of Chief Executive of
He has had broad responsibilities throughout the
Senior plc since 2008, having previously been its
Group including financial management, systems
Group Finance Director for eight years. He is a
Chartered Accountant and was formerly with the implementation, risk management and corporate
governance. He was appointed Company
Morgan Crucible Company plc and, before that,
Secretary in 2005.
with BDO Binder Hamlyn. Shareholding: 10,000
09. Anders Karlsson BSc
Independent Non-Executive Director

10

Anders was appointed to the Board in 2009.
He has broad international experience. He
chairs the board of H&H International A/S and
is a non-executive director of Lindab International
AB, both of which are publicly quoted companies.
Anders is also non executive Chairman of the
supervisory board of WSP Europe AB and holds
two other Chairman positions with private
companies in Sweden. Shareholding: 5,000

11
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PERFORMANCE
COMMITTEE
01

The performance committee comprises the executive directors
of the Group, together with the following key management:
01. Siv Axelsson, MBA
Group Human Resources and
Communications Director

04. Andrew Mather Pr Eng, BSc Eng, B Com
Managing Director, Africa, Australia and Asia
Andrew is an electrical engineer who specialises
in industrial process control systems. He joined
WSP as Managing Director of WSP Group S.A.
in 1999, when WSP acquired the WEVS Group.
From April 2010, Andrew, who is now based in
Sydney, assumed overall responsibility for the
Africa, Australia and Asia regions.

Siv was educated at Stockholm School of
Economics and gained broad management
experience with a variety of organisations.
She has published several books addressing the
management of intellectual businesses and joined
WSP Sweden in 1995. She was appointed Group
Human Resources and Communications Director
in 2002 and is a non-executive member of the
05. Tom Smith BSc (Hons), MBA, CEng MIMechE
board of Multiconsult AS.
Group Global Growth Director
02. Tom Bower, BSc
Managing Director, WSP Middle East
Tom has been with WSP since 1999 and has held
various positions within the business. He joined
the board of WSP UK in 2006 as Commercial
Director and was appointed Managing Director
of our Middle East business in 2010.
03. David Cooper P.E., CEM, LEED AP
President and CEO, WSP Flack + Kurtz
David is a mechanical engineer specialising in
large complex projects, low energy systems
and sustainability. David has been with WSP
Flack + Kurtz for 30 years. In 2003 he was
appointed Managing Director of their New York
headquarters office and has been President
and CEO since July 2008. He reports to the
Performance Committee on behalf of the
Group’s businesses in the USA.

Tom has been with WSP since 1994 and has
held a number of senior positions including
Managing Director of UK Buildings from 1999
to 2004. Since then he has been instrumental
in developing our global connectivity, services
and regions. He operates throughout the Group
working with regional management to develop
global initiatives focussed on market sectors,
global clients and major project bids.

02

03

06. Jason Urry BA (Hons) ACA
Group Financial Controller
Jason has been with WSP since 2007 as
Group Financial Controller. Having qualified as
a Chartered Accountant in 1995, he has held a
variety of finance roles in the UK including Group
Financial Controller of Uniq plc and Group Chief
Accountant of Chubb plc. He is responsible for
Group financial control, reporting and treasury
within WSP.

04

05

06
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Corporate Governance Report
Dear Shareholder,
WSP Group is a Company which takes great pride not only
in what we do but in how we do it. Our vision and values are
integral to the way we do business and the Group’s culture
reflects this to support our people to give their best and instil in
clients confidence that WSP will deliver solutions of the highest
quality.
Under my leadership, and that of my predecessor, David Turner,
the Board sets this important tone for the Group whilst focusing
on its critical responsibilities of setting strategy, monitoring
performance, managing risk and communicating to shareholders
and other stakeholders.
Fulfilling stakeholders’ expectations is immensely important to
us and as a Board we constantly review and seek to improve
the way the business operates, delivers its services and develops
for the future. Good corporate governance is the fundamental
framework to which the Board is committed and within which
we can best discharge our responsibilities.
Throughout the year the Company has applied the main
principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
and complied with the provisions of the Code as it applies to
smaller listed companies. A copy of the Code is available at
www.frc.org.uk.
The report that follows together with the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 45 to 50 provides details of how
the Company applies the main principles and complies with the
provisions of the Code.
Ian Barlow
Chairman
27 February 2012
The Board
The Board of WSP Group plc is responsible for promoting the
success of the Group, its overall strategy and direction and for
its corporate governance. It aims to provide entrepreneurial
leadership to the Group within a framework of prudent and
effective controls that enables risk to be assessed and managed.

A formal schedule identifies those matters specifically reserved
to the Board and its committees. Those include decisions on
strategy and direction, acquisitions and disposals, capital structure,
material contracts, governance and policy.

GOVERNANCE

02

As set out below, the Board comprises five executive directors
including the Chief Executive, Chris Cole, and Finance Director,
Peter Gill, four non-executive directors and myself as
non-executive Chairman. Together, we provide an appropriate
balance of skills, experience, independence and knowledge to
support the management team and develop the business.
The Board considers Christopher Stephens, Mark Rollins and
Huw Davies to be independent non-executive directors free
from any business or other relationship that could materially
interfere with their judgement. As previously reported, Anders
Karlsson is also determined by the Board to continue to be
independent notwithstanding that he has served as part-time
non-executive chairman of the supervisory board of the Group’s
European holding company, WSP Europe AB, for the last five
years. Anders Karlsson has no executive responsibilities and is
not an employee of WSP Europe AB. The Board is satisfied
that he has been and continues to be robustly independent in
both character and judgment. The Board has a process which
has operated throughout the year that requires all directors to
seek Board approval before engaging in a situation that could
potentially give rise to a conflict of interest.
Christopher Stephens is the senior independent non-executive
director and available to shareholders if they request a meeting
or have concerns which contact through normal channels may fail
to resolve or where such contact is inappropriate.
The Board met nine times in 2011. In addition it held one
meeting devoted to the Group’s strategy. The table below sets
out details about the roles of the directors who served during the
year and in the period up until the date the financial statements
were approved.

Director

Position

Independent

Meetings Attended

Ian Barlow (from 01.09.11)
David Turner (until 01.09.11)
Christopher Cole
Peter Gill
Stuart McLachlan
Rikard Appelgren
Paul Dollin
Christopher Stephens
Mark Rollins
Anders Karlsson
Huw Davies (from 01.01.11)
Tony Thorne (from 01.01.11 until 22.02.11)

Chairman
Former Chairman
Chief Executive
Finance Director
Executive Director
Executive Director
Executive Director
Senior Independent/Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director

No*
No
No
No
No
No
No
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

3/3
6/6
9/9
9/9
9/9
9/9
9/9
9/9
9/9
9/9
8/9
-/-

* Independent on appointment
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Corporate Governance Report – continued
The Board has a standing agenda which includes reports from
the executives on the Group’s operational performance, finances,
ongoing strategy and risk profile. The Board has regard to a range
of factors which include social, environmental and ethical matters
in relation to the Group’s business and assesses these and other
factors when considering the risks faced by the Group.
Where appropriate, matters are delegated to the nomination,
audit and remuneration committees. The committees’ terms of
reference which were reviewed during the year are available on
the Group’s website and may be inspected at the Company’s
registered office during normal office hours.
Chairman and Chief Executive
The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and chief executive
have been agreed by the Board and kept under review to ensure
a clear division of responsibilities.
The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board
and ensuring effective communications with shareholders.
Together with the chief executive he sets the Board agenda
taking full account of the issues and concerns of all Board
members, ensuring that the Board receives clear, accurate and
timely information and that over the annual cycle all matters
relevant to the Board’s responsibilities are considered at the
appropriate intervals. Throughout the year, the Chairman held
regular meetings with the non-executive directors without
the executive directors present. Supported by the company
secretary the Chairman is also responsible for director induction
and development, encouraging the active engagement of all
directors in the Board’s affairs, and evaluating the performance
of individuals and of the Board as a whole, together with its
committees, annually (see below).
The chief executive is responsible for managing the day-to-day
conduct of the Group’s business. He chairs the Performance
Committee which has primary responsibility for managing and
controlling the Group’s operations.
Appointment of Directors
The Board has determined that all directors will retire on an
annual basis. Where eligible, and subject to continued satisfactory
performance, they will offer themselves for re-election by
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The
biography of each director is set out on page 38.
Personal development, advice and performance evaluation
In addition to attending Board meetings directors are encouraged
to maintain their knowledge and familiarity with the Group
through office visits, briefings and meetings with senior
management. As part of the induction process, an induction pack
has been provided to directors. During the year two directors,
Huw Davies and Ian Barlow, joined the Board and benefited from
the process, with the new Chairman visiting all major business
locations.
All directors have access to the company secretary who is
responsible for ensuring good information flows within the Board
and its committees and between senior management and non-

42

executive directors. The company secretary is appointed by the
Board and is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are
complied with and advises the Board through the Chairman on all
corporate governance matters. Directors are encouraged to seek
independent or specialist advice or training at the Company’s
expense where this will add to their understanding of the Group
in the furtherance of their duties.
The Board has established a formal process by which it reviews
its own performance and that of its committees and directors
under the supervision of the Chairman. External facilitation
has not been used although this remains an option for the
future. Directors completed a self assessment template which
is followed by a discussion with the Chairman for the nonexecutive directors and with the chief executive for the executive
directors. In addition the Chairman reviewed the chief executive’s
performance and the senior independent director reviewed
that of the Chairman. The nomination, remuneration and audit
committee performance were reviewed in a similar manner.
These reviews are beneficial to evolving the Board structure
and the way it works to improve further our effectiveness and
resilience. In 2011 two key points raised for action were: to
increase the Board’s engagement with each large business unit;
and to improve further our risk monitoring to reflect developing
best practice.
Nomination Committee
Meetings
Attended

Chaired by

Ian Barlow (from 01.09.11) Chairman
David Turner (until 01.09.11) Former Chairman

1/1
3/3

Other Members
Christopher Stephens
Mark Rollins
Anders Karlsson
Chris Cole
Huw Davies (from 05.10.11)

4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
1/1

Senior Independent Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Chief Executive
Non-executive Director

The nomination committee leads the Board appointment process
and makes recommendations to the Board thereon. It considers
Board composition and balance and keeps succession plans for
executive and non-executive directors under review.
During the year the committee met formally on four
occasions and considered plans for succession, the balance of
skills, knowledge and experience within the Board, director
performance and the time commitment required of nonexecutive directors in fulfilling their duties. It supervised the
process for the appointment of the Chairman.
Selection criteria were agreed and members of the committee
participated in various rounds of interviews using an external
search agency appointed by the committee to support the
process to identify preferred candidates and to develop their
recommendations to the Board. The senior independent
director chaired the committee in dealing with the Chairman’s
appointment.
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Audit Committee
Introduction by the Chairman of the Audit Committee
I am pleased to report on the work and operation of the audit
committee during the year. The committee is established by the
Board primarily to oversee the accounting, financial reporting,
internal control and risk management processes of the Group
and the audit of the financial statements of the Group, and to
report its findings to the Board.
I would like to thank committee members, in particular Mark
Rollins who I succeeded as chairman of the committee in May,
for their support and challenge. We met throughout the year
with the statutory auditors (PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP),
with members of the executive management team and with the
head of internal audit. We have enjoyed and appreciated their
openness throughout the course of our meetings.
Huw Davies
Audit Committee Chairman
Meetings
Attended

Chaired by

Huw Davies (from 04.05.11) Non-executive Director
Mark Rollins (until 04.05.11 Non-executive Director

4/4
5/5

as chairman)

Other Members
Chris Stephens
Anders Karlsson

Senior Independent Director
Non-executive Director

4/5
5/5

The statutory auditors were invited to attend all the committee’s
meetings and met in private with the committee on several
occasions during the year.
Huw Davies and Mark Rollins are Chartered Accountants with
recent and relevant financial experience.
The committee reviewed its terms of reference and
recommended changes that were approved by the Board in
October. In 2012 we intend to increase focus on the Group’s risk
assurance processes.
The committee oversees the relationship with the statutory
auditors and has an established policy for the procurement
of non-audit services. As indicated in note 5 to the Financial
Statements, non-audit fees amounted to approximately 70%
of the Group audit fee and this primarily related to internal
restructuring and tax advisory services. The committee is satisfied
that there were sound commercial and practical reasons to have
utilised PricewaterhouseCoopers to provide these services.

Goodwill Impairment
The committee considered the assumptions used by
management to assess the carrying value of goodwill for potential
impairment. The process and assumptions were discussed with
management and the auditors before the committee made its
recommendations to the Board in relation to impairment.
Risk Management and Internal Control
The committee supported the Board in its annual review of the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control processes.
The committee took account of the Group’s organisational
structure and reporting mechanisms, the work of internal audit,
the reports of the Group risk manager and findings of the
statutory auditors.
Audit Plans
The statutory auditors presented their audit strategy to the
committee and discussed and agreed their plans for the audit.
The committee approved their terms of engagement and
remuneration.
Internal Audit
The committee reviewed the internal audit terms of reference
and approved internal audit plans. It reviewed on a regular basis
internal audit reports, related management responses and, where
appropriate, the status of remedial activities. The committee also
reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function.
Whistleblowing
The Group retains an independent third party provider to
deliver a confidential multi-lingual service by which employees
may report concerns. The committee reviewed the effectiveness
of these arrangements and received regular activity reports. It
is informed about the investigation of calls and related findings.
There were no reports of unethical activity made through this
service during the year.
Auditors, auditor independence, non-audit fees and services
The committee made recommendations to the Board in
connection with the re-appointment of the statutory auditors.
It monitors their performance, independence and objectivity.
The auditors also maintain procedures designed to protect their
objectivity which include periodic rotation of the audit partner
and annual independence confirmations by all staff that were
discussed with the committee. The committee has also reviewed
its policy for the procurement of non-audit services together with
the nature and extent of those non-audit services provided by
the auditors.

During the year, the audit committee engaged in the following
activities:

The committee’s formal terms of reference together with its
policy for the provision of non-audit services is published on the
Group’s website www.wspgroup.com.

Financial Results
The committee reviewed the Annual Report, the Final Results
Announcement and the Half Year Management Report. The
auditors reported to the committee and drew its attention
to areas of judgement and accounting treatment which were
discussed with management. The committee also reviewed and
approved the representation letters required by the auditors.

Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee met formally on four occasions
during the year and advises the Board on directors’ service
contracts and remuneration. Details of its membership are
included in the Remuneration Report on pages 45 to 50
which sets out details of remuneration policy and directors’
remuneration.
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Corporate Governance Report – continued
Risk Management and Internal Control
The directors have overall responsibility for the systems of
risk management and internal control and for reviewing their
effectiveness. The system of internal control is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives. In pursuing these objectives, internal control
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
The main features of the Group’s systems of risk management
and internal controls are:
•

defined responsibilities and limits of authority, including those
matters to be decided by the Board;

•

regular Board reviews of strategy and progress during which
financial and other information is reviewed and risks are
identified and monitored;

•

a comprehensive group-wide system of financial reporting
and business planning;

•

a process of identifying and reporting significant business risks
together with mitigating activities across the Group. Further
details of the Group’s principal risks and management of risk
are set out on pages 32 to 33;

•

the close involvement of the Performance Committee,
including the executive directors, in all aspects of day-today operations and regular meetings with the management
of operating companies to review all aspects of their
businesses, including performance and risk management;

•

appropriate operating company controls and procedures
that take account of company structures and business
environments and are aligned to Group policies, standards
and guidelines;

•

established processes for bidding, approving and managing
significant contracts;

•

internal audit which works throughout the Group to identify,
test and report upon specific aspects of internal control and
risk management that are selected for review in consultation
with the audit committee.

The Group has established accounting policies and procedures
that are communicated throughout the Group. Financial reporting
and consolidation processes require all businesses to submit
monthly reports using a standard reporting application. At the
year end and at the half year, the same processes incorporate
additional disclosures that are required to prepare the Group’s
financial statements. The Group finance director oversees
the assessment of risks associated with the consolidation
and reporting process and ensures appropriate review and
implementation of controls to maintain financial reporting
integrity.
The Board is supported by the audit committee in its review
of risk management and internal control systems. The Board is
satisfied that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks faced by the Group, that it has
been in place for the year under review and up to the date of
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approval of the annual report and accounts, that it is regularly
reviewed by the Board, and that it accords with the revised
guidance on internal control published by the Financial Reporting
Council in October 2005. The review processes do not extend
to associate companies or joint ventures in which the Group
does not have a controlling interest. In joint ventures, systems
of internal control are agreed in conjunction with joint venture
partners. Details of material associates and joint ventures are
provided in note 13 to the financial statements.
Going Concern
Based on normal business planning and control procedures, the
directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and
the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the directors
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
accounts.
Relations with Shareholders
In the interests of developing a mutual understanding of
objectives, the chief executive and finance director meet regularly
with institutional investors to discuss the Group’s performance,
strategy and risk. As appropriate, the directors have consulted
with institutional shareholders on other matters such as Board
processes, directors’ remuneration and succession. Both the
Chairman and senior independent director are available to meet
institutional shareholders should there be any unresolved matters
that shareholders wish to bring to their attention.
Presentations are made to fund managers, brokers and the
media at the time the Group’s full year and half year results are
announced. Regulatory announcements are published in the
Market News section of the London Stock Exchange website,
and also on the Group website.
The non-executive directors are available to meet major
shareholders and are provided with regular updates on the views
of institutional investors. They engage with shareholders at the
annual general meeting and may attend presentations following
the final and interim results announcements. A third-party report
on investor views and comments is prepared following the results
announcements and a summary is presented to the Board.
All shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general
meeting in May where they have the opportunity to put
questions to the directors, including the chairs of the Board
committees. Notice of annual general meetings and related
papers are sent to shareholders at least 20 working days in
advance of such meetings. Separate resolutions are proposed
for each substantially different issue to allow it to receive proper
consideration. Voting results are published on the Group’s
website.
Further information on the activities of the Group together
with information that may be relevant to investors may also be
accessed at www.wspgroup.com.
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Remuneration Report – continued
The non-executive directors do not participate in share plans,
bonus or pension arrangements.

The performance-related elements of executive remuneration
which comprise annual bonuses and awards under the 2006
Performance Share Plan represent a significant proportion of
potential remuneration. The targeted composition of directors’
remuneration, based on their full entitlements to emoluments,
including pension, together with maximum potential bonus and
share awards, is set out in the following table.

Director

Ian Barlow

Position

Non-executive
Chairman
Christopher Cole
Chief Executive
Peter Gill
Finance Director
Stuart McLachlan
Executive Director
Rikard Appelgren
Executive Director
Paul Dollin
Executive Director
Christopher Stephens Non-executive
Director
Mark Rollins
Non-executive
Director
Anders Karlsson
Non-executive
Director
Huw Davies
Non-executive
Director

Remuneration packages of executive directors comprise:

Nonperformance
related

Performance
related

100%

–

41%
40%
43%
46%
43%
100%

59%
60%
57%
54%
57%
–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

Incentives reflect profit, cash and earnings per share targets and
the committee has discretion to adjust bonuses to take account
of significant one-off events that may not be representative of
underlying performance together with abnormal events or factors
that may seriously erode shareholder value.
The 2006 Performance Share Plan, encourages a long-term
responsible approach to developing the business by recognising
sustained performance and rewards the achievement of
challenging earnings per share performance over three year
periods. The committee has considered means by which it may
reclaim performance-related elements of remuneration in events
linked to a material misstatement in the financial statements,
an error in the calculation of a performance condition or gross
misconduct by an executive and is implementing provisions in
respect of 2012 bonus plans and Performance Share Plan awards.
The Company has also a policy whereby directors should build
and maintain a minimum shareholding that is linked to their level
of remuneration. This requires them to invest a sum at least
equivalent to 100% of their annual salary by investing at least
50% of their after-tax bonus until such time as they establish the
requisite holding. The interests of the directors in the shares of
the Company are shown on page 50 and currently Christopher
Cole and Rikard Appelgren have established the appropriate
shareholdings, while Peter Gill, Stuart McLachlan and Paul Dollin
have complied by investing at least half of any after-tax bonuses
received.

Basic salary
Basic salaries are reviewed annually together with specific
employee benefits having regard to individual performance,
responsibility and skills, conditions elsewhere in the Group, and
comparable evidence from other companies in the sector.
Since 2009 Christopher Cole, Peter Gill and Stuart McLachlan
have voluntarily waived a proportion of their monthly salaries
in recognition of the challenging trading conditions, with
salary reductions implemented in various parts of the Group.
They elected to waive 5% of their monthly salaries in 2011 as
conditions stabilised. In 2012 Christopher Cole will continue to
waive 5% of his monthly salary which will be kept under review
by the remuneration committee.
Pension contribution
Pension contributions are calculated by reference to basic salaries
excluding bonuses and share incentive awards. All the executive
directors are members of defined contribution pension schemes.
Chris Cole and Peter Gill have elected to receive their pension
contribution by way of a salary supplement. The following table
sets out details of entitlements to pension contributions.
Director

Rate of pension
contribution

Christopher Cole
Peter Gill
Stuart McLachlan
Rikard Appelgren
Paul Dollin

35%
25%
15%
30%
15%

Bonus
Performance related annual bonuses, up to a maximum of 80%
of salary (100% in the case of Christopher Cole and Peter Gill),
are designed to incentivise performance aligned to the Group’s
strategy. Bonuses are calculated by reference to challenging
annual performance targets centred on profit and operational
performance. For 2012, the proportion allocated to a cashconversion target which reflects operating cash flow has been
given increased prominence. The various measures and the
relative significance of these target metrics is set out in the
following table.

Non-executive directors’ fees payable by the Company are
determined by the Board within an overall limit of £350,000 set
by the articles of association, and are structured to reflect the
time commitment and responsibilities of their respective roles.
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2011
Director / Incentive Measure

On-target

Christopher Cole and Peter Gill
On target / Maximum (% of salary)
Group profit before tax: 80% (2012: 50%)
Group cash conversion: 20% (2012: 50%)
Rikard Appelgren, Stuart McLachlan and Paul Dollin
On target / Maximum (% of salary)
Group profit before tax: 40% (2012: 20%)
Business operating profit: 40% (2012: 40%)
Group cash conversion: 20% (2012: n/a)
Business cash conversion: n/a (2012: 40%)
Share awards
Share awards are granted under the 2006 Performance Share
Plan up to a maximum of 100% of executive directors’ basic
salaries as at the date of award. Vesting of awards is linked to
the long-term performance of the Company. The extent to
which awards will vest and thus become exercisable is measured
by reference to the growth in WSP’s adjusted diluted earnings
per share performance over three-year performance periods.
Consistent with 2011, the committee anticipates that it will grant
Performance Share Plan awards in 2012 with a grant value of up
to 80% of salary to Stuart McLachlan, Rikard Appelgren and Paul
Dollin; and 100% of salary in the case of Christopher Cole and
Peter Gill.
Awards take the form of nil cost options and include an
entitlement to receive a cash sum equivalent to the value of
those dividends that would have been paid on those shares that
vest, if they were held by participants between the grant and
vesting dates.
In setting targets for awards granted in 2011, the committee
considered the subdued trading conditions and economic
uncertainties and consulted with major shareholders in order to
determine stretching targets that would incentivise management
in line with the Group’s strategic objectives.
The committee has considered alternative measures of
performance during the year, including total shareholder return
and is satisfied that adjusted diluted earnings per share remains
an appropriate measure of Group performance as it recognises
long-term profit performance that should be expected to flow
through to enhanced long-term shareholder value. Furthermore,
because typically over 40% of the executives participating in the
plan are resident outside the UK, it provides them with a strong

Director

Christopher Cole
Peter Gill
Stuart McLachlan
Rikard Appelgren
Paul Dollin
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2012
Stretch

On-target

Stretch

42% / 100%
32%
80%
10%
20%

45% / 100%
20%
50%
25%
50%

33.6% / 80%
12.8%
32%
12.8%
32%
8.0%
16%
–
–

35.2% / 80%
6.4%
16%
12.8%
32%
–
–
16%
32%

and meaningful focus on Group performance. Subject to certain
overrides, adjusted diluted earnings per share performance is
based on the Group’s audited results information and verified by
the committee.
Total Shareholder Return performance chart (unaudited)
Set out below is a performance chart which compares the
total shareholder return (‘TSR’) of WSP Group plc ordinary
shares with the FTSE 250 TSR index during the 5 year period
commencing 1 January 2007. TSR is the return that shareholders
would have received if they acquired a notional value of shares
at that date and reinvested any dividends received. WSP Group
shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange and the FTSE
250 TSR index is a broad UK equity market index against which
the share performance of the Company may be compared. The
chart shows that this benchmark has not been exceeded over
the 5 year period.
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) based on a notional £100 invested in WSP ordinary
shares during the 5 year period commencing 1 January 2007
£150
£125
£100
£75
£50
£25
£0
01.01.07

31.12.07

31.12.08
WSP TSR

31.12.09

31.12.10

31.12.11

FTSE 250 TSR

Directors’ Service Contracts (unaudited)
Executive Directors
The Board’s policy is to offer service agreements to executive
directors with notice periods of not more than 12 months. Their
service contracts may be summarised as follows:

Contract date

Unexpired term

Notice period

01.01.2004
02.03.2009
01.01.2006
01.06.2010
01.06.2010

Rolling 1 year
Rolling 1 year
Rolling 1 year
Rolling 1 year
Rolling 1 year

12 months
12 months
12 months
12 months
12 months

Contractual termination payments

One year’s salary and contractual benefits
One year’s salary and contractual benefits
One year’s salary
One year’s salary and contractual benefits
One year’s salary
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forthcoming annual general meetings. The Chairman’s and nonexecutive directors’ dates of appointment and their most recent
dates of re-election at annual general meetings are set out below:

For a number of years it has been our policy that new executive
directors’ service agreements should provide for the Company
to terminate these agreements by giving not more than 12
months’ notice. Alternatively the Company may at its discretion
make payment in lieu of notice. Payment in lieu of notice may be
made in instalments and may be subject to mitigation. We will
keep the application of the policy under review, particularly with
regard to arrangements for any new executive directors. This
policy supersedes Christopher Cole’s service agreement but as
previously reported his former entitlement to liquidated damages
was discontinued in 2011. He is not subject to specific mitigation
requirements.

Director

Ian Barlow (from 01.09.11)
Christopher Stephens
Mark Rollins
Anders Karlsson
Huw Davies

On termination of employment, executive directors’ entitlements
to awards under the Performance Share Plan are determined in
accordance with the terms of the plan.

Date of
appointment as
a non-executive
director

Date of last
re-election at
annual general
meeting

01.09.2011
10.01.2003
01.01.2006
01.01.2009
01.01.2011

Pending
06.05.2009
06.05.2009
06.05.2009
04.05.2011

Directors’ service agreements and letters of appointment may be
inspected at the Company’s registered office during normal office
hours. The committee made recommendations to the Board
regarding the Chairman’s fee prior of his appointment.

Non-Executive Directors
The non-executive directors have letters of appointment which
provide that their appointments are initially for a three-year
term, subject to satisfactory performance and re-election at

It is not anticipated that there will be any substantial change in
the level of non-executive directors’ fees in 2012.

Directors’ Remuneration (audited)
The following table provides an analysis of the remuneration of each director who served during the year.

Director

Executive Directors
Christopher Cole
Peter Gill
Stuart McLachlan
Rikard Appel et i30
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Salary
and fees
£’000

390
310
210

Waived
salary 1
£’000

(19)
(15)
(11)

Bonus
£’000

–
–
–

Cash in lieu
Employee
of pension
benefits2 contribution3
£’000
£’000

29
23
14

100
77
–

2011
Total
£’000

2010
Total
£’000

2011
Pension
£’000

2010
Pension
£’000

500
395
213

545
508
202

23
–
31

136
–
31
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elements. The only bonus element that is due reflects the strong performance of the Europe business where underlying operating profit
exceeded the target by 26%. Accordingly Rikard Appelgren was entitled to receive a bonus amounting to 32% of salary.
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Where executive directors receive approval to serve in a non-executive capacity with other companies, the Board has agreed that they
may retain any remuneration received. In respect of the year to 31 December 2011, Christopher Cole received remuneration of £130,000
in his capacity as non-executive chairman of Ashtead Group plc.
Performance Share Plan (audited information)
As at 31 December 2011, the following awards under the WSP Performance Share Plan remained outstanding. The vesting of all awards
which take the form of nil cost share options is dependent upon the Group’s adjusted diluted earnings per share performance.

Director

Award
date

Earliest
vesting
date

09.04.08
07.05.09
09.04.10
23.05.11

09.04.11
07.05.12
09.04.13
23.05.14

Market Number of
price at
shares at
award 01.01.2011
date
No.

Granted
in year
No.

Number
of shares
exercised
No.

Number Number of
of shares
shares at
lapsed 31.12.2011
No.
No.

2011
Value of
grant
£’000

2010
Value of
grant
£’000

602.0p
253.2p
291.0p
332.0p

64,750
153,998
134,020
–

–
–
–
117,469

–
–
–
–

(64,750)
–
–
–

–
153,998
134,020
117,469

–
317
275
241

230
546
476
–

352,768

117,469

–

(64,750)

405,487

833

1,252

122,408
106,529
–

–
–
93,373

–
–
–

–
–
–

122,408
106,529
93,373

251
219
192

435
378
–

228,937

93,373

–

–

322,310

662

813

21,000
49,919
43,443
–

–
–
–
50,602

–
–
–
–

(21,000)
–
–
–

–
49,919
43,443
50,602

–
103
89
104

75
177
154
–

114,362

50,602

–

(21,000)

143,964

296

406

13,308
31,616
65,979
–

–
–
–
57,831

–
–
–
–

(13,308)
–
–
–

–
31,616
65,979
57,831

–
65
135
119

47
113
234
–

110,903

57,831

–

(13,308)

155,426

319

394

56,453
–

–
57,831

–
–

–
–

56,453
57,831

116
119

200
–

56,453

57,831

–

–

114,284

235

200

35,966
42,777

–
–

–
–

(35,966)
–

–
42,777

–
88

128
152

78,743

–

–

(35,966)

42,777

88

280

Current Directors
Christopher Cole

Peter Gill
07.05.09
09.04.10
23.05.11

07.05.12
09.04.13
23.05.14

253.2p
291.0p
332.0p

Stuart McLachlan
09.04.08
07.05.09
09.04.10
23.05.11

09.04.11
07.05.12
09.04.13
23.05.14

602.0p
253.2p
291.0p
332.0p

Rikard Appelgren
09.04.08
07.05.09
09.04.10
23.05.11

09.04.11
07.05.12
09.04.13
23.05.14

602.0p
253.2p
291.0p
332.0p

Paul Dollin
02.06.10
23.05.11

Former Director
Malcolm Paul (until 06.05.09)
09.04.08
07.05.09

02.06.13
23.05.14

09.04.11
07.05.12

340.1p
332.0p

602.0p
253.2p

The price of the Company’s shares as at 31 December 2011 was 205.5p (2010: 355.5p). During 2011 the price ranged from 160p to
385p.
2009 awards were conditional on absolute earnings per share targets that required the Group’s adjusted diluted earnings per share to
exceed 44p in the year ending 31 December 2011. At that level 20% of awards would have vested. If adjusted diluted earnings per share
were at least 57p, 100% of awards would vest. Based on the 2011 results it is anticipated that all awards will lapse.

WSP REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2011

49

Remuneration Report – continued
2010 awards will vest conditional on the growth in adjusted diluted earnings per share in the 3 years ending 31 December 2012. No
awards will vest unless the growth in adjusted diluted earnings per share exceeds the increase in RPI. At that level, the participants would
receive 30% of their awards. If the growth in adjusted diluted earnings per share in each year is at least 4% per annum plus the increase in
RPI, awards will vest in full. Between these limits, awards will vest according to the extent to which the conditions are fulfilled.
2011 awards will vest conditional on the growth in adjusted diluted earnings per share in the 3 years ending 31 December 2013. No
awards will vest unless the growth in adjusted diluted earnings per share exceeds 5% per annum in which case 30% of awards will vest. If
the growth is at least 11% per annum, awards will vest in full. Between these limits, awards will vest according to the extent to which the
conditions are fulfilled.
It is anticipated that those awards that vest and are exercised will be satisfied out of new issue shares.
Those awards that were granted under the Performance Share Plan in 2008 lapsed in full during the year. Awards would have vested
and been exercisable if the adjusted diluted earnings per share growth in the three-year performance period ending 31 December 2010
had exceeded 4% per annum plus the growth in RPI. Adjusted diluted earnings per share in the period declined from 42.3p to 37.2p and,
therefore, no awards vested in 2011.
Directors’ Interests (unaudited)
As at 31 December, directors’ beneficial interests in the 5p ordinary shares of the Company together with their contingent interests in
share awards granted under the 2006 Performance Share Plan were as follows.

Director

Beneficial
shares
No.

Performance
Share Plan
No.

At 31 December 2011
Ian Barlow
Christopher Cole
Peter Gill
Stuart McLachlan
Rikard Appelgren
Paul Dollin
Christopher Stephens
Mark Rollins
Anders Karlsson
Huw Davies

35,062
935,949
85,736
46,272
152,800
14,575
14,341
10,000
5,000
10,000

–
405,487
322,310
143,964
155,426
114,284
–
–
–
–

At 31 December 2010
Christopher Cole
Peter Gill
Stuart McLachlan
Rikard Appelgren
Paul Dollin
Christopher Stephens
Mark Rollins
Anders Karlsson

895,446
47,333
46,272
142,800
14,575
14,341
10,000
5,000

352,768
228,937
114,362
110,903
56,453
–
–
–

There have been no changes in directors’ interests since 31 December 2011.
The Company has followed and complied with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 with reference to Schedules 5 and 8 of
the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and Schedule A of the UK Corporate
Governance Code in preparing this report and in designing performance-related remuneration for senior executives.
Approved by the Board of directors and signed on its behalf

Christopher Stephens
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
27 February 2012
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Statutory and other Information
Principal Activities and Business Review
The Company is a public limited company domiciled and
incorporated in England with registered number 02136404 with
a premium listing and admitted to trading in the main market
of the London Stock Exchange. The Company is the parent
company of an international group of companies supplying
specialist management and integrated services in the built and
natural environment. The Group operates internationally through
subsidiaries and joint ventures with activities in the following
segments:
•

Property

•

Transport & Infrastructure

•

Environment & Energy

•

Management & Industrial

The Companies Act 2006 requires the directors to present a fair
review of the Group’s business during the financial year ended 31
December 2011, including the position of the Group at the end
of the financial year, and a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group (known as a “Business Review”).
The information that fulfils the requirements of the Business
Review is provided in the Business Review section of this Annual
Report on pages 1 to 37.
Results and Dividends
The Group profit after tax for the financial year amounted to
£11.1m (2010: £10.0m).
The directors propose a final dividend of 10.0p (2010: 10.0p) per
share, which, together with the interim dividend of 5.0p (2010:
5.0p) per share paid in October 2011, would give a total dividend
of 15.0p (2010: 15.0p) for the year. If approved at the Annual
General Meeting, which is to be convened on 3 May 2012, the
final dividend will be paid on 11 May 2012 to shareholders on
the register of members at the close of business on 13 April
2012. The shares will be ex-dividend from 11 April 2012. The
dividend charge included in the accounts for the year ended 31
December 2011 reflects dividends paid during the year, totalling
15.0p (2010: 15.0p) per share.
Directors
The directors who served during the year were:
Ian Barlow
David Turner
Christopher Cole
Peter Gill
Stuart McLachlan
Rikard Appelgren
Paul Dollin
Christopher Stephens
Mark Rollins
Anders Karlsson
Huw Davies

Chairman (from 01.09.11)
Chairman (retired 01.09.11)
Chief Executive
Finance Director
Executive Director
Executive Director
Executive Director
Senior Independent / Non-executive
Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director

Biographical details of all directors at the date of this report are
set out on pages 38 to 39, and details of directors’ interests
in shares and share options in the Group are set out in the
Remuneration Report on page 50.
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The Board has determined that all directors should retire and,
where eligible, seek re-election at the annual general meeting.
The rules governing the appointment and retirement of directors
are contained in the Company’s articles of association.
Other than their service contracts, no director had a material
interest in any contract of significance to the Group’s business.
Christopher Cole is non-executive Chairman of Ashtead Group
plc and Huw Davies is a director of Wates Group Limited.
During the year, the Group has occasionally procured services
from Ashtead and supplied services to the Wates Group. These
contracts are conducted on an arm’s-length basis, without the
involvement of the relevant director. The Company maintains
directors and officers’ liability insurance.
Share Capital
As at 31 December 2011, 63,838,694 ordinary shares of 5 pence
each had been issued, were fully paid up and were traded on
the London Stock Exchange. The following table summarises the
movements in the Company’s share capital during the year.
Issue
price

Issued share capital at 1
January 2011
Shares issued during the
year:
The WSP 1997 Share
Option Plan options
exercised
The WSP 1997 Share
Option Plan options
exercised
Issued / aggregate
consideration during the
year
Issued share capital at
31 December 2011

Consideration
(£’000)

Ordinary 5p
shares

63,829,694

295p

16

5,500

72p

3

3,500

19

9,000
63,838,694

Rights attaching to shares
The rights attaching to the ordinary shares are set out in the
Company’s articles of association. Shareholders may change the
articles of association by approving a special resolution, requiring
a three-quarters majority, at a general meeting of the Company.
A shareholder whose name appears on the Company’s register
of members can choose whether their shares are evidenced
by share certificates or held in electronic uncertificated form in
CREST, the electronic settlement system in the UK.

(from 01.01.11)

Tony Thorne

Independent Non-executive Director
(from 01.01.11; resigned 22.02.11)
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Subject to any restrictions below, shareholders may attend any
general meeting of the Company and, on a show of hands, every
shareholder (or their representative) who is present at a general
meeting has one vote on each resolution and, on a poll, every
shareholder (or their representative) who is present has, in
respect of each resolution, one vote for every ordinary share of
which they (or where relevant the shareholder for which they are
a representative) are the registered shareholder.
A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting is decided
on a show of hands unless before, or on the declaration of
the result of, a vote on a show of hands, a poll is demanded
by the chairman of the meeting, by the directors, by at least
five shareholders (or their representatives) present in person
and having the right to vote, by any shareholders (or their
representatives) present in person having at least one-tenth of
the total voting rights of all shareholders or by any shareholders
(or their representatives) present in person holding ordinary
shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to
not less than one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all ordinary
shares.
The Company can declare final dividends by passing an ordinary
resolution but the amount of the dividends cannot exceed the
amount recommended by the Board. The Board can pay interim
dividends on any class of shares of the amounts and on the
dates and for the periods they decide provided the distributable
profits of the Company justify such payment. The Board may,
if authorised by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders,
direct that dividends may be satisfied in whole or in part by the
distribution of specific assets including paid up shares, debentures
or other securities of any other company.
Any dividend which has not been claimed for 12 years after it
became due for payment will be forfeited and will then belong to
the Company.
If the Company is wound up voluntarily, the liquidator can, with
the authority of a special resolution passed by the shareholders,
and any sanction required by law, divide among the shareholders
(excluding any shareholders holding shares as treasury shares)
in kind all or any part of the assets of the Company and he can
value any assets and determine how the division shall be carried
out as between the members or different classes of members.
The liquidator can also transfer the whole or any part of the
assets to trustees upon any trusts for the benefit of the members.
No shareholder can be compelled to accept any asset which
would or could give them a liability.
The Company is not aware of any agreements between the
holders of securities that may result in restrictions on the transfer
of securities or on voting rights. No ordinary shares carry any
special voting rights with regard to control of the Company.
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Voting at general meetings
Any form of proxy sent by the Company to shareholders
in relation to any general meeting must be delivered to the
Company, whether in written form or (where an address
has been specified for the purpose of receiving electronic
communications) in electronic form, not less than 48 hours
before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned
meeting at which the person named in the appointment
proposes to vote.
No shareholder is, unless the Board decide otherwise, entitled to
attend or vote either personally or by proxy at a general meeting
or to exercise any other right conferred by being a shareholder
if he or any person with an interest in shares has been sent a
notice under section 793 of the Companies Act 2006 (which
confers upon public companies the power to require information
with respect to interests in their voting shares) and he or
any interested person failed to supply the Company with the
information requested within 14 days from the date of service
of that notice. The Board may also decide that no dividend is
payable in respect of those default shares and that no transfer of
any default shares shall be registered.
These restrictions end seven days after receipt by the Company
of a notice of an approved transfer of the shares or all the
information required by the relevant section 793 notice,
whichever is the earlier.
A shareholder has no right to vote in respect of a share unless all
sums due in respect of that share are fully paid. This restriction
ceases on payment of the amount outstanding and all costs,
charges and expenses incurred by the Company by reason of
non-payment.
Transfers of shares
The Board may refuse to register a transfer of a certificated share
which is not fully paid, provided that the refusal does not prevent
dealings in shares in the Company from taking place on an open
and proper basis. The Board may also refuse to register a transfer
of a certificated share unless the instrument of transfer:
(i)	is lodged, duly stamped (if stampable), at the registered
office of the Company or any other place decided by the
Board accompanied by the certificate for the share to which
it relates (save in the case of a transfer by a recognised
person to whom no certificate was issued) and such other
evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show the
right of the transferor to make the transfer;
(ii)	is not in favour of a minor, infant, bankrupt or person with
mental disorder;
(iii) is in respect of only one class of shares; and
(iv) is in favour of not more than four transferees.

WSP REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2011

The Board may refuse to register the transfer of an uncertificated
share in any circumstances permitted by the UKLA, the London
Stock Exchange, the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001
and the rules and practices of the operator of the relevant system
provided that exercise of such powers does not disturb the
market in the shares.
The Board may, in circumstances permitted by the UKLA and the
London Stock Exchange, disapprove the transfer of a certificated
share provided that exercise of such power does not disturb the
market in the shares.
The Board may decide to suspend the registration of transfers,
for up to 30 days a year, by closing the register of shareholders.
The Board cannot suspend the registration of transfers of any
uncertificated shares without gaining consent from CREST.
Change of control
The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008 require the Company to identify
those significant arrangements to which the Company is party
that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of
the Company following a takeover bid, and the effects of any
such agreements. The Group’s banking agreements include
provisions which, in the event of a change of control, require
the Company and its principal banks to enter into negotiations
for a period not exceeding 30 days with a view to agreeing a
basis on which banking facilities may continue. In the event that
no agreement is reached within 30 days of a change of control,
the banks may cancel the facilities and require the repayment of
all amounts due by giving not less than five days’ notice to the
Company.
All the Company’s share schemes include provisions that relate
to a change of control. Outstanding options and awards would
normally vest and become exercisable on a change of control,
subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions or
restrictions that might apply at that time.
Variation of rights
The Company can amend its articles of association including in
respect of rights attaching to its shares if a special resolution in
favour of such change is passed at a general meeting.
If at any time the capital of the Company is divided into different
classes of shares, the special rights attaching to any class may only
be varied or revoked either:
(i)	with the consent in writing of the holders of at least 75% in
nominal value of the issued shares of that class; or

The Company can issue new shares and attach any rights to
them. If there is no restriction by special rights attaching to
existing shares, rights attaching to new shares can take priority
over the rights of existing shares, or the new shares and the
existing shares can rank equally, or the existing shares can take
priority. However, the rights of existing shares are deemed to
be varied (unless the rights expressly allow it) by a reduction of
paid up capital or if another share of that same class is issued and
ranks in priority for payment of dividend or in respect of capital
or more favourable voting rights.
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Repurchase of Shares
At the annual general meeting held on 4 May 2011 a special
resolution was approved to authorise the Company to make
market purchases of up to 6,380,000 of its own ordinary shares.
The authority was not used in the period to 27 February 2012
and a similar resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Any purchases of ordinary shares will
be by means of market purchases through the London Stock
Exchange and any shares so purchased may be cancelled or may
be placed into treasury in accordance with section 724 of the
Companies Act 2006. The Company does not currently hold
shares in treasury but the Companies Act 2006 allows shares
repurchased by the Company to be held as treasury shares that
may be subsequently cancelled, sold for cash or used for the
purpose of employee share schemes. The directors consider
it desirable for these general authorisations to be available to
provide flexibility in the management of the Company’s capital
resources.
Issue of shares
Also at the annual general meeting held on 4 May 2011, an
ordinary resolution was approved to renew the directors’
authority to allot relevant securities pursuant to Section 551 of
the Companies Act 2006 up to an aggregate nominal amount
of £2,100,000 (representing approximately two thirds of the
ordinary shares then in issue).
Additionally, a special resolution was approved to authorise the
directors to dis-apply the statutory pre-emption provisions of
Section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 in respect of any rights
issue and for cash issues up to an aggregate nominal amount
of £159,000 (representing approximately 5% of the ordinary
shares then in issue). In addition, and in line with best practice,
the Company has not issued more than 7.5% of its issued share
capital on a non pro-rated basis over the last three years. Similar
resolutions will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

(ii)	with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate
general meeting of the holders of the shares of that class.
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Significant Shareholdings
As at 27 February 2012 the Company had been notified in
accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the
following interests in the voting rights attaching to its ordinary
share capital.

Shareholder

Schroders plc
Henderson Global
Investors Ltd
Montanaro Group
Legal & General
Group plc
Hermes Equity
Ownership
Services Limited

Voting
rights held
through direct
shareholdings

Voting rights
held through
indirect
shareholdings

Total number
of voting rights
notified

Percentage of
total voting
rights as
notified

–

9,917,231

9,917,231

15.53%

–
2,564,738

4,109,494
–

4,109,494
2,564,738

6.43 %
4.02%

2,502,385

–

2,502,385

3.93%

–

1,981,665

1,981,665

3.10%

Financial Instruments
Page 31 of the Financial Review sets out the Group’s approach to
financial instruments and financial risk management. Further detail
is set out in note 24 of the financial statements.
Corporate Governance
The Company’s statement on Corporate Governance is included
in the Corporate Governance report on pages 41 to 44 of these
financial statements.
Corporate Responsibility and Social, Environmental and
Ethical Risks
The Group’s approach to Corporate Responsibility is set out in
the Sustainability Report on pages 34 to 37.
The directors consider that only by ensuring effective
relationships with all the Group’s stakeholders can WSP deliver
long-term value and satisfaction to its shareholders. Christopher
Cole has ultimate responsibility for health and safety and Stuart
McLachlan is responsible for environmental matters. The Group
has established systems of corporate governance, in line with
the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial
Reporting Council, details of which are set out on pages 41 to
44. The Board takes account of risk and reviews the Group’s
systems of internal control and risk management on a regular
basis. Identified risks include those which have a potential Social,
Environmental and Ethical (‘SEE’) impact and, where the risks
are significant, controls and policies are in place to manage them.
Most directors have received training on various aspects of SEE
issues. The employees and executive directors are incentivised
to ensure sustainability through share schemes and bonus
arrangements that have regard to risk, sustainability issues and the
longer term performance of the Group.
Donations
During the year the Group made charitable donations of
£169,000 (2010: £156,000) principally to local charities and
foundations serving the communities in which the Group
operates. Included in the above was £24,000 (2010: £22,000)
donated in the UK.
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Employees
The success of the business depends upon maintaining a highly
qualified and well-motivated work force and every effort is made
to achieve a common awareness of the financial and economic
factors affecting the performance of the Group.
Regular communication and consultation with employees and
their representatives is essential and is achieved by formal and
informal meetings, through intranets, the global internet and
through the distribution of in-house newsletters and magazines.
WSP recognises the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and
is a committed equal opportunity employer, engaging employees
with broad backgrounds and skills. Within the limitations of the
business, we encourage recruitment, training, career development
and promotion on the basis of professional capability, without
regard to disability; and we are committed to retaining and
retraining as necessary employees who become disabled during
the course of their employment. The Our People review on
pages 26 to 27 and the Sustainability Report on pages 34 to 37
provide further details of employees and employee relationships.
Research and Development
To deliver innovative solutions and develop market position
WSP maintains research links in many areas that make it possible
to apply some of the latest technical solutions to the benefit of
clients. The sharing of knowledge and innovations is encouraged
through the use of the Group’s common databases, the intranet
and other staff communications.
Supplier Payment Policy
As a service business, WSP’s primary cost base is its professional
staff who are paid weekly or monthly in arrears. Many other
costs, such as office rents and insurance, are paid in advance.
In addition, and in common with other businesses in the
construction sector, sub-consultants who provide support or
specialist services on projects operate on a paid-when-paid basis.
The Company’s terms and conditions of payment for the supply
of other capital and revenue items are normally agreed with
the supplier and the Company seeks to abide by these terms of
payments. In the absence of any such agreement it is our policy
to make payment 60 days after the end of the month in which
the supplier’s invoice was received.
The average number of days credit taken by the Company for
trade purchases for the year ended 31 December 2011 was 31
days (2010: 30 days).
Disclosure of Audit Information
So far as each director in office at the date this report was
approved is aware, there is no relevant audit information (namely,
information needed by the Company’s auditors in connection
with the preparation of the auditors’ report) of which the
auditors are unaware. Each director has taken all the steps that
he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.
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Auditors
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their
willingness to continue in office, and a resolution that they be reappointed will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
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Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at the
registered office of the Company at 11.00 a.m. on 3 May 2012.
Details of the business to be conducted at the Annual General
Meeting are contained in the explanatory circular and Notice of
Meeting to be issued to shareholders.
The Directors’ Report on pages 1 to 56 was approved by the
Board and signed on behalf of the Board by
Graham Bisset
Company Secretary
27 February 2012
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Financial
Statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report,
the directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have prepared the Group and Parent Company financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under
company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of
the profit or the loss of the Group for that period. In preparing
these financial statements the directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

•

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

•

state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and

•

prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Group website, www.wspgroup.com. Legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.
By Order of the Board

Christopher Cole
Chief Executive
27 February 2012

Peter Gill
Finance Director

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements and the directors’
remuneration report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and,
as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
Each of the directors, whose names and functions are set out
below, confirms that to the best of their knowledge:
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•

the financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union, give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the
Company and the Group; and

•

the management report contained in this report includes
a fair review of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Company and the Group,
together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of WSP Group plc
We have audited the financial statements of WSP Group
plc for the year ended 31 December 2011 which comprise
the Consolidated Income Statement, the Group and Parent
Company Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Group
and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Parent
Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Group and
Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Accounting Policies
and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities set out on page 56, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is
to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and
only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no
other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the Group’s and the Parent Company’s circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information
in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the
audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
implications for our report.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
•

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31
December 2011 and of the Group’s profit and Group’s and
Parent Company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

•

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;
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•

the Parent Company financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union and as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

•

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the lAS
Regulation.
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act
2006
In our opinion:
•

the part of the directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006; and

•

the information given in the Directors’ Report for the
financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to
you if, in our opinion:
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

•

the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by
law are not made; or

•

we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:
•

the directors’ statement, set out on page 44, in relation to
going concern;

•

the parts of the Corporate Governance Statement relating
to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of
the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our
review; and

•

certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board
on directors’ remuneration.

Bowker Andrews (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
27 February 2012
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Note

Continuing operations
Revenue
Subcontractor costs
Net revenue
Employee benefit costs

Before
exceptional
items
2011
£m

1

6

Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Operating profit
Associated undertakings
– share of profit
– share of taxation

Exceptional
items*
2011
£m

Total
2011
£m

Before
exceptional
items
2010
£m

Exceptional
items*
2010
£m

Total
2010
£m

717.3
(88.7)

–
–

717.3
(88.7)

706.9
(80.2)

–
–

706.9
(80.2)

628.6
(450.1)

–
–

628.6
(450.1)

626.7
(438.6)

–
–

626.7
(438.6)

178.5
(145.5)

–
(9.3)

178.5
(154.8)

188.1
(150.1)

–
(15.8)

188.1
(165.9)

33.0

(9.3)

23.7

38.0

(15.8)

22.2

3.5
(1.0)

2.5
(0.7)

2
3.5
(1.0)
2.5

Profit before interest and taxation

–
–

2.5

1.8

35.5

(9.3)

–

26.2

39.8

–
–
–
(15.8)

2.5
(0.7)
1.8
24.0

Finance costs
Finance income

4
4

(5.4)
0.1

(2.0)
–

(7.4)
0.1

(4.9)
0.1

Profit before taxation
Taxation

7

30.2
(8.5)

(11.3)
0.7

18.9
(7.8)

35.0
(10.6)

(15.8)
1.4

19.2
(9.2)

Profit for the financial year

21.7

(10.6)

11.1

24.4

(14.4)

10.0

Profit attributable to:
– Equity shareholders
– Non-controlling interests

21.5
0.2

(10.6)
–

10.9
0.2

23.9
0.5

(14.4)
–

9.5
0.5

21.7

(10.6)

11.1

24.4

(14.4)

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

9
9

–
–

17.1p
17.0p

(4.9)
0.1

10.0
14.9p
14.8p

* Exceptional items are analysed in note 3.

Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

Profit for the financial year
Other comprehensive income:
Actuarial loss on pension schemes (net of taxation)
Movement on cash flow hedges
Foreign exchange movements (net of taxation)

11.1

10.0

14.4

26.5

(7.9)
2.4
(1.5)

(4.0)
(1.0)
11.1

–
2.4
–

–
(1.0)
–

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year

(7.0)

6.1

2.4

(1.0)

Total comprehensive income for the year

4.1

16.1

16.8

25.5

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders
Non-controlling interests

3.9
0.2

15.6
0.5

16.8
–

25.5
–

Total comprehensive income for the year

4.1

16.1

16.8

25.5
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Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2011

Note

2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

10
11
12
13
13
13
14

195.7
9.6
24.6
–
0.6
15.6
18.0

200.5
10.6
26.2
–
0.7
14.3
16.1

1.4
1.5
–
120.7
–
–
0.5

1.4
2.8
–
139.9
–
–
0.2

264.1

268.4

124.1

144.3

245.5
5.0
35.6

251.4
2.9
42.5

130.0
–
2.6

107.6
–
1.6

286.1

296.8

132.6

109.2

(2.2)
(185.2)
(4.9)

(4.2)
(205.2)
(1.4)

–
(16.8)
(3.7)

–
(22.7)
(0.6)

(192.3)

(210.8)

(20.5)

(23.3)

93.8

86.0

112.1

85.9

(103.4)
(61.6)
(14.9)
(0.8)

(99.7)
(54.4)
(13.9)
(2.2)

(98.6)
–
–
–

(99.1)
–
–
(0.3)

(180.7)

(170.2)

(98.6)

(99.4)

177.2

184.2

137.6

130.8

3.2
82.2
44.5
44.9

3.2
82.2
43.6
51.9

3.2
82.2
8.2
44.0

3.2
82.2
5.8
39.6

Total shareholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests

174.8
2.4

180.9
3.3

137.6
–

130.8
–

Total equity

177.2

184.2

137.6

130.8

Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiary and joint venture undertakings
Financial assets available for sale
Investment in associated undertakings
Deferred taxation asset
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Current taxation receivable
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts)
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade, other payables and provisions
Liabilities for current taxation

15

16
17

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations
Deferred taxation liability
Provisions

16
23
14
18

Net assets
Equity
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Other reserves
Retained earnings

19
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The financial statements on pages 58 to 91 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 February 2012 and signed on their behalf by:
CHRISTOPHER COLE, Chief Executive
PETER GILL, Group Finance Director
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Statements of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Group

At 1 January 2010
Comprehensive income:
Profit for the year

Share
premium
account
£m

Retained
earnings
£m

Translation
reserve
£m

3.2

81.8

56.1

34.9

–

–

9.5

–

–
–

7.4
3.7

Non–
controlling
interests
£m

Total
equity
£m

174.6

3.2

177.8

–

9.5

0.5

10.0

–
–

7.4
3.7

–
–

7.4
3.7

(4.0)
(1.0)

–
–

(4.0)
(1.0)

Total
Hedging shareholders’
funds
reserve
£m
£m

(1.4)

Other comprehensive income:
Foreign exchange movements
Net investment hedges (net of taxation)
Actuarial loss on pension schemes
(net of taxation)
Cash flow hedges (net of taxation)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(4.0)
–

–
–

–
(1.0)

Total other comprehensive income

–

–

(4.0)

11.1

(1.0)

6.1

–

6.1

Total comprehensive income

–

–

5.5

11.1

(1.0)

15.6

0.5

16.1

–

–

0.1

–

–

0.1

–

0.1

–

(0.1)

Transactions with owners:
Performance share plan adjustments
Deferred taxation related to the performance
share plan adjustment
Current taxation related to the performance
share plan adjustment
Dividends
Issue of ordinary shares

–

–

(0.1)

–

–

(0.1)

–
–
–

–
–
0.4

(0.1)
(9.6)
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

(0.1)
(9.6)
0.4

–
(0.9)
–

(0.1)
(10.5)
0.4

Total contributions by and distributions to
owners

–

0.4

(9.7)

–

–

(9.3)

(0.9)

(10.2)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in a loss of control:
Foreign exchange movements on noncontrolling interests

–

–

–

–

Total transactions with owners

–

0.4

(9.7)

–

–

3.2

82.2

51.9

46.0

–

–

10.9

–

–
–

At 1 January 2011
Comprehensive income:
Profit for the year
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Share
capital
£m

–

(2.4)

–
(9.3)

3.3

184.2

–

10.9

0.2

11.1

–
–

0.5
(2.0)

–
–

0.5
(2.0)

–
0.7
1.7

(7.9)
0.7
1.7

–
–
–

(7.9)
0.7
1.7

–

(7.0)

–
–

–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

(7.9)
–
–

Total other comprehensive income

–

–

(7.9)

(1.5)

2.4

(7.0)

Total comprehensive income

–

–

3.0

(1.5)

2.4

3.9

Transactions with owners:
Performance share plan adjustments
Dividends

–
–

–
–

(0.4)

–
–
–

–

0.5
(9.7)

180.9

Other comprehensive income:
Foreign exchange movements
Net investment hedges (net of taxation)
Actuarial loss on pension schemes
(net of taxation)
Cash flow hedges (net of taxation)
Derecognition of cash flow hedges

0.5
(2.0)

0.5
(0.4)

–

(0.4)

0.2
–

4.1
(0.4)
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Accounting Policies – continued
For the year ended 31 December 2011

to the estimated cost required to complete the contract. Some
contracts specify certain project milestones to be achieved and
revenue and costs are recognised upon reaching the required
milestone.
Revenue and costs are recognised on this basis where the
outcome of the contract can be reliably measured and is
reasonably certain. Full provision is made for all known or
anticipated losses on each contract immediately such losses
are identified. Contract costs include direct staff costs and an
appropriate allocation of overhead and disbursements.
Contract claims or variations are recognised only when there
is reasonable certainty that economic benefits will flow to the
Group.
Amounts due from clients are stated at revenue recognised to
date less amounts billed on account. Amounts billed to clients are
recorded in trade receivables less any provision for impairment.
To the extent that fees paid on account exceed the value of
work performed, they are included in trade and other payables.
Exceptional items
Exceptional items are those that the directors consider are of
unusual size or nature that they are required to be separately
disclosed to allow the user of the financial statements to
understand the underlying performance of the Group. For
example, impairment of goodwill or amortisation of business
combination intangible assets.
Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and any exchange
differences are taken to the income statement.
On consolidation, income statements and cash flows of foreign
subsidiaries are translated into pounds sterling using average rates
that existed during the accounting period. The balance sheets
of foreign subsidiaries are translated into pounds sterling at the
rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses
arising on the translation of opening and closing net assets are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Segmental reporting
The Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker is determined as
the Performance Committee. The Performance Committee
considers the business from both a business discipline and
geographic perspective. The four disciplines are Property,
Transport & Infrastructure, Environment & Energy and
Management & Industrial and these disciplines are also reviewed
as to their geographical locations. Operating segment information
is shown in note 1 to the financial statements and is disclosed
in a manner consistent to the internal reporting provided to the
Performance Committee.
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Investment in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provisions for
impairment where appropriate.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment. Cost comprises purchase price
after discounts and rebates plus all directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use.
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost
of property, plant and equipment by equal annual instalments
over their expected useful lives, having regard to their residual
values. The annual depreciation rates applicable are as follows:
Freehold and long leasehold property
Short leasehold property
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment
Fixtures and fittings

1%
lease term
25%
20-33%
10%

Depreciation is not charged on assets held for sale. Depreciation
is not charged on capital work in progress until the assets
are brought into operational use in the business. The residual
values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
value.
Goodwill
Goodwill recognised under UK GAAP prior to 1 January 2004,
the date of transition to IFRS, is stated at net book value as
at that date. Goodwill on business combinations recognised
subsequent to 1 January 2004 is initially measured at cost
being the excess of the cost of the business combination over
the interest in the net fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired are capitalised at cost and those
identified in a business combination are capitalised at fair value as
at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, the carrying
amount of an intangible asset is its cost less any accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed on acquisition to be either
indefinite or finite. Amortisation is charged as appropriate on
those intangibles with finite lives, while those with indefinite lives
are tested for impairment. Software is amortised on a straight-line
basis over the expected useful life which ranges from three to six
years and assets arising on business combinations are amortised
according to the period in which the benefit is realised.
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The useful lives for intangible assets are assessed to be as follows:
Computer software
Sales order books
Customer lists
Trading names

3-6 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years

Impairment of assets
On an annual basis the Group assesses whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of
impairment exists, the Group makes an estimate of recoverable
amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount the asset is written down to its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use and is determined for an individual
asset. If the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the
asset belongs is determined. Discount rates reflecting the asset
specific risks and the time value of money are used for the value
in use calculation.
Financial assets available for sale
Available for sale investments are non-derivatives, are carried
at their fair value and held in non-current assets, unless it is
anticipated that they will be sold within 12 months of the balance
sheet date. Realised gains and losses arising from changes in
the fair value of available for sale assets are included in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which they are
realised. Unrealised gains and losses are recorded in equity.
Investments that the Group has the intent and ability to hold
to maturity are classified as held to maturity and are included
in either current or non current assets as appropriate. They are
carried at amortised cost. The Group assesses financial assets at
each balance sheet date for impairment. Impairment testing of
trade receivables is described below.
Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice
amount less an allowance for uncollectible amounts. An estimate
of uncollectible amounts is made when collection of the full
amount is no longer probable. Uncollectible amounts are written
off to the income statement when identified.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and those
deposits held with banks having a maturity date of less than 3
months from the date the deposit was made and being available
on demand within one working day without significant penalty.
They are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purposes
of the cash flow statement cash and cash equivalents are net of
bank overdrafts.
Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
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normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.
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Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
until such time as the asset is substantially ready for its intended
use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognising the
resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the
item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as
either:
(a)	hedges of the fair value of recognised assets and liabilities or
a firm commitment (fair value hedge);
(b)	hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probably forecast transaction (cash
flow hedge); or
(c)	hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net
investment hedge).
The Group currently has one cash flow hedge, that being an
interest rate swap.
The Group documents at the inception of the transaction
the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged
items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy
for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an
ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values
or cash flows of hedged items.
The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging
purposes are shown in note 24. Movements on the hedging
reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in the statement of
changes in equity. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the
income statement together with any changes in the fair value of
the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedge risk.
The Group does not currently have any fair value hedges.
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised

65

Accounting Policies – continued
For the year ended 31 December 2011

in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to
the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income
statement within finance costs/income. The deferred amounts
are ultimately recognised through the income statement as the
instrument runs to maturity. When a hedging instrument ceases
to qualify for hedge accounting any cumulative deferred gain
or loss existing in equity is recognised in the income statement
immediately. Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are
accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges.
Pension schemes
The Group maintains a number of defined contribution schemes
and contributions are charged to the income statement in the
year in which they are due. In addition, the Group operates
defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made
to separately administered funds. The cost of providing benefits
under defined benefit schemes is determined separately for
each scheme using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation
method. Current and past service costs together with curtailment
and settlement costs are charged to operating profit. Interest
costs which are based on a notional charge based on scheme
liabilities during the year, less expected returns on scheme assets,
are charged to net finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses are
fully recognised in equity through the statement of recognised
income and expense as they arise. The balance sheet reflects the
schemes’ full surplus or deficit at the balance sheet date.
Leasing
Finance leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are capitalised at
the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or,
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Finance costs are charged to the income statement over the
period of the agreement. Obligations under finance leases are
included in financial liabilities net of finance costs allocated to
future periods. Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the estimated life of the asset or the lease term.
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and
benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating
leases. Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the
income statement as incurred on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
Dividends
Final equity dividends to the shareholders of WSP Group plc
are recognised in the period that they are approved by the
shareholders. Interim equity dividends are recognised in the
period that they are paid.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is likely
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and that amount can be
reasonably estimated. Where the Group expects all or some of
the obligation to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised
as a separate asset to the extent that it is virtually certain to be
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reimbursed. The expense relating to any provision is presented in
the income statement net of any reimbursement.
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the balance sheet date. If material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money.
Taxation
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Full provision has been made for deferred taxation balances
on all temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes at the balance sheet date using the full liability method.
A deferred taxation asset is recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available to offset
against the asset. Deferred taxation assets are reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to utilise
the asset. Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date. Income tax relating to items recognised
directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income
statement.
Share based payments
The Company operates a number of executive and employee
share schemes. For all grants of share options and awards, the
fair value as at the date of grant is calculated using an appropriate
option pricing model and the corresponding expense is
recognised over the period to which the associated employee’s
service relates. The Company has taken advantage of the
transitional provisions of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments’ in respect
of equity-settled awards and has applied IFRS 2 only to equity
settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not
vested before 1 January 2005.
Employee Benefit Trust (EBT)
The Company’s EBT is a separately administered discretionary
trust for the benefit of employees. The assets of the EBT mainly
comprise shares in the Company. The assets, liabilities, income
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flows expected from the cash generating units. The Group
uses its weighted average cost of capital as the basis of
the discount rate for these calculations which is adjusted
for market factors relevant to the cash generating unit as
described in note 10 to the financial statements. In addition,
the calculations are performed using the discount rate
increased by 1 percentage point to identify the level of
headroom available in the calculation.

and costs of the EBT are consolidated in the financial statements.
The investment in own shares is treated as a deduction in
Shareholders’ Funds.
Sources of estimation, uncertainty and significant judgements
The preparation of the financial statements requires the Group
to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The
directors base their estimates on historical experience and
various other assumptions that they believe are reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgements about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.
Areas requiring critical judgement and estimation that may
significantly impact the Group’s earnings and financial position are
considered to be as follows:
•

Revenue recognition: The Group believes that the most
significant critical judgement area in the application of
its accounting policies is revenue recognition and the
assessment of the percentage of completion achieved.
The Group assesses contract progress and determines the
proportion of contract work completed at the balance sheet
date in relation to the total contract works to determine
the appropriate amounts of revenue and net amounts
recoverable on contracts. The Group will also assess the
ability to bill and collect these amounts when determining
revenue to be recognised. Due to the volume and
complexity of the Group’s many contracts in existence at
any one time it is not practicable to quantify how changes
to the assumptions used for each individual contract would
affect the Group’s financial statements.

•

Impairment of trade receivables: The Group assesses
at the balance sheet date whether there is objective
evidence of impairment of trade receivables. Evidence of
impairment may include that a debtor or group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, or where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions which correlate with defaults.
Further details are given in note 15.

•

Retirement benefit obligations and related deferred tax:
The present value of obligations is calculated on an actuarial
basis which depends on a number of assumptions relating
to the future. These key assumptions are assessed regularly
according to market conditions and data available to
management. Additional details are given in note 23.

•

Impairment of goodwill: The Group assesses goodwill for
impairment annually in accordance with the accounting
policy detailed above. The value in use calculations
performed use estimates relating to future predicted cash
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•

Intangible assets: On acquisition of subsidiaries, the Group
recognises intangible assets. This requires judgement to be
exercised regarding the valuation methodology, expected
useful life and discount rates to be applied. In addition a
number of estimates are used in calculating fair value and
changes to these judgements and estimates would affect the
carrying value and amortisation charges in respect of these
assets.

•

Deferred consideration: Where deferred consideration in
respect of acquisitions is payable, this may be contingent
upon future events or the acquired business’ performance.
The most probable outcome of these future events are
estimated to ascertain the fair value of the obligation and
any change to this outcome will be reflected in the income
statement in future periods.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1 Segmental analysis
The Chief Operating Decision-Maker has been identified as the Performance Committee. This committee reviews the Group’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The segments shown below have been determined based on this
information.
The Performance Committee considers the business from both a business discipline and geographic perspective. The four disciplines
assessed are Property, Transport & Infrastructure, Environment & Energy and Management & Industrial. Within each of these segments the
information is reported according to geographic regions.
Performance is assessed on the basis of operating profit as disclosed in the income statement, before exceptional items. Revenue is
reported and assessed excluding revenue generated from inter-segment services and is therefore consistent with revenue reported in the
consolidated income statement. Finance income and costs are not allocated to segments as this type of activity is driven by the central
treasury function, which manages the cash position of the Group. Segment assets and liabilities are not considered key performance
indicators for the purposes of Performance Committee reporting and are not included in the segmental disclosures.
Revenue and profit by segment
Revenue

Property
United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
United States
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia
Transport & Infrastructure
United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
United States
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia
Environment & Energy
United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
United States
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia
Management & Industrial
United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia
Revenue

Associated undertakings – multi-disciplined services
Revenue plus share of associates

2011
£m

2010
£m

81.0
113.1
60.1
38.4
46.8

83.1
96.8
63.4
42.3
39.0

339.4

324.6

73.2
88.1
18.7
11.9
2.3

83.3
86.6
19.7
12.6
1.3

194.2

203.5

31.3
25.2
21.3
5.8
11.2

27.1
22.7
21.2
5.4
9.6

94.8

86.0

23.7
57.4
4.1
3.7

26.8
55.7
3.9
6.4

88.9

92.8

717.3

706.9

42.8

37.9

760.1

744.8

Revenue of approximately £141m (2010: £127m) was derived from a single source and is reported within all four disciplines within the
Mainland Europe segments. This revenue is derived from all public sector activity in the particular country.
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Segmental analysis (continued)

Profit
2011
£m

Property
United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
United States
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia

2010
£m

1.6
9.3
4.4
(1.0)
2.0

3.8
7.2
5.4
(1.7)
0.9

16.3

15.6

0.4
6.5
0.5
0.4
0.2

4.8
7.6
1.1
(0.8)
0.2

8.0

12.9

1.3
1.5
1.4
0.4
(1.1)

1.3
1.2
1.4
0.7
(0.3)

3.5

4.3

–
4.5
0.7
–

(0.1)
4.5
0.7
0.1

5.2

5.2

Associated undertakings - Multi–disciplined services (net of tax)
Exceptional items

33.0
2.5
(9.3)

38.0
1.8
(15.8)

Profit before interest and tax

26.2

24.0

Transport & Infrastructure
United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
United States
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia
Environment & Energy
United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
United States
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia
Management & Industrial
United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
Africa, India & Middle East
Far East & Australia
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Joint ventures and associated undertakings
Joint
ventures
£m

2011
Associated
undertakings
£m

Joint ventures
£m

2010
Associated
undertakings
£m

Share of revenue

43.7

42.8

36.3

37.9

Share of profit before taxation
Taxation

2.6
(0.7)

3.5
(1.0)

2.7
(0.8)

2.5
(0.7)

1.9

2.5

1.9

1.8

Joint
Ventures
£m

2011
Associated
Undertakings
£m

Joint
Ventures
£m

2010
Associated
Undertakings
£m

–
0.3
0.1
11.9

3.2
1.5
–
20.3

–
0.1
–
10.7

3.1
1.5
–
19.7

12.3
(10.2)
(1.7)

25.0
(9.3)
(2.4)

10.8
(10.0)
–

24.3
(9.1)
(2.1)

0.4

13.3

0.8

13.1

Group revenue with associated undertakings and joint ventures

2.4

1.1

2.7

0.6

Included in current assets are:
Trading balances with WSP Group plc subsidiaries

0.1

–

–

0.2

Included in current liabilities are:
Trading balances with WSP Group plc subsidiaries

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

Share of profit after taxation
Share of net assets of associated undertakings and joint ventures

Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Other non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

The Group’s balances in respect of associated undertakings and joint ventures relate mainly to its 24.7% interest in Multiconsult AS and
its 27.9% effective interest in LINK Arkitketur AB and its interest in Carillion WSP, WSP May Gurney and TWSP of 40%, 50% and 50%
respectively.
3 Exceptional items
The following items due to their unusual size or nature have been disclosed separately in the income statement:

Provision for Libya closure (a)
Restructure of WSP E+E Australia and impairment of related goodwill (b)
Costs associated with re-financing bank debt (c)
Restructure of WSP CEL and impairment of related goodwill
Disposal of environmental testing laboratory

2011
£m

2010
£m

(5.1)
(4.2)
(2.0)
–
–

–
–
–
(12.2)
(3.6)

(11.3)

(15.8)

a) As a result of the civil unrest in Libya, the Group has made an exceptional charge of £5.1m in the period. This represents full provision
against the net asset exposure in relation to this country and associated restructuring costs of ceasing to trade.
b) As a result of the under-performing business servicing the retail and property markets in Australia the decision was made to reposition
the business towards the mining and natural resources markets. The trading performance has necessitated an impairment charge of
goodwill of £3.7m and the group has incurred associated restructuring costs of £0.5m to position the business for growth and improved
performance in the future.
c) During the year the Group re-financed its committed syndicated bank facilities with its existing banking partners. As a result the group’s
interest rate swap no longer qualifies for hedge accounting and the fair value of the swap previously deferred in equity has been realised
through the income statement. Associated unamortised costs connected to the previous facility have also been written off to the income
statement.
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Net finance costs
2011
£m

2010
£m

0.2
3.0
0.1
3.3
2.1

0.2
2.7
0.1
3.0
1.9

5.4
(0.1)

4.9
(0.1)

Net finance costs pre-exceptional item

5.3

4.8

Exceptional finance costs (see note 3)

2.0

–

Net finance costs

7.3

4.8

2010
£m

2010
£m

Interest on loans and other borrowings wholly repayable within five years:
Bank overdrafts
Bank loans
Finance leases
Bank and finance lease costs
Net finance cost on pension obligations
Finance costs
Finance income

5
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Profit before taxation
2011
£m

Is stated after charging:
Auditors’ remuneration for the statutory audit:
Principal statutory auditor:
– Group audit fee
– Audit of subsidiary accounts
Other auditors
Other fees paid to principal statutory auditor:
– Taxation and other services
– Other services pursuant to legislation
Operating lease rentals
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of plant, property and equipment
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
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2011
£m

0.2
0.5

0.3
0.5
0.7
0.1

0.8
–

0.4
0.1

0.2
0.1

34.1
5.1
9.7
0.4

35.4
3.9
10.5
1.9
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6

Directors and employees
2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

Staff costs, including directors, were as follows:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Post employment benefits
Share based payments
Contract and agency staff

361.4
47.6
25.8
(0.4)
15.7

350.8
43.4
25.2
0.2
19.0

2.9
0.4
0.1
(0.3)
0.1

3.3
0.3
0.3
0.3
0.1

Total staff costs

450.1

438.6

3.2

4.3

2011
Number

Group
2010
Number

2011
Number

Company
2010
Number

The monthly average number of employees, contract and agency staff,
including directors, was as follows:
Engineering and technical
Administration

7,754
1,128

7,955
1,105

2
23

4
18

Total Staff

8,882

9,060

25

22

2011
£m

2010
£m

Aggregate emoluments of the directors of the Company was as follows:
Salaries and benefits
Post employment benefits
Non-executive directors’ fees

1.7
0.2
0.3

1.7
0.2
0.3

Aggregate emoluments

2.2

2.2

Full details of the directors’ emoluments, share options, long term incentive plans including gains on exercise and pension entitlements are
included in the remuneration report on pages 45 to 50.
The directors have identified 52 (2010: 50 (Company 2011: 12; (2010: 10)) key management personnel whose compensation was as
follows:

Short term employment benefits
Post employment benefits
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2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

10.1
0.8

11.2
0.9

1.6
0.1

1.7
0.2

10.9

12.1

1.7

1.9
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Taxation
2011
£m

a) Analysis of charge in the year
UK corporation tax on profits for the year at 26.5% (2010: 28%)
Adjustments in respect of previous years
Tax attributable to exceptional items

2010
£m

0.9
–
0.2

2.1
(0.4)
(1.7)

1.1
6.8
0.7
(1.0)

–
8.4
(0.4)
–

Total current taxation
Movement in deferred taxation
Movement in deferred taxation attributable to exceptional items

7.6
0.1
0.1

8.0
0.9
0.3

Taxation – note 7 (b)

7.8

9.2

Foreign taxation on profits for the year
Adjustments in respect of previous years
Tax attributable to exceptional items
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The directors believe that the weighted average effective rate will reduce in the next year as a result of the mix of profits earned in
different locations and a reduction in the UK rate of corporation tax to 25%. Further details regarding deferred taxation can be found in
note 14.
b) Factors affecting taxation for the year
The tax assessed for the year is higher in the current and prior year than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK which is 26.5%
(2010: 28%). The differences are explained below:
2011
£m

2010
£m

Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 26.5% (2010: 28%)
Effect of different taxation rates on overseas earnings
– Ongoing operating activities
– Exceptional items
Net impact of permanent differences
Adjustment to tax in prior periods
Other timing differences
Unrelieved overseas losses
Adjustment for taxation relating to joint ventures and associated undertakings

18.9
5.0

19.2
5.4

0.9
–
2.5
0.7
(1.3)
0.4
(0.6)

1.8
–
3.3
(1.5)
(0.6)
0.1
(0.5)

Total current taxation
Current year deferred taxation
Adjustments to deferred taxation in respect of previous years
Movement in deferred taxation attributable to exceptional items

7.6
2.0
(1.9)
0.1

8.0
1.0
(0.1)
0.3

7.8

9.2

Corporation taxation related to the performance share plan adjustment
Corporation taxation related to foreign exchange movements
Deferred taxation asset related to the performance share plan adjustment
Deferred taxation related to the actuarial movement on pension scheme obligations

–
(0.8)
–
(1.2)

(0.1)
1.2
(0.1)
1.2

Taxation credited to equity

(2.0)

2.2

Total taxation
c)

Taxation items credited to equity
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8

Dividends

Dividends charged to equity in the year:
Final dividend paid in May 2011 of 10.0p per share (2010: 10.0p)
Interim dividend paid in October 2011 of 5.0p per share (2010: 5.0p)
Total dividend paid in 2011 of 15.0p per share (2010: 15.0p)
Final dividend proposed for payment (not charged to equity) in May 2012 of 10.0p per share
(2010: paid in May 2011, 10.0p)

2011
£m

2010
£m

6.4
3.2

6.4
3.2

9.6

9.6

6.4

6.4

If approved at the Annual General Meeting, which is to be convened on 3 May 2012, the proposed final dividend of 10.0p per share will
be paid on 11 May 2012 to those shareholders on the register at the close of business on 13 April 2012. The shares will be ex-dividend
from 11 April 2012.
9

Earnings per share
2011
£m

2010
£m

Profit for the financial year attributable to shareholders
Exceptional items (net of taxation)

10.9
10.6

9.5
14.4

Adjusted profit for the financial year attributable to shareholders

21.5

23.9

No.’000

No.’000

63,837

63,749

Basic earnings per share

17.1p

14.9p

Adjusted basic earnings per share

33.7p

37.5p

Weighted average number of shares in issue

Earnings per share are calculated by reference to the profit for the financial year attributable to shareholders divided by the weighted
average number of shares in issue.
Adjusted earnings per share are calculated by reference to the profit for the financial year excluding exceptional items attributable to
shareholders.
No.’000

No.’000

63,837
255

63,749
475

64,092

64,224

Diluted earnings per share

17.0p

14.8p

Adjusted diluted earnings per share

33.5p

37.2p

Weighted average number of shares in issue
Dilution effects of share options
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11 Intangible assets (continued)
Computer
software
£m

Total
£m

Cost at 1 January 2010
Additions

0.1
3.9

0.1
3.9

Cost at 1 January 2011
Additions

4.0
0.1

4.0
0.1

Cost at 31 December 2011

4.1

4.1

Amortisation at 1 January 2010
Charge for the year

–
1.2

–
1.2

Amortisation at 1 January 2011
Charge for the year

1.2
1.4

1.2
1.4

Amortisation at 31 December 2011

2.6

2.6

Net book value
At 31 December 2011

1.5

1.5

At 31 December 2010

2.8

2.8

At 1 January 2010

0.1

0.1

Company
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Where appropriate, intangible assets identified in business combinations have been recognised in accordance with the provisions of
IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’. Intangible assets have only been recognised where they are separable
and have identifiable future economic benefits that are controlled by the entity and where it is probable that these benefits will flow to
the entity and their fair value can be measured reliably.
12 Property, plant and equipment
Group
Cost at 1 January 2010
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange movements

Freehold
£m

Short
leasehold
£m

Motor
vehicles
£m

Plant &
equipment
£m

Fixtures
& fittings
£m

Total
£m

0.7
–
–
0.1

12.9
0.3
(1.6)
0.4

1.4
0.5
(0.4)
0.1

45.7
4.2
(2.7)
2.6

20.8
1.6
(0.7)
1.2

81.5
6.6
(5.4)
4.4

Cost at 1 January 2011
Additions
Disposals
Disposal of subsidiary
Foreign exchange movements

0.8
–
–
–
–

12.0
0.7
(0.6)
–
–

1.6
0.2
(0.1)
(0.1)
(0.2)

49.8
6.9
(4.1)
(0.1)
(1.0)

22.9
1.9
(0.5)
–
(0.3)

87.1
9.7
(5.3)
(0.2)
(1.5)

Cost at 31 December 2011

0.8

12.1

1.4

51.5

24.0

89.8

Depreciation at 1 January 2010
Charge for the year
Disposals
Foreign exchange movements

0.1
–
–
–

4.0
1.6
(0.7)
0.2

0.9
0.2
(0.3)
0.1

33.2
6.1
(1.9)
2.1

12.5
2.6
(0.6)
0.8

50.7
10.5
(3.5)
3.2

Depreciation at 1 January 2011
Charge for the year
Disposals
Disposal of subsidiary
Foreign exchange movements

0.1
–
–
–
–

5.1
1.5
(0.3)
–
–

0.9
0.2
(0.1)
(0.1)
–

39.5
5.4
(3.8)
(0.1)
(0.8)

15.3
2.6
(0.1)
–
(0.1)

60.9
9.7
(4.3)
(0.2)
(0.9)

Depreciation at 31 December 2011

0.1

6.3

0.9

40.2

17.7

65.2

Net book value
At 31 December 2011

0.7

5.8

0.5

11.3

6.3

24.6

At 31 December 2010

0.7

6.9

0.7

10.3

7.6

26.2

At 1 January 2010

0.6

8.9

0.5

12.5

8.3

30.8

The net book value of Group fixed assets includes an amount of £0.6m (2010: £0.6m) in respect of plant & equipment held under finance
leases.
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12 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is charged to administrative expenses.
Plant &
equipment
£m

Fixtures
& fittings
£m

Total
£m

Cost at 1 January 2010, 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011

0.1

0.2

0.3

Depreciation at 1 January 2010, 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011

0.1

0.2

0.3

–

–

–

Financial
assets
available for
sale
Note 13 (a)
£m

Investment in
associated
undertakings
Note 13 (b)
£m

Company

Net book value
At 1 January 2010, 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2011
13 Financial assets
The Group’s interest in financial assets available for sale and associated undertakings was as follows:

Value at 1 January 2010
Disposals
Share of profit for the year
Dividends received
Foreign exchange movements

0.9
(0.2)
–
–
–

12.4
–
1.8
(0.9)
1.0

Value at 1 January 2011
Disposals
Share of profit for the year
Dividends received
Foreign exchange movements

0.7
(0.1)
–
–
–

14.3
–
2.5
(0.8)
(0.4)

Value at 31 December 2011

0.6

15.6

The Company’s interest in subsidiary undertakings was as follows:
Subsidiary
undertakings
Note 13 (c)
£m
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Cost at 1 January 2010
Additions

126.5
23.4

Cost at 1 January 2011

149.9

Disposals

(29.2)

Cost at 31 December 2011

120.7

Provision at 1 January 2010
Charge in the year

–
10.0

Provision at 1 January 2011
Disposals

10.0
(10.0)
–

Provision at 31 December 2011
Net investment
At 31 December 2011

120.7

At 31 December 2010

139.9

At 1 January 2010

126.5
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13 Financial assets (continued)
a) Financial assets available for sale
Financial assets available for sale primarily relate to the capital value of life assurance policies written on the lives of certain vendors of Flack
+ Kurtz that were transferred to the Group at the time of the acquisition of that business, and other minor property interests.
b)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Principal joint ventures and associated undertakings

Associated undertakings:
Multiconsult AS
LINK Arkitketur AS
Joint ventures:
Ryan Hanley WSP Limited
Gifford WSP
Carillion WSP
WSP May Gurney
Barhale WSP
TWSP

Group’s
interest

Class of
shares held

Country of
Registration

Principal activities

24.7%
27.9%

ordinary
ordinary

Norway
Norway

Multi-disciplined consultancy
Multi-disciplined consultancy

50.0%
50.0%
40.0%
50.0%
35.0%
50.0%

ordinary
unincorporated
unincorporated
unincorporated
unincorporated
ordinary

Ireland
England
England
England
England
Australia

Civil engineering
Civil engineering
Civil engineering
Civil engineering
Civil engineering
Multi-disciplined consultancy

Carillion WSP operates from offices in Kettering Venture Park, Kettering, Northamptonshire, NN15 6FD. WSP May Gurney operates from
offices in Harborough Road, Brixworth, Northamptonshire, NN6 9BX.
The Group holds a 40% financial interest in Carillion WSP, an entity in which no party has overall control, and which is therefore
considered to be a joint venture.
c) Principal subsidiary undertakings
Unless otherwise indicated the following principal subsidiary undertakings are registered in England and Wales and operate throughout the
UK.
The Group’s interest in principal subsidiaries entirely comprises ordinary equity shares.
Principal subsidiary undertakings

WSP UK Limited
WSP CEL International Limited
WSP Environmental Limited
WSP Remediation Limited
WSP Management Services Limited
WSP Sweden AB
WSP Finland Limited
WSP Environmental Oy
WSP Cantor Seinuk Inc.
WSP Flack + Kurtz Inc.
WSP Group Africa (Pty) Limited*
WSP Middle East Limited
WSP Asia Limited
WSP Hong Kong Limited
WSP Asia Philippines Inc
Shanghai WSP Consulting Limited - ୕ᾇ⛁䖯䆶᳝䰤݀ৌ
WSP Environment & Energy LLC
WSP Environmental Australia Pty Limited
WSP Consultants India Limited
WSP Germany
WSP Buildings Pty
SEi Engineering Inc.
Chas H Sells Inc.

Group’s
interest

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
74%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Principal activities

Multi-disciplined
Multi-disciplined industrial design
Environmental, energy and geotechnical services
Remediation of contaminated land
Management services
Multi-disciplined consultancy, registered in Sweden
Multi-disciplined consultancy, registered in Finland
Environmental and geotechnical services, registered in Finland
Structural building design, registered in U.S.A.
Building services design, registered in U.S.A.
Multi-disciplined building design, registered in South Africa
Multi-disciplined consultancy, registered in Jersey
Multi-disciplined building design, registered in Hong Kong
Building services design, registered in Hong Kong
Building services design, registered in Philippines
Building services design, registered in China
Environmental services, registered in U.S.A.
Environmental services, registered in Australia
Multi-disciplined building design, registered in India
Multi-disciplined building design, registered in Germany
Building services design, registered in Australia
Building services design, registered in U.S.A.
Civil engineering, registered in U.S.A.

* The investment in these companies is held directly by the Company, otherwise all investments are held through subsidiary undertakings.
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14 Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation asset

Group

Work
in progress
£m

Accelerated
capital
allowances
£m

Temporary
differences
£m

Total
2011
£m

Total
2010
£m

At 1 January
Credited during the year
Movement in reserves
Foreign exchange movements
Impact of changes in tax rate

–
–
–
(0.4)
–

0.8
1.7
–
–
(0.2)

15.3
0.4
0.9
0.1
(0.6)

16.1
2.1
0.9
(0.3)
(0.8)

14.2
–
1.3
0.6
–

At 31 December

(0.4)

2.3

16.1

18.0

16.1

Company
At 1 January
Movement in reserves
Credited/(charged) during the year

0.2
–
0.3

0.2
–
0.3

0.4
(0.1)
(0.1)

At 31 December

0.5

0.5

0.2

Temporary
differences
£m

Total
2011
£m

Total
2010
£m

Deferred taxation liability
Group

Work in
progress
£m

At 1 January
Charged during the year
Movement in reserves
Foreign exchange movements

15.0
0.8
–
(0.2)

(1.1)
0.7
(0.3)
–

13.9
1.5
(0.3)
(0.2)

11.6
1.2
0.2
0.9

At 31 December

15.6

(0.7)

14.9

13.9

Full provision has been made for deferred taxation assets and liabilities. Deferred taxation assets and liabilities have been offset only to the
extent they relate to the same taxation regime. In the UK, a deferred taxation asset of £12.6m (2010: £10.6m) primarily relates to pension
liabilities and the taxation treatment of employee share awards. In Sweden, a deferred taxation liability of £12.9m (2010: £13.1m) arises
in relation to the taxation treatment of work in progress, offset by a deferred taxation asset in relation to pension liabilities. In the United
States, a deferred taxation liability of £2.0m (2010: £0.8m) relates to short term differences on certain provisions.
15 Trade and other receivables
2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

Trade receivables
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables

180.4
(29.1)

183.1
(32.1)

–
–

–
–

Trade receivables – net
Amounts recoverable on contracts
Amounts due from group undertakings (note 26)
Amounts due from joint ventures and associated undertakings
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income

151.3
73.1
–
1.2
4.4
15.5

151.0
74.0
–
0.6
1.7
24.1

–
–
129.2
–
0.5
0.3

–
–
104.5
–
0.6
2.5

245.5

251.4

130.0

107.6

As at 31 December 2011, trade receivables of £68.2m (2010: £76.0m) were considered for potential impairment. The amount provided
against these balances was £29.1m as at 31 December 2011 (2010: £32.1m). Factors that are considered when determining if a receivable
should be impaired relate to the financial standing of the client in question, the general economic conditions in which the client is
operating, the age of the outstanding amount, our past relationship and payment history with the clients and whether there are any open
or current disputes or claims in existence with the client.
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15 Trade and other receivables (continued)
The allocation of the provision according to the date from issue of invoice is as follows:

Less than 30 days
Between 30 and 60 days
Between 60 and 90 days
Between 90 and 120 days
Greater than 120 days

2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

0.1
0.3
–
0.1
28.6

0.3
1.4
0.5
–
29.9

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

29.1

32.1

–

–
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As at 31 December 2011, trade receivables of £19.4m (2010: £23.2m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables according to date
from the time overdue is as follows:
2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

10.3
4.4
0.7
0.3
3.7

5.6
7.3
2.7
1.2
6.4

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

19.4

23.2

–

–

2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

37.2
38.0
36.7
7.3
7.5
8.3
7.6
8.7

34.2
35.8
33.8
11.5
4.7
9.7
6.1
15.2

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

151.3

151.0

–

–

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

Less than 30 days
Between 30 and 60 days
Between 60 and 90 days
Between 90 and 120 days
Greater than 120 days

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Sterling
Swedish Krona
US Dollar
Euro
UAE Dirham
South African Rand
Australian Dollar
Other currencies

Movements on the group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
2011
£m

At 1 January
Provision for receivables impairment
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible
Unused amounts reversed
Foreign exchange movements

32.1
7.6
(8.2)
(1.5)
(0.9)

30.9
1.5
(1.1)
(0.6)
1.4

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

At 31 December

29.1

32.1

–

–

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. There is no material difference between the carrying
value and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above.
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16 Financial liabilities

Current

Bank loans
Bank overdrafts
Obligations under finance leases
Non-current
Bank loans
Cash flow hedges
Obligations under finance leases

2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

0.2
1.5
0.5

3.2
0.5
0.5

–
–
–

–
–
–

2.2

4.2

–

–

101.5
1.7
0.2

96.7
2.4
0.6

96.9
1.7
–

96.7
2.4
–

103.4

99.7

98.6

99.1

The total committed syndicated facility amounts to £152.5m and expires in December 2015. In addition, the Group has negotiated some
additional minor facilities with local relationship banks in the countries in which it operates. At 31 December 2011 committed banking
facilities amounted to £152.5m (2010: £150m), of which £51m (2010: £43m) was undrawn before the offset of cash balances in overseas
territories.
There is no material difference between the total of the future minimum finance lease payments at the balance sheet date and their
present value.
17 Trade, other payables and provisions
2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

43.5
–
0.1
30.7
25.8
84.7
0.4

41.4
–
0.7
33.6
30.1
98.6
0.8

0.6
9.6
–
–
–
6.6
–

0.1
15.0
–
–
0.1
7.5
–

185.2

205.2

16.8

22.7

Deferred
consideration
£m

Property
provisions
£m

2011
Total
£m

2010
Total
£m

Current (note 17)
Non-current

0.4
–

2.2
0.8

2.6
0.8

1.7
2.2

Total

0.4

3.0

3.4

3.9

Movement in total provisions
At 1 January
Created during the year
Provisions utilised during the year
Foreign exchange movements

0.8
0.1
(0.4)
(0.1)

3.1
0.6
(0.7)
–

3.9
0.7
(1.1)
(0.1)

10.8
2.4
(9.5)
0.2

At 31 December

0.4

3.0

3.4

3.9

Trade payables
Amounts due to group undertakings (note 26)
Amounts due to joint ventures and associated undertakings
Payments received on account
Other taxes and social security costs
Other payables, accruals and provisions
Deferred consideration (note 18)

18 Provisions

Group
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18 Provisions (continued)
Property
provisions
£m

2011
Total
£m

2010
Total
£m

Current (note 17)
Non-current

0.5
–

0.5
–

0.2
0.3

Total

0.5

0.5

0.5

Movement in total provisions
At 1 January
Provisions utilised during the year

0.5
–

0.5
–

0.7
(0.2)

At 31 December

0.5

0.5

0.5

Company
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Provision for deferred consideration has been calculated based upon the directors’ best estimate of the amount of deferred consideration
that will fall due. Amounts are payable in less than five years. The ultimate amount payable may be different depending on the future
performance of acquired businesses and other requirements. Amounts the Group deem to be payable within one year are included within
trade and other payables. The property provisions relate to the rent, service charge and other associated costs relating to properties that
are vacant or nearing the end of their lease term. The amount and timing of payments will depend on future commercial agreements.
19 Called up share capital
The share capital of the Company comprises 5p ordinary shares.
Issue
Price

No’000

Allotted,
called up and
fully paid
£m

At 1 January 2010
Issued during the year

5p to 321p

63,585
245

3.2
–

At 1 January 2011
Issued during the year

72p to 295p

63,830
9

3.2
–

63,839

3.2

At 31 December 2011

Details relating to the issue of shares are detailed in the statutory and other information section of the Directors’ Report on page 51.
20 Reconciliation of profit to operating cash flows
2011
£m

Profit for the financial year
Taxation
Depreciation
Performance share plan
Defined benefit pension scheme charge
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Profit on transfer of subsidiary
Amortisation of intangible assets
Goodwill/Investment impairment
Derecognition of cashflow hedge
Dividend income
Finance income
Finance costs
Share of results of associates after taxation
Changes in working capital:
– (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
– (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
– Decrease in other provisions
– Cash contributions to defined benefit pension schemes
– Foreign exchange and non-cash movements
Cash generated from operations
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Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

11.1
7.8
9.7
(0.4)
0.4
0.4
–
5.1
3.7
1.7
–
(0.1)
5.7
(2.5)

10.0
9.2
10.5
0.2
0.6
1.9
–
3.9
10.0
–
–
(0.1)
4.9
(1.8)

14.4
(0.1)
–
(0.3)
–
–
(10.0)
1.3
–
1.7
(9.1)
(2.8)
2.9
–

26.5
(1.3)
–
–
–
–
–
1.3
10.0
–
(31.9)
(2.5)
2.8
–

(0.5)
(11.6)
(1.1)
(3.6)
1.6

(0.2)
4.7
(2.2)
(3.6)
(0.1)

1.1
0.5
–
–
2.9

(1.8)
3.7
–
–
–

27.4

47.9

2.5

6.8
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21 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

Increase/(decrease) in cash balances in the year
Decrease/(increase) in bank overdrafts in the year

(5.8)
(1.2)

1.0
0.6

1.0
–

1.6
2.1

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year
Finance lease repayments
New bank loans/drawdown on existing facilities

(7.0)
0.4
0.1

1.6
0.2
(0.2)

1.0
–
1.0

3.7
–
0.7

Movement in net debt resulting from cash flows
Net debt of businesses acquired
Foreign exchange movements

(6.5)
(1.9)
(0.9)

1.6
–
(1.0)

2.0
–
(1.2)

4.4
–
–

(9.3)

0.6

0.8

4.4

Net debt at 1 January

(59.0)

(59.6)

(95.1)

(99.5)

Net debt at 31 December

(68.3)

(59.0)

(94.3)

(95.1)

Movement in net debt in the year

22 Analysis of net debt

Group

1 January
2011
£m

Net cash
flows
£m

Acquisitions
£m

Foreign
exchange
£m

31 December
2011
£m

Cash balances
Bank overdrafts

42.5
(0.5)

(5.8)
(1.2)

–
–

(1.1)
0.2

35.6
(1.5)

Cash and cash equivalents
Current
Bank loans
Finance leases
Non-current
Bank loans
Finance leases

42.0

(7.0)

–

(0.9)

34.1

(3.2)
(0.5)

2.9
–

–
–

0.1
–

(0.2)
(0.5)

(96.7)
(0.6)

(2.8)
0.4

(1.9)
–

(0.1)
–

(101.5)
(0.2)

(59.0)

(6.5)

(1.9)

(0.9)

(68.3)

1 January
2011
£m

Net cash
flows
£m

Foreign
exchange
£m

31 December
2011
£m

Cash balances

1.6

1.0

–

2.6

Cash and cash equivalents

1.6

1.0

–

2.6

(96.7)

1.0

(1.2)

(96.9)

(95.1)

2.0

(1.2)

(94.3)

2011
£m

2010
£m

0.4
25.4

0.6
24.6

25.8

25.2

Company

Non-current
Bank loans

23 Pensions
Pension costs included in employee benefit costs consist of the following:

Defined benefit schemes
Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates both defined contribution and defined benefit pension schemes. Defined contributions are charged to the income
statement as they are incurred.
In the UK, there are six separate defined benefit schemes, all of which are closed to new members. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds. In 2004, pensionable salaries were frozen following consultation
with staff.
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23 Pensions (continued)
In Sweden, a proportion of the multi-employer Government-run defined benefit plan is carried on the Group’s consolidated balance
sheet. Future service accrual under this arrangement ceased in 2008 where the employees became fully included in the Government
plan’s arrangements. The multi-employer Government plan retains substantial other assets to meet the balance of pension liabilities. As
the directors are unable to identify the underlying assets and liabilities of this element of the scheme, it is treated as a defined contribution
scheme for the purposes of IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’.
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For funded and unfunded defined benefit plans, any deficit of the fair value of plan assets over the present value of the defined benefit
obligation is recognised as a liability in the balance sheet. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full as they arise in the statement
of comprehensive income. These reflect changes in actuarial assumptions, and differences between actuarial assumptions and what has
actually occurred.
The actuarial cost charged to the income statement in respect of defined benefit plans consists of current service costs, interest costs,
expected return on plan assets, past service costs and costs of curtailments.
The liabilities of the Group arising from defined benefit obligations and their related current service cost are determined using the
projected unit credit method. Valuations are performed annually. Actuarial advice is provided both by external consultants and actuaries.
The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the benefit obligations vary according to the economic conditions of the country in which the
plan is located and are set out below. To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Group considered
the current level of expected returns on risk free investments (primarily UK government bonds) and the historical level of risk premium
associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested. The expected return for each asset class was then applied to the
schemes’ asset allocations to develop the overall expected long-term rate of return on assets for the combined portfolios.
Assumptions
UK
Rate of increase in pensionable salaries
Rate of increase in pensions in payment
Discount rate
Inflation assumption
Expected return on plan assets
Life Expectancy at age 65 (for member currently aged 65)
– Men
– Women
Life Expectancy at age 65 (for member currently aged 50)
– Men
– Women
Sweden
Rate of increase in pensionable salaries
Rate of increase in pensions in payment
Discount rate
Inflation assumption
Expected return on plan assets
Life Expectancy at age 70
– Men
– Women
Life Expectancy at age 50
– Men
– Women

2011

2010

nil
3.2%
4.9%
3.2%
5.4%

nil
3.6%
5.4%
3.7%
5.9%

87.2
89.6

87.2
89.6

88.7
91.0

88.7
91.0

nil
nil
3.8%
2.0%
n/a

nil
nil
3.8%
2.0%
n/a

88.7
90.5

86.7
89.0

86.9
88.7

84.3
87.1

2011

2010

61%
31%
–
8%

56%
31%
1%
12%

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:
Equities
Bonds
Property
Other
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23 Pensions (continued)
2011
£m

2010
£m

Fair value of plan assets
Present value of funded obligations (UK)

61.5
(99.3)

61.5
(94.5)

Present value of unfunded obligations (Sweden)

(37.8)
(23.8)

(33.0)
(21.4)

Pension liability

(61.6)

(54.4)

2011
Total
£m

2010
Total
£m

Current service costs

0.4

0.6

Employee benefit costs

0.4

0.6

5.8
(3.7)

5.4
(3.5)

2.1

1.9

2011
£m

2010
£m

Present value of obligation as at 1 January
Service cost
Contributions from scheme members
Benefits paid
Finance costs
Actuarial losses
Foreign exchange differences

115.9
0.4
0.3
(2.9)
5.8
4.1
(0.5)

102.4
0.6
0.4
(2.2)
5.4
7.5
1.8

Present value of obligation as at 31 December

123.1

115.9

2011
£m

2010
£m

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January
Expected return on plan assets
Contributions from scheme members
Contributions from employer
Benefits paid
Actuarial (losses)/gains

61.5
3.7
0.3
3.6
(2.6)
(5.0)

53.7
3.5
0.4
3.6
(2.0)
2.3

Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December

61.5

61.5

2011
£m

2010
£m

As at 1 January
Employee benefit costs
Net finance cost
Benefits paid
Contributions from employer
Net actuarial loss recognised in the year
Foreign exchange movements

54.4
0.4
2.1
(0.3)
(3.6)
9.1
(0.5)

48.7
0.6
1.9
(0.2)
(3.6)
5.2
1.8

As at 31 December

61.6

54.4

Amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Finance costs
Expected return on plan assets
Net finance cost on pension liabilities
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Analysis of the movement in net deficit
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23 Pensions (continued)
Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in equity
2011
£m

2010
£m

As at 1 January
Net actuarial losses recognised in the year

(37.2)
(9.1)

(32.0)
(5.2)

As at 31 December

(46.3)

(37.2)
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History of experience gains and losses
2011

Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets:
Amount (£m)
Percentage of scheme assets
Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities:
Amount (£m)
Percentage of scheme liabilities
Changes in the assumptions underlying the value of scheme
liabilities:
Amount (£m)
Percentage of scheme liabilities
Present value of scheme liabilities (£m)
Fair value of scheme assets (£m)
Deficit (£m)

2010

2009

2008

2007

(4.9)
(8%)

2.3
4%

4.6
10%

(13.7)
(25%)

(0.3)
(1%)

(0.2)
–

(0.5)
–

(0.1)
–
.

(0.7)
(1%)

(2.7)
(3%)

4.4
4%

7.6
7%

17.8
22%

5.0
6%

6.1
7%

123.1
(61.5)

115.9
(61.5)

102.4
(53.7)

81.5
(45.1)

85.4
(53.8)

61.6

54.4

48.7

36.4

31.6

Sensitivity analysis of the overall pension deficit to changes in principal assumptions is shown below:
Assumption

Change

Impact on deficit

Discount rate
Inflation rate
Mortality

+/- 0.1%
+/- 0.1%
+/- 1 year

Decrease/ increase £1.8m
Increase/ decrease £0.9m
Increase/ decrease £2.4m

The combined employee and employer contributions expected to be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2012 amount to
£4.6m.
24 Financial instruments
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of foreign currency exchange rates, liquidity and interest
rates. An explanation of the Board’s objectives, policies and strategies for holding and issuing financial instruments to manage these risks is
set out in the Financial Review on page 31.
a) Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily with respect to the Euro and the US Dollar. Most trading activity is denominated
in the currencies relevant to the local subsidiaries, thus matching the currency with its cost base.
The Group and the Company have £35.6m and £2.6m respectively of cash and cash equivalents at the year end held in bank accounts
(2010: £42.5m the Group; £1.6m the Company) which is immediately available for use. Cash surplus to short term requirements is usually
invested overnight on the money market to earn interest at rates close to the prevailing local base rates.
At 31 December 2011, if sterling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US Dollar with all other variables held constant, posttaxation profit for the year would have been £0.6m (2010: £0.7m) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of US Dollar denominated trade receivables and foreign exchange losses/gains on US Dollar denominated borrowings.
At 31 December 2011, if sterling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Euro with all other variables held constant, post-tax
profit for the year would have been £0.2m (2010: £0.6m) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of
Euro denominated trade receivables and foreign exchange losses/gains on Euro denominated borrowings.
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24 Financial instruments (continued)
b) Liquidity and interest rate risk
The maturity of financial liabilities included in notes 16 and 18 above is as follows:

In one year or less, or on demand
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years

In one year or less, or on demand
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years

Sterling
£m

Swedish
Krona
£m

US Dollars
£m

Other
£m

Total
2011
£m

0.2
1.7
71.0

0.1
–
–

–
–
27.3

2.3
0.2
3.2

2.6
1.9
101.5

72.9

0.1

27.3

5.7

106.0

Sterling
£m

Swedish
Krona
£m

US Dollars
£m

Other
£m

Total
2010
£m

0.1
0.1
89.4

–
–
–

3.2
–
9.7

1.7
0.5
–

5.0
0.6
99.1

89.6

–

12.9

2.2

104.7

The Group’s interest bearing financial liabilities are charged at floating rates. There are no fixed rate or non-interest bearing liabilities
(2010: £nil). The floating rate liabilities apply to short and medium-term bank overdrafts and loans with interest rates falling within the
range 2.5% to 3.75% above the relevant country national bank base rates or inter-bank offer rate. The Group’s banking facilities are
secured by fixed and floating charges over a variety of the Group’s assets including cross-guarantees from subsidiaries. Finance lease
obligations are secured on the assets to which they relate. A proportion of the floating rate sterling debt has been converted to fixed rates
via an interest rate swap as detailed in d) below
During 2011, if interest rates on currency-denominated borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, post-taxation profit for the year would have been £0.1m (2010: £0.1m) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expense on floating rate borrowings. During 2011, if interest rates on UK sterling-denominated borrowings had been 50 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-taxation profit for the year would have been £0.2m (2010: £0.3m) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.
Financial assets are non interest bearing with the exception of cash and cash equivalents as detailed in a) above.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities which will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

At 31 December 2011
Financial liabilities (excluding interest rate swap)
Interest rate swap
Trade payables

At 31 December 2010
Financial liabilities (excluding interest rate swap)
Interest rate swap
Trade payables

Less than
1 year
£m

Between 1
and 2 years
£m

Between 2
and 5 years
£m

2.6
–
43.5

0.2
1.7
–

101.5
–
–

46.1

1.9

101.5

Less than
1 year
£m

Between 1
and 2 years
£m

Between 2
and 5 years
£m

5.0
–
41.4

0.6
–
–

96.7
2.4
–

46.4

0.6

99.1

There are no financial liabilities maturing in more than five years.
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24 Financial instruments (continued)
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the costs of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Details of the financial covenants with which the Group must comply are
stated in the Operating and Financial Review and this shows the Group is in compliance with those requirements.
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The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio which is calculated as net debt divided by total capital and also net debt
divided by earnings before exceptional items, interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (‘adjusted EBITDA’). Net debt is defined as
total current and non-current borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as shareholders’ equity as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet plus net debt. At 31 December 2011 shareholders’ equity was £174.8m (2010: £180.9m) and net debt was
£68.3m (2010: £59.0m) giving total capital of £243.1m (2010: £239.9m). The Group’s current objective is to keep gearing below 50% and
to ensure debt to EBITDA remains below 3 times. The gearing ratio at the end of the year equals 28% compared to the previous year of
25%. The ratio of debt to EBITDA is 1.34 times at the end of the year compared to 1.06 at the end of the previous year.
c) Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with the exception of the Middle East, specifically Dubai and Libya. A detailed
review has been carried out on all amounts due from clients in relation to our operations in the region and an appropriate provision was
made in 2009 in respect of Dubai debt and in 2011 full provision against Libya debt. Further work carried out in this region is monitored
closely and judged on a case by case basis. The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate credit checks on potential
customers before work commences.
d) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
The Group continually reviews its exposure to interest rate risk and during the prior year fixed the interest on a proportion of the
floating rate financial liabilities drawn on the Group’s banking facility. This was effected via an interest rate swap where the Group agrees
to exchange, at quarterly intervals, the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed
upon notional principal amount. As a result of the refinancing of the Group’s banking facilities, the interest rate swaps are no longer highly
effective and hedge accounting has been discontinued, resulting in changes in fair value being taken to the income statement. The fair value
of cash flow hedges are recognised in accordance with the provisions governing fair value accounting; that is at amortised cost less the fair
value of the hedged interest rate risk. Their fair values are determined using valuation techniques which use data from observable markets,
and assumptions are based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. Under IFRS7, these fall within the fair value hierarchy
of level 2. The cash flows relating to the cash flow hedges commenced on 31 January 2010.
e) Fair values
The following table shows the financial liabilities carried at fair value:
At 31 December 2011

Interest rate swap

At 31 December 2010

Interest rate swap

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

–

1.7

–

1.7

–

1.7

–

1.7

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

–

2.4

–

2.4

–

2.4

–

2.4

There were no outstanding currency swaps or derivatives at 31 December 2011 (2010: £nil). In accordance with IAS 39, the Group
has reviewed all contracts for embedded derivatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet certain
requirements. No such arrangements have been identified.
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25 Guarantees, contingent liabilities and other commitments
At 31 December 2011 the Company and certain subsidiary undertakings cross guarantee the bank loans of the Group.
In common with other professional firms, the Group maintains professional indemnity insurance against claims for professional negligence
which in the ordinary course of business have been, or may in the future be, received. The directors assess each claim and make provision
for legal and settlement costs where, on the basis of advice received, it is considered that a liability may exist.
At 31 December 2011 the Group had capital commitments amounting to £nil (2010: £nil).
No other commitments, either authorised or contracted for, existed in either the Group or its joint ventures at 31 December 2011
(2010: nil).
At 31 December there existed the following commitments under operating leases which expire:

Property, plant and equipment:
Within one year
Between two and five years
After more than five years

2011
£m

Group
2010
£m

2011
£m

Company
2010
£m

31.2
68.8
24.6

28.6
71.6
31.1

–
–
–

–
–
–

124.6

131.3

–

–

26 Related party transactions
Group
During the year the Group entered into arm’s length transactions with its associated undertakings. Turnover with these companies
amounted to £1.1m (2010: £0.6m) and the Group purchased services of £1.7m (2010: £0.2m).
At 31 December 2011 a net balance of £1.1m was due from (2010: £0.1m due to) associated undertakings to the Group.
As disclosed in the Directors’ Report, the Group has entered into arm’s length transactions in the normal course of its business with
entities with which the Directors are associated by virtue of their offices or employments. These Directors have no controlling influence
over these entities or a material interest in the outcome of these contracts.
Details of the aggregate remuneration of key management employees of the Group are set out in note 6.
Company
The Company operates as a holding company for the group and, as such, receives management fees for services supplied to Group
companies. Management fees received from other Group companies amounted to £6.1m (2010: £6.6m). During the year, the Company
received interest on loans to other Group companies amounting to £2.8m (2010: £2.5m) and paid interest on loans from other Group
companies of £nil (2010: £0.1m). The Company received dividends from subsidiary undertakings amounting to £9.2m (2010: £31.9m).
The Company has outstanding balances with other Group companies that are disclosed in notes 15 and 17, and has investments in group
companies as detailed in note 13(c).
Compensation of the Company key management personnel is detailed in note 6 to the accounts.
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27 Share options, the performance share plan and the bonus share plan
At 31 December 2011 outstanding options and awards to subscribe for ordinary shares of 5p each in the Company, granted in
accordance with the rules of the relevant share option schemes, the bonus share plan and the performance share plan were as follows:

Exercise or vesting date

Exercise
price

At 1 Jan
2011

WSP Group plc 1997 Share Option Plan
30.03.2004-30.03.2011
09.04.2005-09.04.2012
08.04.2006-08.04.2013

*429.0p
*334.0p
*75.0p

57,528
76,500
14,000
148,028

–
(5,500)
(3,500)
(9,000)

0.0p
0.0p
0.0p
0.0p
0.0p
0.0p

369,821
905,260
762,869
56,453
–
–
2,094,403
2,242,431

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(9,000)

WSP Performance Share Plan 2006
09.04.2011
10.05.2012
09.04.2013
02.06.2013
23.05.2014
08.08.2014

.

Exercised

Awarded

At 31 Dec
2011

Exercisable
at 31 Dec
2010

Exercisable
at 31 Dec
2011

(57,528)
(10,000)
–
(67,528)

–
–
–
–

–
61,000
10,500
71,500

57,528
76,500
14,000
148,028

–
61,000
10,500
71,500

(369,821)
(24,870)
(20,956)
–
(3,614)
–
(419,261)
(486,789)

–
–
–
–
737,114
10,491
747,605
747,605

–
880,390
741,913
56,453
733,500
10,491
2,422,747
2,494,247

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
148,028

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
71,500

Lapsed
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The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised in the period was 359p. In accordance with the rules
of the various WSP Share Option Schemes the number and price of options have been subject to appropriate adjustment to reflect the
impact of the rights issue in June 2001.
* Options under the 1997 Share Option Plan awarded in 2002 and 2003 were awarded to Group employees in the USA. On the date of
the award the equivalent US$ value of the option was $6.16, $4.75 and $1.16 respectively.
Performance Share Plan and Deferred Bonus Share Plan – The WSP Employee Benefit Trust
The Group operates the WSP Performance Share Plan and the WSP Deferred Bonus Share Plan for the benefit of its executive directors
and senior management.
The cost of the potential future awards of the two schemes is accrued over the three-year performance periods of each plan. The cost
of future awards charged in 2011 in the accounts of WSP Group plc was £0.4m credit (2010: £0.2m charge) which includes a £nil (2010:
£0.1m) charge of employers NIC, of which £nil (2010: £0.1m) is included in payables at the balance sheet date.
In respect of share awards granted during the period of 747,605, the weighted average fair value of the shares amounted to 332p
calculated using the Black Scholes valuation model. The inputs to this model included, inter alia, an average yield of 0.5% from British
government securities and an average dividend yield of 0%. The volatility has been calculated as the annualised standard deviation of the
continuously compounded historic rates of return on WSP shares.
As at 31 December 2011 the Trust owned no ordinary shares of the Company (2010: none). The performance conditions applicable to
awards granted under the Performance Share Plan are set out in the Remuneration Committee Report.
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Five Year Review (Unaudited)
Consolidated income statements

Revenue

2010
£m

2009
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

717.3

706.9

723.3

755.2

556.5

39.8
(15.8)
–

43.1
(12.0)
–

58.1
1.5
1.6

43.4
–
–

Adjusted Profit before interest and taxation
Exceptional items
Profit on sale of subsidiary undertaking
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on business
combinations

35.5
(9.3)
–

(1.1)

(2.1)

(1.7)

Profit before interest and taxation
Net finance costs
Exceptional finance costs

26.2
(5.3)
(2.0)

24.0
(4.8)
–

30.0
(4.6)
–

59.1
(7.0)
–

41.7
(3.8)
–

Profit before taxation
Taxation

18.9
(7.8)

19.2
(9.2)

25.4
(11.9)

52.1
(15.4)

37.9
(11.1)

Profit for the financial year
Non-controlling interests

11.1
(0.2)

10.0
(0.5)

13.5
(0.5)

36.7
0.1

26.8
(0.1)

–

–

Profit attributable to equity shareholders
Dividend per share

10.9
15.0p

9.5
15.0p

13.0
15.0p

36.8
15.0p

26.7
12.0p

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share before operating exceptional
items, profit on sale of subsidiary undertaking and
amortisation of intangible assets arising on business
combinations

17.1p

14.9p

20.6p

58.3p

43.0p

33.7p

37.5p

40.9p

57.5p

45.6p

2011
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

264.1
286.1

268.4
296.8

264.5
273.2

267.9
321.4

219.1
249.6

Current liabilities

550.2
(192.3)

565.2
(210.8)

537.7
(199.6)

589.3
(258.7)

468.7
(215.1)

Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

357.9
(180.7)

354.4
(170.2)

338.1
(160.3)

330.6
(143.0)

253.6
(128.2)

177.2

184.2

177.8

187.6

125.4

3.2
82.2
44.5
44.9

3.2
82.2
43.6
51.9

3.2
81.8
33.5
56.1

3.2
81.5
38.3
62.2

3.1
81.2
1.5
38.7

Equity shareholders’ funds
Non-controlling interests

174.8
2.4

180.9
3.3

174.6
3.2

185.2
2.4

124.5
0.9

Total equity

177.2

184.2

177.8

187.6

125.4

Consolidated balance sheets
Non-current assets
Current assets

Net assets
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Other reserves
Retained earnings
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Shareholder information

Company Secretary and Registered Address
Graham Bisset
WSP Group plc
WSP House
70 Chancery Lane
London
WC2A 1AF
Financial calendar
•

Annual General Meeting:
3 May 2012

•

Results announcements:
Full year
27 February 2012
Half year
23 July 2012

•

Dividend payment dates:
Final
May
Interim
October

Registrar
All matters relating to the administration of shareholdings should
be directed to Capita Registrars, The Registry, 34 Beckenham
Road, Beckenham, Kent, BR3 4TU, telephone within the UK:
0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10 pence per minute plus network
extras, lines are open 9.00am–5.30pm Monday to Friday), or if
calling from overseas: +44 20 8639 3399.
Email: ssd@capitaregistrars.com.
Shareholders can also register online to view their WSP Group
plc shareholding details using the Share Portal, a service offered
by Capita Registrars. This service can be accessed at www.
capitaregistrars.com/shareholders. Shareholders registering for the
Share Portal will require their investor code which is shown on
share certificates and on the form of proxy. The service enables
shareholders to do all of the following 24 hours a day:
•

View holdings and indicative share price and valuation

•

View movements on holdings and dividend payment history

•

Register a bank mandate to have dividends paid directly into
a bank account

•

Update their address

•

Download and print shareholder forms

•

Elect to receive shareholder communications electronically

Beneficial owners of shares with ‘information rights’:
Please note that beneficial owners of shares who have been
nominated by the registered holder of those shares to receive
information rights under section 146 of the Companies Act
2006 are required to direct all communications to the registered
holder of their shares rather than to the Company’s registrar,
Capita Registrars, or to the Company directly.
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Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRIP)
The Company has a DRIP provided by Capita IRG Trustees
Limited. The DRIP allows eligible shareholders to use the whole
of their cash dividend to purchase additional WSP shares.
Additional information, including details of how to sign up, can be
obtained from Capita IRG Trustees Limited, telephone within the
UK: 0871 664 0381 (calls cost 10 pence per minute plus network
extras, lines are open 9.00am–5.30pm Monday to Friday), or if
calling from overseas: +44 20 8639 3402.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

WSP Group plc
Registered in England.
Company number: 02136404

04

International dividend payment service
Capita Registrars has partnered with Travelex to provide you
with a service that will convert your sterling dividends into your
local currency at a competitive rate. You can choose to receive
payment directly into your bank account, or alternatively, they can
send you a currency draft. Further information may be obtained
from Capita Registrars on 0871 664 0385 (UK calls cost 10p
per minute plus network extras, lines are open 9.00am–5.30pm,
Monday to Friday), or if calling from overseas: +44 20 8639 3405.
E-mail: ips@capitaregistrars.com
ShareGift
If you have only a small number of shares which would cost more
for you to sell than they are worth, you may wish to consider
donating them to the charity ShareGift (Registered Charity
1052686) which specialises in accepting such shares as donations.
The relevant stock transfer form may be obtained from the
Company Registrars. There are no implications for Capital Gains
Tax purposes (no gain or loss) on gifts of shares to charity and it
is also possible to obtain income tax relief. Further information
about ShareGift may be obtained on: +44 20 7930 3737 or from
www.ShareGift.org
Unsolicited mail
The Company is legally obliged to make its register of members
available to other organisations. As a consequence some
shareholders might receive unsolicited mail. UK shareholders
wishing to limit the amount of such mail may register online with
the Mailing Preference Service at www.mpsonline.org.uk or write
to them at FREEPOST 29 LON20771, London W1E 0ZT.
Warning about unsolicited investment contacts
In recent years, many companies have become aware that
their shareholders have received unsolicited phone calls
or correspondence concerning investment matters. These
are typically from overseas-based ‘brokers’ who target UK
shareholders, offering to sell them what often turn out to be
worthless or high-risk shares in US or UK investments. These
operations are commonly known as ‘boiler rooms’, and these
‘brokers’ can be very persistent and extremely persuasive. A
survey by the Financial Services Authority (FSA) reported that
the average amount lost by investors was around £20,000.
It is not just the novice investor that has been duped in this
way; many of the victims had been successfully investing for
several years. Shareholders are advised to be very wary of any
unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares at a discount or offers of
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Shareholder information – continued
free company reports. If you receive any unsolicited investment
advice:
•

Make sure you get the correct name of the person and
organisation

•

Check that they are properly authorised by the FSA before
getting involved by visiting www.fsa.gov.uk/fsaregister

•

Report the matter to the FSA by completing the online
form at www.fsa.gov.uk/pages/doing/regulated/law/alerts/
overseas.shtml. Alternatively, call their Consumer Helpline
which is open 9.00am–5.30pm, Monday to Friday (excluding
Bank Holidays). Telephone within the UK: 0845 606 1234;
Typetalk: 18001 0845 606 1234, or if calling from overseas:
+44 20 7066 1000.

•

If the calls persist, hang up.

•

On changing bank or building society account, inform the
Registrar of the details of the new account and respond to
any letters the Registrar sends about this.

•

When buying or selling shares, shareholders should seek
to deal only with brokers registered in their country of
residence or the UK.

Website
The WSP Group website, www.wspgroup.com includes an
Investor Relations section www.wspgroup.com/ir which provides
access to a wide range of information about the Company
and information for investors, including share price data and
regulatory news.

If you deal with an unauthorised firm, you will not be eligible
to receive payment under the Financial Services Compensation
Scheme. The FSA can be contacted by completing the online
form at www.fsa.gov.uk/pages/doing/regulated/law/alerts/overseas.
shtml
Details of any share dealing facilities that the company endorses
will be included in company mailings. More detailed information
on this or similar activity can be found on the FSA website
www.fsa.gov.uk/consumer
Protecting investments from identity theft
Criminals may steal shareholders’ personal information, putting a
holding at risk. Suggestions for protecting shareholdings:
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•

Ensure certificates are kept in a safe place or hold shares
electronically in CREST via a nominee.

•

Keep all correspondence from the Registrar which shows
a shareholder investor code in a safe place, or destroy
correspondence by shredding.

•

When changing address, inform the Registrar. If a letter
from the Registrar is received regarding a change of address
and there has been no recent move, contact the Registrar
immediately. The shareholder concerned may be a victim of
identity theft.

•

Know when the dividends are paid. Shareholders may wish
to consider having their dividends paid directly into their
bank or building society account, both for convenience and
to reduce the risk of the cheque being intercepted or lost in
the post. To take advantage of this dividend mandate facility,
contact the Registrar, telephone within the UK: 0871 664
0300 (UK calls cost 10p per minute plus network extras,
lines are open 9.00am–5.30pm, Monday to Friday), or if
calling from overseas: +44 20 8639 2157; or alternatively
complete a form online using the Share Portal service at
www.capitaregistrar.com/shareholders.

•

If using electronic means to access investor information,
passwords and log-in details should be kept secure.
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WSP Group plc
WSP House
70 Chancery Lane
London
WC2A 1AF
UK
Tel + 44 (0)20 7314 5000
Fax + 44 (0)20 7314 5111

FinanciaL HighLights 2011

WSP Group plc is registered in England.
Company Number: 02136404
Full information regarding WSP office addresses may be
found on our website: www.wspgroup.com

WSP is a global business with a vision to be the
outstanding suppLier of speciaList and integrated
services to the built and natural environment.
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Our values are Pride & Passion, Trust, Sustainability,
Sharing & Supporting and Innovation.
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Adjusted profit before
interest and taxation (£m)*

2011
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ADVISERS

Adjusted basic earnings
per share (pence)*

* P
 rofit before interest and taxation together with basic earnings per share are adjusted to exclude amortisation of intangible assets arising on business
combinations (including the tax effect) and exceptional items. These adjustments are set out in the five year summary on page 92.

SOLICITORS
Nabarro LLP
Lacon House
Theobald’s Road
London
WC1X 8RW

JOINT STOCKBROKERS
Jefferies Hoare Govett
Vintners Place
68 Upper Thames Street
London EC4V 3BJ

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
HSBC Bank plc
70 Pall Mall
London
SW1Y 5EZ

Swedbank AB
S-105 34
Stockholm
Sweden

Numis Securities Limited
The London Stock Exchange
Building
10 Paternoster Square
London EC4M 7LT

Barclays Bank plc
1 Churchill Place
London
E14 5HP

Bank of America N.A.
1185 Avenue of the Americas
New York
New York 10036

Front Cover: Visitor Centre, Lund Cathedral, Sweden
WSP Report and Accounts 2011

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1 Embankment Place
London
WC2N 6RH

SHARE REGISTRARS
Capita Registrars
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
BR3 4TU

WSP Report and Accounts 2011

FINANCIAL ADVISER
N M Rothschild & Sons Limited
New Court
St. Swithin’s Lane
London
EC4P 4DU

WSP Group plc

WSP Group plc is registered in
England. Company Number: 02136404

UNITED
BY OUR
DIFFERENCE

WSP Annual Report and Accounts 2011

WSP Group plc
WSP House
70 Chancery Lane
London
WC2A 1AF
UK
Tel + 44 (0)20 7314 5000
Fax + 44 (0)20 7314 5111

WSP Annual Report and Accounts 2011

UNITED
BY OUR
DIFFERENCE

